(3)

THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION FOR ERIE COUNTY

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (ECIDA)
BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORP (RDC)
BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORP (ILDC)

Joint Finance & Audit Committee Meeting
March 12, 2026 at 12:00 p.m.

ECIDA Offices
95 Perry Street, 4" Floor
Buffalo, New York 14203

p—

. Approval of Minutes — January 15, 2026 (Action) (Pages 2-3)

\S}

. Draft 2025 ECIDA Audited Financial Statements & Management Letter (Recommendation) (Pages 4-31)

(98]

. Draft 2025 RDC Audited Financial Statements (Recommendation) (Pages 32-57)

I

. Draft 2025 ILDC Audited Financial Statements (Recommendation) (Pages 58-79)

9]

. 2025 PAAA Annual Report (Recommendation) (Pages 80-150)

6. 2025 Investment Reports (Recommendation) (Pages 151-155)

7. Fee Structure Policy (For ECIDA & ILDC Only) (Recommendation) (Page 156)

8. ECIDA/RDC/ILDC Investment and Deposit Policy Re-Adoption (Recommendation) (Pages 157-164)
9. 2025 Finance & Audit Committee Self-Evaluation (Action) (Pages 165-170)

10. 2025 Management’s Assessment of Internal Controls (Information) (Pages 171-172)

11. Corporate Credit Card Usage Report (Information) (Page 173)

12. New Business (Information) (Pages 174-178)

13. Adjournment

95 Perry Street, Suite 403 « Buffalo, New York 14203 « ph. 716.856.6525 « fx. 716.856.6754 « www.ecidany.com



Draft
Subject to Committee Approval

MINUTES OF A JOINT MEETING OF THE
FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEES OF THE
ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (ECIDA or AGENCY)
THE BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT
CORPORATION (RDC) AND THE BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (ILDC)

DATE AND PLACE: January 15, 2026, at the Erie County Industrial Development Agency,
95 Perry Street, 4™ Floor, Buffalo, New York 14203

PRESENT: Dr. Lavonne Ansari, Lorry Goldhawk, Gregory R. Inglut, Hon. Brian
Nowak and Michael Szukala
ABSENT: Glenn R. Nellis and Allison DeHonney

OTHERS PRESENT: John Cappellino, President & CEO; Mollie Profic, Chief Financial
Officer; Beth O’Keefe, Vice President of Operations; Grant Lesswing,
Director of Business Development; Noah Cliff, Business Development
Officer; Atiga Abidi, Accounting Manager; Carrie Hocieniec,
Operations Assistant/Assistant Secretary; Brian Krygier, Director of
Information Technology; Andrew Federick, Director of Property
Development and Robert Murray, Esq., General Counsel/Harris Beach
Murtha Cullina PLLC

GUESTS: Nick Fiume, Jeff Matthews on behalf of D’ Youville University; Jenna
Sheehan and Seth Hennard on behalf of Lumsden McCormick

There being a quorum present at 12:10 p.m., the Meeting of the Members of the Joint
Finance & Audit Committee of the Erie County Industrial Development Agency, Buffalo and Erie
County Regional Development Corporation and the Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land
Development Corporation was called to order by Chair Szukala.

MINUTES

The October 16, 2025 minutes of the joint meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee
were presented. Upon motion made by Ms. Goldhawk and seconded by Mr. Nowak, and after a
vote was called for by Mr. Szukala, the October 16, 2025 minutes of the Finance and Audit
Committee were unanimously approved.

D’YOUVILLE UNIVERSITY BOND AMENDMENT
Ms. O’Keefe reviewed the proposed bond amendment requested by D’ Youville University,

which will facilitate the new Osteopathic Medical School which will occupy 125,000 SF of an
existing building at 285 Delaware Avenue in the City of Buffalo. Mr. Fiume further described the

P2



project to the members. General discussion ensued as so related to the requested need for an
increase in the taxable bond issuance size.

Mr. Szukala moved and Mr. Inglut seconded to recommend the ILDC’s approval of the
amendment to the D’ Youville University bond. Mr. Szukala called for the vote and the following
resolution was unanimously approved:

AMENDATORY RESOLUTION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BUFFALO AND
ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
(“ILDC”) FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE RECOMMENDING THAT THE
ILDC FINANCE CERTAIN ADDITIONAL COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH A
CERTAIN PROJECT (DESCRIBED HEREIN) AS REQUESTED BY DYU-
COM, LLC THROUGH THE ISSUANCE OF ADDITIONAL TAXABLE
REVENUE BONDS OF THE ILDC IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED
$20,000,000

LUMSDEN MCCORMICK 2025 AUDIT PLAN

Ms. Profic introduced the ECIDA, RDC, and ILDC auditors, Jenna Sheehan and Seth
Hennard, who presented the 2025 audit plan to the Committee. General discussion ensued. Mr.
Szukala directed that the report be received and filed.

There being no further business to discuss, Mr. Szukala adjourned the meeting at
12:33 p.m.

Dated: January 15, 2026

Elizabeth A. O’Keefe, Secretary

P3



DRAFT

COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

March 12, 2026

Members of the Finance & Audit Committees and Boards of Directors
Erie County Industrial Development Agency and related entities

We have audited the separate financial statements of Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), Buffalo
and Erie County Regional Development Corporation (RDC), and Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land
Development Corporation (ILDC), business-type activities (collectively, the Organizations) for the year ended
December 31, 2025 and have issued our report thereon dated March 12, 2026. Professional standards require that
we advise you of the following matters relating to our audits.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audits

As communicated in our engagement letter dated October 29, 2025, our responsibility, as described by
professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether each entity’s financial statements that
have been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audits of each
entity’s financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audits to obtain reasonable,
rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of each entity’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our
audits, we considered the internal control of each entity solely for the purpose of determining our audit
procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audits that are, in our professional
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not

required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audits

We conducted our audits consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you in the
engagement letter.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm have complied with all relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence.

P4



DRAFT

Qualitative Aspects of the Organizations’ Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the Organizations are included in Note 1 to each entity’s financial statements. No
new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2025. No
matters have come to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1)
the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting
policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates and Audit Risk Items

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on
management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience about past
and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive
because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting
them may differ markedly from management’s current judgments. The most sensitive accounting estimates and
audit risk items affecting each entity’s financial statements are:

Establishing allowances for uncollectible loans
Depreciable lives and methods

Valuation of other assets

Valuation of leases receivable and payable

® o o o

Management’s estimates of the above are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and
current events and assumptions about future events. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to
develop the estimates above and determined that they are reasonable in relation to each entity’s financial
statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of their
significance to financial statement users. We evaluated all disclosures in relation to each entity’s financial
statements as a whole and determined that they are reasonable.

Significant Difficulties Encountered During the Audits

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the audits.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards also require us to accumulate all known and likely
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them to
the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the effect of
uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account balances or
disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. We identified grant expenditures of $152,400 that were
expensed by ILDC during 2025 but should have been recorded in 2024. This uncorrected misstatement to adjust
beginning net position and expenses is not material to the financial statements as a whole.

P5



DRAFT

In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected misstatements that
were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures. None of the misstatements
identified by us as a result of our audit procedures and corrected by management were material, either
individually or in the aggerate, to each entiy’s financial statements taken as a whole.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether
or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, which could be
significant to each entity’s financial statements or the auditors’ report. No such disagreements arose during the
course of the audits.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditors’ Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that affect the
form and content of our auditors’ reports. There were no modifications to the audit opinions.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the management
representation letter dated consistent with the financial statement audit report date.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters.
Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other accountants
regarding auditing and accounting matter.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Organizations, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, business conditions affecting the Organizations, and business plans and
strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition
to our retention as the Organizations’ auditors.

Other Matters

We applied certain limited procedures to Management’s Discussion and Analysis that supplements the basic
financial statements for each entity. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements.
We did not audit the RSl and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.

With respect to each of the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements of each entity, we
made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the schedules
to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, the methods of preparing them has not changed from the prior period, and the schedules are
appropriate and complete in relation to our audits of the Organizations’ financial statements. We compared and
reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial
statements or to the financial statements themselves,

P6



DRAFT

This information is intended solely for the use of the Finance & Audit Committees, Board of Directors, and
management of the Organizations. It is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

P7



DRAFT

MANAGEMENT LETTER

March 12, 2026

The Finance & Audit Committees, Boards of Directors, and Management
Erie County Industrial Development Agency and related entities

In planning and performing our audits of the financial statements of Erie County Industrial Development Agency
(ECIDA), Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation, and Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land
Development Corporation (collectively, the Organizations), business-type activities, as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2025, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we
considered the Organizations’ internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the
separate financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Organizations’ internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Organizations’

internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A reasonable possibility exists when the
likelihood of an event occurring is either reasonably possible or probable as defined as follows:

e  Reasonably possible. The chance of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but less
than likely.

®  Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was not
designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Given these limitations,
during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Finance & Audit
Committees, Boards of Directors, and others within the Organizations. It is not intended to be, and should not be,

used by anyone other than these specified parties.

P8



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2025

P9



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Table of Contents

December 31, 2025

Independent Auditors’ Report

Management’s Discussion and Analysis {(Unaudited)

Financial Statements
Balance Sheets
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Financial Statements
Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheets
Combining Schedule of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance with Section 2925(3)(f) of the New York State Public Authorities Law

P10



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Erie County Industrial Development Agency

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), a business-type
activity, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise ECIDA’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of ECIDA as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, and the changes in its financial position and cash flows for the years
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

Basis For Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of ECIDA, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audits. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with GAAP, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about ECIDA’s ability to continue as a going concern for
one year beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

P11



DRAFT

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
®  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of ECIDA’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

® Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about ECIDA’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of

time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

GAAP requires that management’s discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part
of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

P12



DRAFT

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise ECIDA's basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary information as listed in the table of
contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the accompanying supplementary information is
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 12, 2026 on our
consideration of ECIDA’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of ECIDA’s internal control over financial reporting or
on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering ECIDA’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

March 12, 2026

P13



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Management's Discussion and Analysis {(Unaudited)

December 31, 2025

Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA) is a public benefit corporation that provides tax incentives, financing
programs, international trade assistance, land development, and other economic development services to the City of Buffalo (the
City) and Erie County, New York {the County). In accomplishing its mission, ECIDA does not receive any operational funding from
Federal, State, County, or local sources. Instead, ECIDA relies primarily upon administrative fees charged to those businesses that

utilize its products and services.

As a public benefit corporation, ECIDA is required to comply with accounting standards issued by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB). Under GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for
State and Local Governments, ECIDA is required to present management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) to assist readers in

understanding ECIDA's financial performance.

We present the attached overview and analysis of the financial activities of ECIDA as of and for the years ended December 31,
2025, 2024, and 2023. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with ECIDA’s audited

financial statements.
Basic Overview of the Financial Statements

Included in this report are the following financial statements:

1} Balance Sheets - The balance sheets show the reader what ECIDA owns (assets and deferred outflows of resources) and
what ECIDA owes (liabilities and deferred inflows of resources). ECIDA’s assets and deferred outflows of resources less
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources (net position) can be one way to measure ECIDA’s financial position. Over
time, increases or decreases in ECIDA’s net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or

deteriorating.

2) Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position - This statement reports ECIDA’s operating and
nonoperating revenues by major source along with operating and nonoperating expenses. The difference between total
revenues and expenses can be one way to measure ECIDA’s operating results for the year.

3) Statements of Cash Flows - This statement reports ECIDA’s cash flows from operating, capital and related financing, and
investing activities.

Financial Highlights

ECIDA’s net position increased by 3% from $20,026,000 in 2024 to $20,654,000 in 2025.

ECIDA experienced an increase in net position of $628,000 in 2025 compared to a decrease of $114,000 in 2024.
Administrative fees, a key source of revenue for ECIDA, increased 43% from $1,862,000 in 2024 to $2,665,000 in 2025.
Operating expenses increased from $3,083,000 in 2024 to $3,231,000 in 2025.

P14



DRAFT

Condensed Comparative Financial Statements

Balance Sheets at December 31:

in thousands 2025 2024 S Change % Change 2023
Assets
Cash and investments S 14,362 § 13,340 S 1,022 8% § 13,704
Receivables and other assets 9,905 11,066 (1,161) (10%} 11,234
Capital assets, net 1,277 1,450 (173) {12%) 1,507
Restricted cash and investments 10,793 11,528 {735} (6%) 9,777
Total assets 36,337 37,384 (1,047) (3%) 36,222
Liabilities
Unearned revenue and other liabilities S 4,788 $ 5462 S (674) (12%) $ 5,741
Funds held on behalf of others 10,513 11,287 (774) (7%) 9,516
Total liabilities 15,301 16,749 (1,448) (9%) 15,257
Deferred inflows of resources — leases 382 609 (227) (37%) 825
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 1,035 1,065 (30) (3%) 985
Restricted 11,231 11,239 (8) {0%) 11,116
Unrestricted 8,388 7,722 666 9% 8,039
Total net position 20,654 20,026 628 3% 20,140
Total liabilities, deferred inflows,
and net position S 36,337 S 37,384 S (1,047) (3%) $ 36,222

Cash and investments consist of ECIDA’s general operating funds and Urban Development Action Grant (UDAG) funds. The
$1,022,000, or 8%, increase from 2024 to 2025 is due to overall operating income and a reduction in receivables in 2025. The
decrease from 2023 to 2024 was a result of an overall operating loss and increased receivables.

Receivables and other assets include grants receivable, affiliate receivables, leases receivable, prepaid expenses, and venture
capital investments. The decrease of $1,161,000, or 10%, is the result of decreases in affiliate, grant, and leases receivable. Affiliate
receivables decreased $615,000 because of repayments and grants receivable decreased $376,000 as receipts outpaced new
grants. Leases receivable decreased $227,000, consistent with the decrease in the corresponding deferred inflows of resources.
The decrease from 2023 to 2024 was the result of decreases in grants receivable and leases receivable.

Restricted cash and investments consist primarily of funds held on behalf of others including the Erie County Regional
Redevelopment Fund, Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund, and PILOT Increment Financing (PIF) funds. The $735,000 or 6%
decrease from 2024 is primarily due to the use of $2,352,000 for eligible projects and required distributions to municipalities of
$487,000 outpacing PILOT receipts of $1,718,000 and interest of $347,000. Restricted cash and investments also include $280,000
for the Railway Trust Fund, which increased $39,000 from 2024. The $1,751,000, or 18%, increase in 2024 over 2023 was due to
receipts in excess of required disbursements to municipalities.

The $674,000 decrease in unearned revenue and other liabilities is due to decreases in unearned revenue of $459,000, lease
payable of $143,000, and accounts payable and accrued expenses of $72,000. Unearned revenue is offset by grants receivable
and is recognized as special project revenue as eligible activities are performed. ECIDA’s lease for office space is in effect through
July 2027, and the lease payable represents the present value of remaining lease payments through the end of the lease. The
decrease from 2023 to 2024 was due to decreases in unearned revenue and lease payable.

ECIDA has capitalized the initial present value of future lease receipts as a lease receivable and corresponding deferred inflow of
resources. The lease receivable is reduced as cash is received and the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as rental income
over the term of the lease contract. The $227,000 or 37% decrease in deferred inflows of resources related to leases is due to the
reduction as monthly lease payments from leaseholders are recognized.

P15



DRAFT

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position for the years ended December 31:

in thousands 2025 2024 $ Change % Change 2023
Operating revenues:
Administrative fees $ 2,665 $ 1,862 S 803 43% S 1,750
Affiliate management fees 461 321 140 44% 287
Rental and other 481 493 (12) (2%) 475
Total operating revenues 3,607 2,676 931 35% 2,512
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 2,374 2,230 144 6% 2,035
General and administrative 599 611 (12) (2%) 794
Depreciation, amortization, and other 258 242 16 7% 248
Total operating expenses 3,231 3,083 148 5% 3,077
Special project grants:
Revenues 550 1,130 (580) (51%) 518
Expenses (787) {1,212) 425 (35%) (855)
Total special project grants (237) (82) (155) 189% (337)
Operating income (loss) 139 (489) 628 (128%) (902}
Nonoperating revenue (expense), net 489 375 114 30% 404
Change in net position S 628 S (114) $ 742 (651%) S (498)

Revenue Analysis

Administrative fees are primarily collected from the issuance of various forms of tax abatements and tax-exempt financing. Fees
for tax abatement are based on the amount of project investment. ECIDA relies on these fees to cover its operating costs; however,
the amount of fees collected in any given year is largely dependent upon the local economic climate and the timing between
project approval and project commencement. Administrative fees increased $803,000 or 43% in 2025 primarily due to an increase
in the value of induced projects. Administrative fees were collected related to 15 different projects in 2025, up from 11 in 2024,
In 2023, administrative fees were collected related to 22 projects.

Affiliate management fees represent salaries and overhead costs charged to ECIDA affiliates for services that ECIDA’s employees
provide to these organizations. ECIDA’s affiliates include Buffalo & Erie County Regional Development Corporation (RDC), a lending
corporation, and Buffalo & Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation (ILDC}, a land development corporation. Affiliate
management fees increased $140,000 in 2025 due to an increase in salaries and chargeable hours, specifically to ILDC, which had
a new funding source for these costs. The increase from 2023 to 2024 was due to an increase in salaries and chargeable hours.

Rental and other income is primarily comprised of rental income for building leases and rental income from the Port Terminal
Facility.

Expense Analysis
Salaries and benefits increased $144,000, or 6%, in 2025 due to employee raises, performance incentives, and an additional

employee hired in November. In 2024, salaries and benefits increased $195,000 from 2023 due to a staff of 18 for the duration of
the year combined with increased employee salaries and benefit costs.

P16



DRAFT

General and administrative expenses decreased $12,000 from $611,000 in 2024 to $599,000 in 2025 primarily due to a shift in
marketing costs related to ILDC owned properties to that entity and a reduction in telephone and internet expenses. In 2024,
general and administrative expenses decreased $183,000 from a lack of administrative fee refunds compared to 2023.

The net special project grant loss of $82,000 in 2024 increased to a net loss of $237,000 in 2025. In 2025, grant expenses exceeded
grant revenues due to carrying costs related to ILDC properties of $100,000 and other grants totaling $175,000 from the Agency’s
Urban Development Action Grant (UDAG) fund. In 2024, grant expenses exceeded grant revenues due to carrying costs for ILDC
properties and UDAG grants for which there was no corresponding revenue.

Net nonoperating revenue increased $114,000 in 2025 due to interest income of $505,000 offset by $16,000 of interest expense
related to ECIDA’s office lease. In 2024, net nonoperating revenue decreased $29,000 caused primarily by the fair value of certain
assets decreased $101,000.

Budget Analysis

ECIDA prepares an annual budget which was presented and approved by the Board of Directors on October 23, 2024. The
following table presents an analysis of ECIDA’s performance compared to the approved 2025 budget.

Variance
in thousands Actual Budget S %
Operating revenues:
Administrative fees S 2,665 S 1,800 $ 865 48%
Affiliate management fees 461 483 (22) (5%)
Rental and other 481 445 36 8%
Total operating revenues 3,607 2,728 879 32%
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 2,374 2,386 {12) (1%)
General and administrative 599 628 (29) (5%)
Depreciation, amortization, and other 258 252 6 2%
Total operating expenses 3,231 3,266 (35) {1%)
Operating loss before special project grants 376 (538) 914 (170%)
Special project grants:
Revenues 550 5,198 {4,648) {89%)
Expenses (787) {5,498) 4,711 {86%)
Total special project grants (237) {300) 63 (21%)
Nonoperating revenue, net 489 400 89 22%
Change in net position S 628 S {438) S 1,066 (243%)

Budget to Actual Analysis

Overall, ECIDA’s increase in net position for 2025 exceeded the budgeted decrease by $1,066,000. Administrative fees exceeded
the budgeted amount by 48% due mainly to an increase in the value of induced projects and the number of projects. Total
operating expenses were $35,000 below budget mostly due to lower general and administrative expenses than budgeted. Net
special project grants had a positive variance of $63,000. Nonoperating revenue includes interest income on cash deposits and
was $89,000 greater than expected.

P17



DRAFT

Economic Factors Impacting ECIDA

ECIDA relies extensively upon administrative fees to generate the majority of its annual revenue. As a result of current uncertain
economic conditions and potential legislative/board actions, ECIDA’s ability to generate the administrative fees necessary to

support operations may be limited in the future.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of ECIDA’s finances. Questions concerning any of the financial
information provided in this report should be addressed to the CFO of ECIDA at (716) 856-6525. General information relating to

ECIDA can be found at its website, www.ecidany.com.

P18



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Balance Sheets

December 31, 2025 2024
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 5,862,286 S 5,341,088
Investments 8,499,374 7,998,626
Receivables
Affiliates 3,956,317 4,571,775
Grants 4,839,110 5,214,764
Leases 234,940 226,584
Other 218,132 185,231
Prepaid expenses 102,544 78,000
23,712,703 23,616,068
Noncurrent assets:
Leases receivable 147,759 382,699
Capital assets, net (Note 4) 1,277,299 1,450,212
Other assets 406,247 406,247
Restricted cash 5,274,967 4,988,292
Restricted investments 5,518,075 6,540,143
12,624,347 13,767,593
$ 36,337,050 S 37,383,661
Liabilities and Net Position
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 287,090 S 407,694
Lease liability 150,626 143,295
Accrued expenses 218,297 169,642
Unearned revenue 4,040,200 4,498,758
4,696,213 5,219,389
Noncurrent liabilities:
Lease liability 91,400 242,026
Funds held on behalf of others 10,513,124 11,287,296
10,604,524 11,529,322
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of resources related to leases 382,699 609,283
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 1,035,273 1,064,891
Restricted 11,230,489 11,238,692
Unrestricted 8,387,852 7,722,084
20,653,614 20,025,667
$ 36,337,050 S 37,383,661

See accompanying notes.

P19



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Operating revenues:
Administrative fees 2,664,845 S 1,862,096
Affiliate management fees 460,657 320,692
Rental income 316,404 330,275
Other 164,510 162,814
Total operating revenues 3,606,416 2,675,877
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 2,373,957 2,229,704
General and administrative 598,563 611,530
Depreciation and amortization 256,372 240,534
Other 1,673 1,341
Total operating expenses 3,230,565 3,083,109
Operating income {loss) before special project grants 375,851 (407,232)
Special project grants:
Revenues 549,710 1,130,308
Expenses (786,951) (1,212,254)
Total special project grants (237,241) (81,946)
Operating income (loss) 138,610 (489,178)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income 505,349 498,869
Interest expense (16,012) (22,986)
Decrease in fair value of other assets - {100,639)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 489,337 375,244
Change in net position 627,947 (113,934)
Net position - beginning 20,025,667 20,139,601
Net position - ending 20,653,614 S 20,025,667

See accompanying notes.

P20

10



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Operating activities:
Cash from fees and rental income [ 2,981,249 S 2,192,371
Cash from special project grants 466,806 518,979
Cash received from (paid to) other sources 1,207,724 681,133
‘Payments to employees, suppliers, and other {3,070,686) (2,719,969)
Payments for special project grants (786,951) (1,212,254)
Net operating activities 798,142 {539,740)
Capital and related financing activities:
Purchases of capital assets (83,459) (184,242)
Principal payments on leases {143,295) (136,321)
Interest payments on leases (16,012} (22,986)
Interest received on leases 25,318 36,347
Net capital and related financing activities {217,448) (307,202)
Investing activities:
Change in restricted cash, net {(1,060,847) 6,559,887
Purchase of investments - (14,538,769)
Maturity of investments 521,320 -
Interest received 480,031 462,522
Net investing activities (59,496) (7,516,360)
Net change in cash 521,198 (8,363,302)
Cash - beginning 5,341,088 13,704,390
Cash - ending S 5,862,286 S 5,341,088
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash flows
from operating activities:
Operating income (loss) $ 138,610 S (489,178)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 256,372 240,534
Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Receivables 958,211 (147,919)
Prepaid expenses {24,544) 600
Accounts payable {120,604) 102,703
Accrued expenses 48,655 19,303
Unearned revenue {458,558) (265,783)
Net operating activities S 798,142 S (539,740)

See accompanying notes.

P21

11



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Organization

trie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA) was
created in 1970 by an act of the Legislature of the State of
New York (the State) for the purpose of encouraging
financially sound companies to establish themselves and
prosper in Erie County (the County).

ECIDA has related party relationships with Buffalo and Erie
County Industrial Land Development Corporation {ILDC) and
Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation
(RDC). All three entities are managed by the same personnel
and RDC currently shares a common board with ECIDA. These
entities share the same mission, which is to provide the
resources that encourage investment, innovation, workforce
development, and international trade resulting in a successful
business climate focused on growth, economic stability, job
creation, and job retention for businesses and individuals
which improves the quality of life for the residents of the
region.

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements of ECIDA have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to
governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards
Board is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.

Financial Reporting Entity

In evaluating how to define ECIDA for financial reporting
purposes, management has considered all potential
component units. The decision to include a potential
component unit in ECIDA’s reporting entity is based on
accounting standards which consider legal standing, fiscal
dependency, and financial accountability. Based on the
application of these criteria, there are no additional entities
included in ECIDA’s financial statements.

P22

Measurement Focus

ECIDA reports as a special-purpose government engaged in
business-type activities. Business-type activities are those
that are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to
external parties for goods or services. ECIDA's financial
statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when a liability is incurred.

ECIDA's policy for defining operating activities in the
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position are those that generally result from exchange
transactions such as payments received for services and
payments made to purchase those goods or services. Certain
other transactions are reported as nonoperating activities and
include interest and investment income, interest expense, and
grants resulting from nonexchange transactions. Grants are
recognized as receivable and unearned revenue at the time
awarded and as revenue when all eligibility requirements
imposed by the provider have been satisfied. ECIDA receives
special project grants from various Federal, State, and County
sources.

Subsequent Events

ECIDA has evaluated events and transactions for potential
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements through
March 12, 2026, the date the financial statements were
available to be issued.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

12



DRAFT

Cash and Investments

Cash and investment management is governed by State laws
and as established by ECIDA’s written policies. Cash resources
must be deposited in FDIC-insured commercial banks or trust
companies located within the State. Policies permit
management to use demand and time accounts, certificates
of deposit, obligations of the United States Treasury and its
Agencies, and obligations of the State or its localities,
including those held under repurchase agreements or in
external investment pools.

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank
failure, ECIDA’s deposits may not be returned to it. Collateral
is required for demand and time deposits and certificates of
deposit not covered by Federal Deposit Insurance. Obligations
that may be pledged as collateral include obligations of the
United States and its agencies and obligations of the State and
its municipalities and school districts. At December 31, 2025
and 2024, ECIDA’s bank deposits were fully collateralized by
FDIC coverage and securities held by the pledging institution’s
agent in ECIDA’s name.

Investments consist of U.S. Treasury Bills with original
maturities in excess of three months,

Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Financed right-to-use
lease assets are recorded at the present value of the initial
lease liability. Depreciation is provided over estimated useful
lives using the straight-line method. Maintenance and repairs
are expensed as incurred; significant improvements are
capitalized.

Capitalization thresholds to determine which asset purchases
are added to capital accounts and the estimated useful lives
of capital assets are:

Estimated
Capitalization Useful Life in
Policy Years
Buildings and improvements $ 1,000 5-40
Furniture and equipment $ 1,000 3-10
Rental Property:

In 1989, ECIDA developed a public warehouse and trans-
shipment facility (the Port Terminal Facility) at the Gateway
Metroport facility in the City of Lackawanna. The Port
Terminal Facility provides enclosed storage facilities and
materials handiing services for the trans-shipment of goods by
water, rail, and truck. The facility is owned by ECIDA and is
operated by Gateway Trade Center, Inc. Port Terminal Facility
rental property assets are fully depreciated. ECIDA receives a
percentage of annual Excess Cash Flow, as defined, from the
operations at the Port Terminal Facility.

P23

ECIDA also owns its former office space at 143 Genesee
Street. This property is recorded at cost and leased to a third
party (Note 6).

Other Assets

Other assets include venture capital investments made by
ECIDA in order to spur local economic growth. Venture capital
investments are recorded at the lesser of cost or fair market
value as determined by management’s estimates based on
available financial information.

Net Position
Net position consists of the following components:

® Net investment in capital assets — consists of capital assets,
net of accumulated depreciation and amortization,
reduced by outstanding balances of any related debt
obligations attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets.

® Restricted — consists of restricted assets reduced by
related liabilities. Restrictions are imposed by the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development’s Urban
Development Action Grant (UDAG) program.

e Unrestricted — the net amount of assets and deferred
outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources that are not included in the determination of
net investment in capital assets or the restricted
component of net position and therefore are available for
general use by ECIDA.

Tax Incentive Transactions

ECIDA maintains an economic development incentive
program to provide sales, property, and/or mortgage
recording tax benefits for qualified construction, renovation,
or expansion projects or other economic development
activities within Erie County. Under this program, ECIDA may
take title to or a leasehold interest in the real and/or personal
property involved in the project for the term of the incentive
period. ECIDA simultaneously leases the property under a
lease agreement to the company undertaking the project
{lessee). ECIDA receives administrative fees from the lessee
for providing these tax incentives which are recognized
according to the terms of the fee agreement.

13



DRAFT

ECIDA is an issuer of tax-exempt bond financing for qualified
manufacturers and low-income housing projects which meet
the definition of conduit debt obligations. These bonds are
obligations of the borrower and secured by the assets they
finance. ECIDA receives bond issuance fees from the borrower
for providing this service which is recognized according to the
terms of the fee agreement. ECIDA also has a shared services
agreement with ILDC under which administrative and staffing
services are provided to ILDC in connection with its bond
issuances to nonprofit organizations in exchange for the
related bond issuance fees received by ILDC. At December 31,
2025 and 2024, previously issued bonds have an aggregate
outstanding balance of $360,346,150 and $439,614,859, none
of which is recognized as a liability of ECIDA.

ECIDA received bond administrative fees from ILDC of
$550,000 in 2025 and $337,000 in 2024,

2. Special Project Grants

Bethlehem Shoreline Enhancement — ECIDA received a grant
from New York State Department of State in the amount of
$122,825 in June 2020 to support the construction and
administration of Shoreline Trail enhancements on the former
Bethlehem Steel property.

Bethlehem Water and Sewer Design — ECIDA received a grant
from Erie County in the amount of $700,000 in July 2020 to
support the design, engineering, construction, and
administration of water and sewer utility extensions and
upgrades on the former Bethlehem Steel property.” The grant
was increased to $750,000 in May 2024,

Bethlehem Railroad Relocation — ECIDA received a grant from
Erie County in the amount of $600,000 in June 2023 to
support the relocation of rail infrastructure at the former
Bethlehem Steel Property.

Buffalo Southern Railroad - ECIDA received a $1,703,553
grant from New York State Department of Transportation
(NYSDOT) in January 2023 and a $250,000 grant from Erie
County in July 2023.

Buffalo Southern Railroad Capital Improvements — ECIDA
received a $400,000 grant from Erie County in April 2024 to
support the restoration of five bridges and seven miles of
track on the Buffalo Southern Railroad.

DL&W Lancoster Industrial Track Improvement - ECIDA
received a $1,616,470 grant from NYSDOT in April 2023 and a
$250,000 grant from Erie County in September 2023 to
support the restoration of the DL&W Lancaster Industrial
Track.

DL&W Railroad Bridge Repair — ECIDA received a $150,000
grant from Erie County in April 2024 to support safety and
efficiency improvements of the DL&W Railroad.

The following is a summary of grants receivable at December
31:

2025 2024

Bethlehem Shoreline Enhancement  $ - S 51,804
Bethlehem Water and Sewer Design 136,561 192,797
Buffalo Southern Railroad - 2017

PFRAP Rail Improvement 140 140
Bethlehem Railroad Relocation 600,000 600,000
Buffalo Southern Railroad 1,860,095 1,953,553
Buffalo Southern Railroad Capital

Improvements 225,844 400,000
DL&W Lancaster Industrial Track

Improvement 1,866,470 1,866,470
DL&W Railroad Bridge Repair 150,000 150,000

S 4,839,110 $§ 5,214,764

The following is a summary of unearned revenue at December
31:

2025 2024

Bethlehem Shoreline Enhancement  $ -8 23,910
Bethlehem Water and Sewer Design 101,507 92,835
Bethiehem Railroad Relocation 77,296 234,380
Buffalo Southern Railroad 1,836,051 1,854,989
Buffalo Southern Railroad Capital

Improvements 25,245 292,542
DL&W Lancaster Industrial Track

Improvement 1,850,101 1,850,102
DL&W Railroad Bridge Repair 150,000 150,000

$ 4,040,200 $ 4,498,758

3. Funds Held on Behalf of Others

ECIDA holds funds for various development activities. ECIDA
disburses these funds when given the appropriate
authorization. The funds include:

2025 2024

Erie County Regional
Redevelopment Fund
Buffalo Brownfields

$ 1,743,036 $ 1,686,281

Redevelopment Fund 40,989 37,213
Jemal’s Seneca Fund 2,076,464 1,365,072
Seneca Street Corridor Fund 1,261,869 3,524,959
Main Street Improvement Fund 5,390,766 4,673,771

$ 10,513,124 $ 11,287,296

Restricted cash and investments also includes $279,918 and
$241,139 as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively, for
the Railway Trust Fund for activities related to two Erie
County shortline railroads.

14

P24



4. Capital Assets

DRAFT

Balance Retirements/ Balance
January 1, 2025 Increases Reclassifications December 31, 2025
Land $ 167,400 S - S - S 167,400
Depreciable capital assets:
Land improvements 1,275,200 - - 1,275,200
Buildings 2,747,489 - - 2,747,489
Furniture and equipment 478,547 83,459 - 562,006
Total depreciable assets 4,501,236 83,459 - 4,584,695
Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvements (1,011,351) {46,081) - (1,057,432)
Buildings (2,134,593} {36,043) - (2,170,636)
Furniture and equipment (447,811) (28,959) - {476,770)
Total accumulated depreciation (3,593,755) (111,083) - {3,704,838)
Total depreciable assets, net 907,481 {27,624) - 879,857
Right-to-use lease assets:
Building 532,728 - - 532,728
Accumulated amortization (157,397) (145,289) - (302,686)
Total right-to-use assets, net 375,331 (145,289) - 230,042
S 1,450,212 S  (172,913) S - S 1,277,299
Balance Retirements/ Balance
January 1, 2024 Increases Reclassifications December 31, 2024
Land $ 167,400 S - § o 167,400
Depreciable capital assets:
Land improvements 1,109,345 165,855 - 1,275,200
Buildings 2,747,489 - - 2,747,489
Furniture and equipment 481,788 18,387 (21,628) 478,547
Total depreciable assets 4,338,622 184,242 {21,628) 4,501,236
Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvements (964,733) {(46,618) - {1,011,351)
Buildings (2,098,550) (36,043) - (2,134,593)
Furniture and equipment (456,856) (12,583) 21,628 (447,811)
Total accumulated depreciation (3,520,139) (95,244) 21,628 (3,593,755)
Total depreciable assets, net 818,483 88,998 - 907,481
Right-to-use lease assets:
Building 532,728 - - 532,728
Accumulated amortization (12,107) {(145,290) - {157,397)
Total right-to-use assets, net 520,621 {145,290) - 375,331
S 1,506,504 S {56,292) S - S 1,450,212

P25

15



DRAFT

5. Related Party Transactions

ECIDA allocates a portion of personnel and rental costs to its
affiliates, RDC and ILDC. Costs allocated to ILDC are subject to
available funding sources. ECIDA earned $460,657 and
$320,692 in affiliate management fees for the years ended
December 31, 2025 and 2024. Management fees and
receivables by affiliate are as follows:

Management Fees Receivables

2025 2024 2025 2024
RDC $ 309,162 $ 300,991 $ 326,804 § 322,042
ILDC 151,495 19,701 3,629,513 4,249,733

$ 460,657 S 320,692 $ 3,956,317 $ 4,571,775

In 2025 and 2024, ECIDA provided ILDC with $1,882,524 and
$2,113,970 to temporarily finance various projects. These
funds are periodically repaid when ILDC receives
reimbursement from grant sources.

In 2025 and 2024, the County provided $24,000 and $28,555,
respectively, to ECIDA as a subrecipient of Community
Development Block Grant funds. These funds were then
transferred to ILDC for its Erie County BDF loan program.
These amounts are included in special project grant revenues
and expenses in the accompanying statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position.

6. Leases

ECIDA, as lessee, entered into a non-cancelable lease for
office space through July 31, 2027 and recognized a right-to-
use lease asset at the present value of the initial lease liability
using a discount rate of 5%. The lease requires annual
minimum payments of $159,307 and utility charges that are
determined on an annual basis. Principal and interest due in
2026 total $150,626 and $8,681, respectively.

ECIDA entered into a sublease agreement with Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation for a portion of their office space
through July 31, 2027. ECIDA recognized 526,974 and $23,940
in gross rental income, including interest at 5.0%, in 2025 and
2024, Annual receipts are expected to total $18,564, plus
utilities.

ECIDA, as lessor, has entered into a non-cancelable lease for
its former office through July 31, 2027. ECIDA recognized
$231,701 in gross rental income, including interest at 5.0%, in
both 2025 and 2024. Annual receipts are expected to total
$230,856, plus utilities.

P26

7. Pension

ECIDA maintains a defined contribution simplified employee
pension (SEP) plan covering all of its employees. Employees
are eligible to participate six months after employment, with
employer contributions vesting immediately. During 2025
and 2024, ECIDA made discretionary contributions of 12% of
eligible employees’ salaries. ECIDA’s expense for contributing
to the plan for the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024
amounted to $210,409 and 5193,741 respectively. Employees
are also permitted to participate in the New York State
Deferred Compensation Plan but ECIDA does not make
contributions to this plan.

8. Risk Management

ECIDA purchases commercial insurance for various risks of
loss due to torts, theft, damage, injuries to employees, and
natural disasters in addition to insurance purchased to
indemnify directors and officers. Settled claims resulting from
these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage
in any of the past three years.

9. Commitments and Contingencies
Grants

ECIDA receives financial assistance from federal, state, and
local agencies in the form of grants and fiduciary agreements.
Managing these funds generally requires compliance with the
terms and conditions specified in the agreements and may be
subject to audit by the grantor agencies. Disallowed claims
resulting from such audits could become a liability of ECIDA.
Based on prior experience, management expects any such
amounts to be immaterial.

Litigation
ECIDA is subject to claims and lawsuits that arise in the
ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management,

these claims and lawsuits will not have a material adverse
effect upon the financial position of ECIDA.

16



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Supplementary Information
Combining Balance Sheets

December 31, 2025
General UDAG
Account Account Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 2995533 $ 2,866,753 $ 5,862,286
Investments 3,999,539 4,499,835 8,499,374
Receivables
Affiliates 502,547 3,453,770 3,956,317
Grants 4,839,110 - 4,839,110
Leases 234,940 - 234,940
Other 214,248 3,884 218,132
Prepaid expenses 102,544 - 102,544

12,888,461 10,824,242 23,712,703

Noncurrent assets:

Leases receivable 147,759 - 147,759
Capital assets, net 1,277,299 - 1,277,299
Other assets - 406,247 406,247
Restricted cash 5,274,967 - 5,274,967
Restricted investments 5,518,075 - 5,518,075

12,218,100 406,247 12,624,347

$ 25,106,561 $ 11,230,489 $ 36,337,050

Liabilities and Net Position
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable S 287,090 $ - S 287,090
Lease liability 150,626 - 150,626
Accrued expenses 218,297 - 218,297
Unearned revenue 4,040,200 - 4,040,200
4,696,213 - 4,696,213
Noncurrent liabilities:

Lease liability 91,400 - 91,400
Funds held on behalf of others 10,513,124 - 10,513,124
10,604,524 - 10,604,524

Deferred inflows of resources:

Deferred inflows of resources related to leases 382,699 - 382,699

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 1,035,273 - 1,035,273
Restricted - 11,230,489 11,230,489
Unrestricted 8,387,852 - 8,387,852
9,423,125 11,230,489 20,653,614

$ 25,106,561 $ 11,230,489 $ 36,337,050

17

P27



DRAFT

ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Supplementary Information

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For the year ended December 31, 2025

General UDAG
Account Account Total
Operating revenues:
Administrative fees $ 2,664,845 S - $ 2,664,845
Affiliate management fees 460,657 - 460,657
Rental income 316,404 - 316,404
Other 164,510 - 164,510
Total operating revenues 3,606,416 - 3,606,416
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 2,373,957 - 2,373,957
General and administrative 598,563 - 598,563
Depreciation and amortization 256,372 - 256,372
Other 1,673 - 1,673
Total operating expenses 3,230,565 - 3,230,565
Operating income before special project grants 375,851 - 375,851
Special project grants:
Revenues 549,710 - 549,710
Expenses (511,784) (275,167) (786,951)
Total special project grants 37,926 (275,167) (237,241)
Operating income {loss) 413,777 (275,167) 138,610
Nonoperating revenues {expenses):
Interest income 238,385 266,964 505,349
Interest expense (16,012) - (16,012)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 222,373 266,964 489,337
Change in net position 636,150 (8,203) 627,947
Net position - beginning 8,786,975 11,238,692 20,025,667
Net position - ending $ 9423125 $ 11,230,489 $ 20,653,614

18

P28



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

The Board of Directors
Erie County Industrial Development Agency

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Erie County Industrial Development Agency
(ECIDA), a business-type activity, as of and for the year December 31, 2025, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise ECIDA’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon
dated March 12, 2026.

Report on internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered ECIDA’s internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of ECIDA’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the effectiveness of ECIDA’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may
exist that have not been identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether ECIDA’s financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

19

P29



DRAFT

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of ECIDA’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering ECIDA’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable

for any other purpose.

March 12, 2026

20

P30



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 2925(3)(f) OF THE NEW YORK

STATE PUBLIC AUTHORITIES LAW

The Board of Directors
Erie County Industrial Development Agency

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the
financial statements of Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), a business-type activity, as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
ECIDA’s basic financial statements, and we have issued our report thereon dated March 12, 2026.

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that ECIDA failed to comply
with §2925(3)(f) of the New York State Public Authorities Law regarding investment guidelines during the year
ended December 31, 2025. However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such
noncompliance. Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our
attention regarding ECIDA’s noncompliance with the above rules and regulations.

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope and results of our testing. This communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

March 12, 2026

21

P31



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

SINGLE AUDIT REPORTING PACKAGE

DECEMBER 31, 2025

P32



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Table of Contents

December 31, 2025

Independent Auditors’ Report
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Financial Statements
Balance Sheets
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheet

Combining Schedule of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA)

Notes to SEFA

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance
Required by the Uniform Guidance

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance with Section 2925(3)(f) of the New York State Public Authorities Law

P33



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Buffalo and Erie County Regional
Development Corporation

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation (RDC), a
business-type activity, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2025 and 2024, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise RDC’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of RDC as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, and the changes in its financial position and cash flows for the years
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of RDC, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audits. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with GAAP, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error,

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about RDC's ability to continue as a going concern for one
year beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial
doubt shortly thereafter.

P34



DRAFT

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
¢ Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of RDC’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

* Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about RDC's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

GAAP requires that management’s discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, wha considers it to be an essential part
of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

P35



DRAFT

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise RDC’s basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary information as listed in the table of
contents, including the schedule of expenditures of federal awards required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the accompanying supplementary information is
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 12, 2026 on our
consideration of RDC’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of RDC’s internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering RDC’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

March 12, 2026

P36



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

|Management'’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

December 31, 2025

Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation (RDC) was incorporated for the purpose of encouraging the expansion
of existing companies in target areas of Erie County (the County) by establishing a revolving loan fund (RLF). The U.S. Department
of Commerce Economic Development Administration (EDA) is the oversight body of one of RDC’s RLFs. The EDA released its federal
interest in RDC’s Legacy (original) RLF during 2021. In 2020, under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act,
EDA awarded $5 million to Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA) to capitalize a new RLF, which ECIDA sub-granted
to RDC to administer. A Loan Administration Plan (LAP) that outlines RDC’s lending processes and goals is approved by EDA every

five years.

As a special-purpose government engaged in business-type activities, RDC is required to comply with accounting standards issued
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Under GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements — and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments, RDC is required to present management’s discussion
and analysis (MD&A) to assist readers in understanding RDC’s financial performance.

We present the attached overview and analysis of the financial activities of RDC as of and for the years ended December 31, 2025,
2024, and 2023. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with RDC’s audited financial

statements.
Basic Overview of the Financial Statements
Included in this report are the following financial statements:

1) Balance Sheets — The balance sheets show the reader what RDC owns (assets and deferred outflows of resources) and
what RDC owes (liabilities and deferred inflows of resources). RDC’s assets and deferred outflows of resources less
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources (net position) can be one way to measure RDC’s financial position. Over time,
increases or decreases in RDC’s net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.

2) Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position — These statements report RDC’s operating and
nonoperating revenues by major sources along with operating and nonoperating expenses. The difference between total
revenues and expenses can be one way to measure RDC’s operating results for the year.

3) Statements of Cash Flows — These statements report RDC’s cash flows from operating and investing activities.

Financial Highlights

RDC’s net position increased from $22,941,000 in 2024 to $23,320,000 in 2025.

RDC experienced an increase in net position of $379,000 in 2025 compared to an increase of $260,000 in 2024.
Opérating revenues increased 1% from $581,000 in 2024 to $585,000 in 2025.

Operating expenses decreased 20% from $520,000 in 2024 to $415,000 in 2025.

P37



DRAFT

Condensed Comparative Financial Statements:

Balance Sheets at December 31:

in thousands 2025 2024 S Change % Change 2023
Assets
Cash S 5898 $ 5,766 S 132 2% S 4,287
Investments 3,003 3,020 (17) (1%) -
Prepaid expenses - 3 (3) (100%) -
Loans receivable, net 14,757 14,476 281 2% 18,709
Total assets S 23,658 S 23,265 S 393 2% S 22,996
Liabilities )
Accounts payable S 1 S 2 S 9 450% S 2
Due to affiliate 327 322 5 2% 300
Unearned revenue - - - - 13
Total liabilities 338 324 14 4% 315
Net position
Restricted 4,624 4,616 8 0% 4,603
Unrestricted 18,696 18,325 371 2% 18,078
Total net position 23,320 22,941 379 2% 22,681
Total liabilities and net position S 23,658 S 23,265 S 393 2% S 22,996

RDC'’s cash balance increased 2% or $132,000 primarily due to several loans repaid ahead of schedule, offset an increase in loan
disbursements in 2025. The cash increase from $4,287,000 in 2023 to $5,766,000 in 2024 was a result of several large loans repaid
ahead of schedule and fewer loan dishbursements. Year over year cash fluctuations typically correspond with changes in loans
receivable. RDC continued to invest in U.S. Treasury Bills of $3,003,000 in 2025 to earn higher yields on idle cash.

Loans receivable relate to the RLFs operated by RDC, net of an allowance. Loans receivable increased $281,000 or 2% from 2024
to 2025, due to $3,595,000 of principal repayments and a $27,000 increase to the allowance, net of $3,903,000 of new loans
closed during 2025. The decrease in loans recejvable from $18,709,000 in 2023 to $14,476,000 in 2024 was due to loan
repayments in excess of loans disbursed in 2024.

Due to affiliate reflects the amount due to ECIDA under a shared services agreement for personnel and overhead at the end of
the year. The $5,000 increase in due to affiliate from 2024 to 2025 is due to increases to the hourly rates of ECIDA employees.
The increase in amounts due to affiliate from $300,000 in 2023 to $322,000 in 2024 was due to increases in hourly rates and the
number of hours dedicated to RDC activities.

Unearned revenue reflects a portion of the CARES Act sub-grant funds received that were not spent as of the end of the year. The
$13,000 or 100% decrease from 2023 to 2024 was due to recognition of the remaining grant revenue in 2024.

P38



DRAFT

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position for the years ended December 31:

in thousands 2025 2024 $ Change % Change 2023
Operating revenues:
Interest from loans S 566 S 576 S (10) (2%) S 652
Loan commitment fees 19 4 15 375% 21
Total operating revenues 585 580 5 1% 673
Operating expenses:
General and administrative ) 387 S 359 § 28 8% S 351
Provision for uncollectible loans {recoveries) 28 161 (133) (83%) (27)
Total operating expenses 415 520 (105) (20%) 324
Operating income 170 60 110 183% 349
Nonoperating revenues
Interest income 209 187 22 12% 73
Grant contributions - 13 (13) (100%) 84
Total nonoperating revenues 209 200 9 5% 157
Change in net position $ 379 S 260 $ 119 6% S 506
Revenue Analysis

Interest from loans is collected from borrowers in accordance with the terms of each promissory note. RDC loans bear interest at
rates ranging from 1.0% to 5.5%, in accordance with the Loan Administration Plan provisions in effect at the time the loan is
approved. Interest from loans decreased $10,000, or 2%, from 2024 to 2025 because loans awarded in 2024 were lower than
average, leading to less interest collected on those loans in 2025. Interest decreased from $652,000 in 2023 to $576,000 in 2024
due to a decrease in loans receivable.

Loan commitment fees are generally charged on loans greater than $100,000. Commitment fees vary from year to year depending
on individual loan amounts. In 2025, there were three loans that incurred commitment fees of $19,000. In 2024 there were four
loans that incurred commitment fees of $4,000. In 2023 there were four loans that incurred commitment fees of $21,000.

Expense Analysis

In 2025, general and administrative expenses increased $28,000 from $359,000 to $387,000. The increase is due to increases in
targeted marketing costs, the ECIDA management fee, and legal costs. In 2024, RDC incurred an increased ECIDA management
fee, leading to an increase in general and administrative expenses of $8,000.

Provision for uncollectible loans consists of the amount of loan loss expense in a year, net of any recoveries for loans previously
written off. In 2025, the net expense was due to increases in the allowance of $68,000 net of $40,000 of loan recoveries. One loan
of $27,000 was written off. In 2024, the net expense was due to increases in the allowance of $161,000. No loans were written
off in 2024. In 2023 there was a reduction of $27,000 in the reserve and two loans totaling $105,000 were written off.

Grant contributions relate directly to amounts granted from ECIDA under the CARES Act RLF established in 2022. Beginning in

2025, there are no further grant funds available to allocate administrative costs. In 2024, $13,000 of administrative costs were
charged to this grant, compared to $84,000 in 2023.

P39



DRAFT

Budget to Actual Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2025:

RDC prepares an annual budget which was presented and approved by the Board of Directors on October 23, 2024. The following
table presents an analysis of RDC’s performance compared to the approved 2025 budget.

in thousands Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance
Operating revenues:
Interest from loans S 566 § 600 S (34) (6%)
Loan commitment fees 19 18 1 6%
Total operating revenues 585 618 (33) (5%)

Operating expenses:

General and administrative S 387 § 372§ 15 4%
Provision for uncollectible loans {recoveries) 28 300 (272) (91%)
Total operating expenses 415 672 (257) (38%)
Operating income {loss) 170 {54) 224 {415%)

Nonoperating revenues
Interest and other income 209 80 129 161%

Change in net position S 379 $ 26 5 353 1,358%

Overall, RDC exceeded its budgeted increase in net position for 2025 by $353,000. Total operating revenue was $33,000, or 5%,
below budget due to lower than anticipated interest income from loans in 2025. Total expenses were $257,000, or 38%, below
budget. This was due mainly to the lower than expected provision for uncollectible loans. Nonoperating revenue outpaced the
budget by $129,000, or 161%, due to an increase in cash on hand for much of 2025.

Economic Factors Impacting RDC

RDC relies upon loan interest income to generate revenue for continued operations. As a result of economic conditions and
borrowers’ ability to repay, RDC’s ability to generate the income necessary to support operations may be limited in the future.

Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of RDC’s finances. Questions concerning any of the financial

information provided in this report should be addressed to the CFO of RDC at (716) 856-6525. General information relating to
RDC can be found on ECIDA’s website, www.ecidany.com.

P40



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Balance Sheets

December 31, 2025 2024
Assets
Current assets:
Cash S 5,897,824 S 5,766,406
Investments 3,003,265 3,019,806
Prepaid expenses - 2,500
Loans receivable (Note 2) 3,290,724 3,200,448
12,191,813 11,989,160
Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable, net (Note 2) 11,465,815 11,275,861

$ 23,657,628 S 23,265,021

Liahilities and Net Position
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable S 10,991 S 1,814
Due to affiliate (Note 3) 326,804 322,042
337,795 323,856

Net position:
Restricted 4,623,776 4,615,947
Unrestricted 18,696,057 18,325,218
23,319,833 22,941,165

$ 23,657,628 S 23,265,021

See accompanying notes.

P41



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Operating revenues:
Interest from loans $ 566,443 S 576,778
Loan commitment fees 18,500 4,050
Total operating revenues 584,943 580,828
Operating expenses:
General and administrative 386,918 359,450
Provision for uncollectible loans {recoveries), net 28,016 160,953
Total operating expenses 414,934 520,403
Operating income 170,009 60,425
Nonoperating revenues:
Interest income 208,659 187,176
Grant contributions - 12,509
Total nonoperating revenues 208,659 199,685
Change in net position 378,668 260,110
Net position - beginning 22,941,165 22,681,055
Net position - ending $ 23,319,833 $ 22,941,165

See accompanying notes.

P42



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31,

2025 2024

Operating activities:
Payments collected on loans receivable
Loan interest and fees
Loans awarded
Payments to vendors and affiliates
Net operating activities

Investing activities:
Purchase of investments
Interest income
Net investing activities

Change in cash
Cash - beginning
Cash - ending

Reconciliation of operating income
to net cash flows from operating activities:
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash flows from operating activities:
Provision for uncoliectible loans
Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Loans receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Due to affiliate

3,594,956 $ 4,997,214

584,943 580,828
(3,903,202) (926,000)
{370,479) (340,463)
(93,782) 4,311,579
16,541 (3,019,806}
208,659 187,176
225,200 (2,832,630)
131,418 1,478,949
5,766,406 4,287,457

5,897,824 S 5,766,406

170,009 $ 60,425
28,016 160,953
(308,246) 4,071,214
2,500 (2,500)
9,177 (227)
4,762 21,714

(93,782) S 4,311,579

See accompanying notes.

P43

10



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Organization

Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation
(RDC) was incorporated for the purpose of encouraging the
expansion of existing companies in target areas of the County
of Erie (the County) by establishing an Industrial Revolving
Loan Fund from which RDC makes loans to individual
companies. RDC manages two revolving loan programs
maintained under agreements or established loan
administration plans approved by the grantor governing the
management of the revolving loan program.

RDC has related party relationships with Erie County Industrial
Development Agency (ECIDA) and Buffalo and Erie County
Industrial Land Development Corporation (ILDC). All three
entities are managed by the same personnel and RDC
currently shares a common board with ECIDA. These entities
share the same mission, which is to provide the resources that
encourage investment, innovation, workforce development,
and international trade resulting in a successful business
climate focused on growth, economic stability, job creation,
and retention for businesses and individuals which improves
the quality of life for the residents of the region.

In accordance with accounting standards, RDC is not
considered a component unit of another entity.

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements of RDC have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to
governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards
Board is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.

Measurement Focus

RDC reports as a special-purpose government engaged in
business-type activities. Business-type activities are those that
are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external
parties for goods or services. RDC’s financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is
incurred.

P44

RDC’s policy for defining operating activities in the statements
of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position are those
that generally result from exchange transactions such as
payments received for services, including interest earned on
revolving loan funds, and payments made to purchase those
goods or services. Certain other transactions are reported as
nonoperating activities and include RDC’s interest income
from deposits and grants resulting from nonexchange
transactions. Grants are recognized as revenue when all
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been
satisfied.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Cash and Investments

Cash management is governed by New York State (the State)
laws and as established by RDC’s written policies. Cash must
be deposited in FDIC-insured commercial banks or trust
companies located within the State. Policies permit
management to use demand and time accounts, certificates
of deposit, obligations of the United States Treasury and its
Agencies, and obligations of the State or its localities,
including those held under repurchase agreements or in
external investment pools.

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank
failure, RDC’s deposits may not be returned to it. Collateral is
required for demand and time deposits and certificates of
deposit not covered by Federal Deposit insurance. Obligations
that may be pledged as collateral include obligations of the
United States and its agencies and obligations of the State and
its municipalities and school districts. At December 31, 2025,
RDC’s bank deposits were fully collateralized by FDIC coverage
and securities held by the pledging bank’s agent in RDC's
name.

Investments include U.S. Treasury Bills with original maturities
in excess of three months that are stated at fair value on a
recurring basis as determined by quoted prices in active
markets.

11



DRAFT

Loans Receivable

Loans receivable are stated at the principal amount
outstanding, net of an allowance for uncollectible loans. The
allowance method is used to compute the provision for
uncollectible loans.

Determination of the allowance for uncollectible loans is
based on an analysis of the loan portfolio and reflects an
amount that, in management’s judgment, is adequate to
provide for potential loan losses. Management provides for
probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to expenses
and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment
of the current status of individual accounts, historical trends,
and reasonable forecasts. Loans are written off through a
charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to loans
receivable after management has used reasonable collection
efforts, and no legal recourse is available to collect the
amount owed.

Interest on loans receivable is accrued as required by the
terms of the agreement; management considers that
collection is probable based on the current economic
condition of the borrower. Interest accrual stops when
management adjusts a loan reserve to 50% or more of the
loan’s outstanding balance.

Net Position
Net position consists of two components:

® Restricted — consists of restricted assets reduced by
related liabilities. Restrictions are imposed by external
organizations such as federal or state laws.

e Unrestricted — the net amount of assets and deferred
outflows of resources less liabilities that are not included
in the restricted component of net position and therefore
are available for general use.

Income Taxes

Although the financial statements are required to be reported
as a governmental entity, RDC is a 501(c)(3) not-for-profit
organization for income tax purposes and is exempt from
income taxes under §501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Subsequent Events

RDC has evaluated events and transactions for potential
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements through
March 12, 2026, the date the financial statements were
available to be issued.

P45

2. Loans Receivable

The legacy revolving loan program was originally established
through multiple grants received between 1979 and 1983
from the U.S. Economic Development Administration (EDA)
amounting to $7,000,000. Matching funds totaling $5,250,500
were also received from various sources. The EDA released its
federal interest in the legacy revolving loan fund (RLF) as of
September 30, 2021 through the Reinvigorating Lending for
the Future Act, due to the RLF operating satisfactorily for at
least seven years beyond the disbursement of grant funds.

During 2020, RDC was awarded an EDA grant (passed through
ECIDA) totaling $5,415,694 as part of the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief, and Economic Security {CARES) Act to establish the
CARES Act RLF to assist the region in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic. Initial loan terms included one year interest-
free, one year of interest-only payments, and then principal
payments begin in the third year. The grant was fully spent as
of December 31, 2024.

Loans awarded to local businesses bear interest at rates
ranging from 1% to 5.5% with varying repayment terms. The
following is a summary of loans receivable:

2025 2024
Current status $ 15,224,045 $ 15,031,262
Past due 128,376 -
15,352,421 15,031,262
Less allowance 595,882 554,953
14,756,539 14,476,309
Less current portion 3,290,724 3,200,448

$ 11,465,815 $ 11,275,861

Following is a summary of the activity in the allowance for
uncollectible loans:

2025 2024
Balance, beginning of year $ 554953 $§ 394,000
Additions charged to operations 68,086 160,953
Reduction in allowance (27,157) -
S 595,882 $ 554,953

Scheduled maturities, net of allowances, for the next five
years and thereafter are as follows:

Principal Interest
2026 S 3,290,724 S 548,360
2027 3,213,852 431,038
2028 2,399,262 326,193
2029 1,922,354 233,422
2030 1,665,483 156,343
Thereafter 2,264,864 175,871

S 14,756,539 S 1,871,227

12



DRAFT

3. Related Party Transactions

ECIDA allocates a portion of its personnel and overhead costs
to RDC based on a cost allocation plan. Costs allocated by
ECIDA and included in general and administrative expenses
amounted to $309,162 and $300,991 for the years ended
December 31, 2025 and 2024. Amounts owed to ECIDA at
December 31, 2025 and 2024 totaled $326,804 and $322,042,
respectively.

4. Contingencies
Grants

RDC receives financial assistance from government agencies
in the form of grants. The expenditure of grant funds
generally requires compliance with the terms and conditions
specified in the agreements and is subject to audit by the
grantor agencies. Any disallowed claims resulting from such
audits could become a liability of RDC. Based on prior
experience, management expects such amounts, if any, to be
immaterial.

5. Commitments

Outstanding loan commitments approved but not yet paid
totaled $325,000 at December 31, 2025.

RDC has approved a line of credit to a local business totaling
$100,000 with interest at 3%. At December 31, 2025 and
2024, $24,550 and 518,300 are outstanding with $75,450 and
$81,700 available to be disbursed.

P46



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Supplementary Information
Combining Balance Sheet

December 31, 2025
Legacy CARES Act
Account Account Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $ 3253799 $ 2,644,025 $ 5,897,824
Investments 3,003,265 - 3,003,265
Loans receivable 2,451,791 838,933 3,290,724
8,708,855 3,482,958 12,191,813
Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable, net 10,266,518 1,199,297 11,465,815
$ 18,975,373 S 4,682,255 S 23,657,628
Liabilities and Net Position
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable S 10,991 S - s 10,991
Due to affiliate 268,325 58,479 326,804
279,316 58,479 337,795
Net position:
Restricted - 4,623,776 4,623,776
Unrestricted 18,696,057 - 18,696,057
18,696,057 4,623,776 23,319,833
S 18,975,373 S 4,682,255 S 23,657,628

P47

14



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Supplementary Information
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For the year ended December 31, 2025

Operating revenues:
Interest from loans
Loan commitment fees
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Provision for uncollectible loans (recoveries), net
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues:
Interest income

Change in net position
Net position - beginning

Net position - ending

Legacy CARES Act
Account Account Total

S 528,053 $ 38,390 $ 566,443

17,500 1,000 18,500
545,553 39,390 584,943
317,448 69,470 386,918

28,016 - 28,016
345,464 69,470 414,934
200,089 (30,080) 170,009
170,750 37,909 208,659
370,839 7,829 378,668

18,325,218 4,615,947 22,941,165

5 18,696,057 $ 4,623,776 $ 23,319,833

P48

15



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Supplementary Information
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the year ended December 31, 2025

Assistance
Listing Grantor
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program Title Number Number Expenditures
U.S. Department of Commerce:
Passed through Erie County Industrial
Development Agency
COVID-19 - Economic Adjustment Assistance 11.307 01-79-15022 S 5,125,725
16

See accompanying notes.

P49



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federa! Awards

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal
Awards (SEFA) presents the activity of all federal award
programs administered by Buffalo and Erie County Regional
Development Corporation (RDC), an entity as defined in Note
1 to RDC's basic financial statements. Federal awards received
directly from federal agencies, as well as federal awards
passed through from other governmental agencies, are
included on the SEFA.

Expenditures are calculated as required by the Uniform
Guidance or the applicable program and do not constitute
actual program disbursements. All expenditures reported on
the SEFA represent revolving loan programs.

The COVID-19 Economic Adjustment Assistance program,
administered by the EDA, specifically requires the amount on
the SEFA to be calculated as follows:

Cash $ 2,644,025
Balance of loans outstanding 2,385,073
Administrative expenses 69,470
Loan write-offs 27,157
5,125,725

Total EDA share 100%
$ 5,125,725

Basis of Accounting

RDC uses the accrual basis of accounting for each federal
program, consistent with the financial statements.

The amounts reported as federal expenditures generally were
obtained from the appropriate federal financial reports for the
applicable programs and periods. The amounts reported in
these federal financial reports are prepared from records
maintained for each program, which are periodically
reconciled with RDC's financial reporting system.

Indirect Costs
RDC has not elected to use the de minimis indirect cost rate as
allowed under the Uniform Guidance. Furthermore, RDC has

not received Federal awards that include indirect cost
reimbursement for the year ended December 31, 2025.

17

P50



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

The Board of Directors
Buffalo and Erie County Regional
Development Corporation

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development
Corporation (RDC), a business-type activity, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2025, and the related notes
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise RDC’s basic financial statements, and have issued our
report thereon dated March 12, 2026.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered RDC’s internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of RDC’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of RDC’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that
have not been identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether RDC’s financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

18

P51



DRAFT

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of RDC’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing

Standards in considering RDC’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for
any other purpose.

March 12, 2026

19

P52



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

The Board of Directors
Buffalo and Erie County Regional
Development Corporation

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the compliance of Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation (RDC), a business-
type activity, with the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of RDC’s major federal programs for the year
ended December 31, 2025. RDC’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section
of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, RDC complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to above that
could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31,
2025.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards); and the audit
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those
standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of
Compliance section of our report. We are required to be independent of RDC and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of RDC’s compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,

implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to RDC’s federal programs.

20

PS3



DRAFT

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on RDC’s
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the
report on compliance about RDC's compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we:

»  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material honcompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding RDC’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

e  Obtain an understanding of RDC’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control over
compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of RDC’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control
over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control
over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

21

P54



DRAFT

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

March 12, 2026

22

P55



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

| Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

For the year ended December 31, 2025

Section l. Summary of Auditors’ Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors’ report issued:

Internal control over financial reporting:
e  Material weakness(es) identified?

e Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

e  Material weakness(es) identified?

e Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with section 2 CFR 200.516(a)?

Identification of major programs:

Assistance
Listing
Name of Federal Program or Cluster Number Amount
COVID-19 - Economic Adjustment Assistance 11.307 $ 5,125,725

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Section (. Financial Statement Findings
No matters were reported.

Section ill. Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

No matters were reported.

P56

Unmodified

No
None reported

No

No
None reported

Unmodified

No

$1,000,000

Yes

23



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 2925(3)(f) OF THE NEW YORK

STATE PUBLIC AUTHORITIES LAW

The Board of Directors
Buffalo and Erie County Regional
Development Corporation

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the
financial statements of Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation (RDC), a business-type activity,
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2025, and the related notes to the basic financial statements, and we
have issued our report thereon dated March 12, 2026.

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that RDC failed to comply
with §2925(3)(f) of the New York State Public Authorities Law regarding investment guidelines during the year
ended December 31, 2025. However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such
noncompliance. Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our
attention regarding RDC’s noncompliance with the above rules and regulations.

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope and results of our testing. This communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

March 12, 2026

24

P57



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2025

PS8



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)

Table of Contents

December 31, 2025

Independent Auditors’ Report
Management’s Discussion and Analysis {Unaudited)

Financial Statements
Balance Sheets
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

Supplementary Information
Combining Balance Sheet
Combining Schedule of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance with Section 2925(3)(f) of the New York State Public Authorities Law

P59



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
Buffalo and Erie County Industrial
Land Development Corporation

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation
(ILDC), a business-type activity and a component unit of the County of Erie, New York, as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2025 and 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
ILDC’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of ILDC as of December 31, 2025 and 2024, and the changes in its financial position and cash flows for the years
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of ILDC, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audits. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with GAAP and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about ILDC's ability to continue as a going concern for
one year beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

P60



DRAFT

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resuiting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
*  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of ILDC’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

» Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about ILDC’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

GAAP requires that management’s discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part
of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

P61



DRAFT

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that comprise ILDC’s
basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary information as listed in the table of contents is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the accompanying supplementary information is fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 12, 2026 on our
consideration of ILDC’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of ILDC’s internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering ILDC'’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

March 12, 2026

P62



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

December 31, 2025

Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation {ILDC) was incorporated for the purpose of participating in the
acquisition and development of industrial sites and to provide financial assistance for the acquisition or renovation of fixed assets
by industrial companies locating or expanding in the County of Erie, New York (the County). ILDC is considered a component unit
of the County. ILDC also manages a microenterprise revolving loan program on behalf of the County.

As a special-purpose government engaged in business-type activities, ILDC is required to comply with accounting standards issued
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Under GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements — and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments, ILDC is required to present management’s discussion
and analysis {MD&A) to assist readers in understanding ILDC’s financial performance.

We present the attached overview and analysis of the financial activities of ILDC as of and for the years ended December 31, 2025,
2024, and 2023. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with ILDC’s audited financial

statements.

In 2025 the ILDC continued redevelopment work at Renaissance Commerce Park in Lackawanna, New York, and the Erie County
Agribusiness Park in Evans, New York. Design work was completed for two new roads at Renaissance Commerce Park and a
contractor was awarded the bid for road construction. Design and engineering was also completed for a railroad relocation
project, which will make a significant parcel available for redevelopment. The first phase of access road was constructed at the
Erie County Agribusiness Park. Erie County continued to market the Microenterprise Loan/Grant Program.

Basic Overview of the Financial Statements

Included in this report are the following financial statements:

1) Balance Sheets — The balance sheets show the reader what ILDC owns (assets and deferred outflows of resources) and
what ILDC owes (liabilities and deferred inflows of resources). ILDC’s assets and deferred outflows of resources less its
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources (net position) can be one way to measure ILDC’s financial position. Over time,
increases or decreases in ILDC’s net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.

2) Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position - These statements report ILDC’s operating and
nonoperating revenues by major source along with operating and nonoperating expenses. The difference between total
revenues and expenses can be one way to measure ILDC’s operating results for the year.

3) Statements of Cash Flows — These statements report ILDC’s cash flows from operating, capital and related financing, and
investing activities, if any.

Financial Highlights

ILDC’s net position decreased by 1% from $7,407,000 in 2024 to $7,364,000 in 2025.

ILDC experienced a decrease in net position of $43,000 in 2025 compared to $179,000 in 2024.
Operating revenues increased 21% from $491,000 in 2024 to $596,000 in 2025.

Operating expenses increased 81% from $560,000 in 2024 to $1,011,000 in 2025.

P63



DRAFT

Condensed Comparative Financial Statements:

Balance Sheets at December 31:

in thousands 2025 2024 $ Change % Change 2023
Assets
Cash S 4653 § 3,684 S 969 26% § 418
Grants receivable 5,212 6,414 (1,202) (19%) 9,191
Loans receivable, net 274 352 (78) (22%) 485
Capital assets, net 170 175 (5) (3%) 179
Land held for sale 6,478 6,472 6 0% 6,875
Total assets S 16,787 $ 17,097 § (310) (2%) $ 17,148
Liabilities
Accounts payable 3 180 $ 67 S 113 169% $ 880
Due to affiliate 3,629 4,250 (621) {15%) 4,519
Unearned revenue 5,614 5,373 241 4% 4,163
Total liabilities 9,423 9,690 (267) (3%) 9,562
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 170 175 (5} (3%) 179
Restricted 490 518 (28) (5%) 540
Unrestricted 6,704 6,714 (10) (0%) 6,867
Total net position 7,364 7,407 {43) (1%) 7,586
Total liabilities and net position S 16,787 § 17,097 § (310) (2%) S 17,148

ILDC’s cash balance increased 26% or $969,000 in 2025, after an increase of 781% or $3,266,000 in 2024. An $807,000 increase in
a grant-related bank account drove the overall increase due to the receipt of additional funds as a reimbursement from 2024
disbursements. The 2024 increase was due to a $2,900,000 balance the same grant-related bank account at the end of 2024 that
did not exist in 2023, along with cash inflows of $549,000 from a land sale in December.

Grants receivable decreased 19% or $1,202,000 due to grant receipts from Empire State Development, National Grid, and Erie
County during the year and coincides with the increase in cash. There was one new grant of $2,400,000 recognized as grants
receivable and unearned revenue in 2025. in 2024, there was a decrease of 30% or $2,777,000 due mainly to receipts from Em pire
State Development and the U.S. Department of Commerce Economic Development Administration.

Loans receivable relate to the microenterprise revolving loan fund, known as the Erie County Business Development Fund. Net
loans receivable decreased $78,000 from 2024 to 2025. There were four new loan for $105,500 and principal payments of
$136,000 received in 2025, combined with a provision for uncollectible loan expense of $48,000. The uncollectible loan expense
is largely due to loans that are partially forgiven as certain requirements are met. There was a $133,000 decrease in net loans
receivable from 2023 to 2024.

Capital assets consist mainly of an entrance sign at Renaissance Commerce Park in Lackawanna, New York. The decreases in net
capital assets in 2025 and 2024 are reflective of depreciation.

Land held for sale consists of 143 acres of land at Renaissance Commerce Park in Lackawanna, New York and 238 acres of land at
the former Angola Airport site in Evans, New York. In connection with its economic development purpose, ILDC is working with
several partners to return these underutilized properties to productive use. The $6,000 increase from 2024 to 2025 reflects
additional capitalized costs incurred. The $403,000 decrease in land held for sale from 2023 to 2024 was due to the sale of 10
acres at Renaissance Commerce Park.

The $113,000 increase in accounts payable from 2024 to 2025 and the $813,000 decrease from 2023 to 2024 were primarily due
to special project construction-related payables outstanding the end of each year.

P64



DRAFT

The $621,000 or 15% decrease in the total due to affiliate (ECIDA) from 2024 to 2025 is primarily due to the repayment of
$2,646,000 to ECIDA related to land development activities and projects, combined with $1,883,000 of new funds borrowed.
Additional repayment will be made when grant funds are received. The $269,000 decrease from 2023 to 2024 was a result of
repayments in excess of borrowed funds.

Unearned revenue relates to grants awarded to the ILDC, for which the related revenue has not yet been recognized. The $241,000
increase from 2024 to 2025 is due to the award of a new grant that exceeded the recognition of revenue related to grants. The
increase from 2023 to 2024 was also due to the award of one new grant offset by grant revenue recognition.

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position for the years ended December 31:

in thousands 2025 2024 $ Change % Change 2023
Operating revenue:
Administrative fee revenue S 550 S 338 S 212 63% S 11
Gain (loss) on land held for sale - 124 {124) (100%) -
Interest from loans and other 46 29 17 59% 24
Total revenue 596 491 105 21% 35
Operating expenses:
Transfer to ECIDA 701 357 344 96% 28
General, administrative, and depreciation 262 156 106 68% 71
Provision for uncollectible loans (recoveries) 48 47 1 2% 189
Total operating expenses 1,011 560 451 81% 288
Operating loss before special project grants (415) (69) (346) 501% {253)
Special project grants:
Grant revenue 2,405 1,469 936 64% 6,748
Grant expense (2,033) (1,579) 454 (29%) (6,259)
Total special project grants 372 (110) 482 (438%) 489
Change in net position S (43) S (179) § 136 (76%) $ 236

Revenue Analysis

ILDC is an issuer of tax-exempt bond financing for not-for-profit entities. These bonds are not obligations of ILDC or the County.
ILDC receives bond issuance fees from borrowers for providing this service. ILDC has a shared services agreement with ECIDA
under which administrative and staffing services are provided to ILDC in connection with bond issuances in exchange for the
related bond issuance fees received by ILDC. In 2025 there was one bond issuance with a principal amount greater than the bond
issued in 2024, resulting in a $212,000 increase in fee revenue. In 2024 there was one bond issuance, which was the cause of the
increase in fees from 2023.

ILDC sells rehabilitated land as part of its economic development activities. When the sale price of land is greater than the book
cost (including land improvements), a gain is recognized, and when the sale price is less than the book cost, a loss is recognized.
There was one land sale in 2024, and the sale proceeds were greater than the cost of land to ILDC. There were no land sales in
2025.

The $17,000 increase in interest from loans and other revenue from 2024 to 2025 is due mainly to a full year of income from an
option contract related to land owned by ILDC. The increase from 2023 to 2024 was due to a partial year of income from the same
contract.

Expense Analysis

The amount transferred to ECIDA each year under the shared services agreement consists of administrative fees for bond
issuances plus charges from ECIDA for personnel and overhead. Charges for personnel and overhead are derived from ECIDA
employee hours charged for ILDC-related projects. The $344,000 increase from 2024 to 2025 related to an ILDC bond fee of
$550,000 being transferred during the year and an increase in chargeable employee hours. The increase from 2023 to 2024 was
due to a bond issuance in 2024.

P65



DRAFT

in 2025, general, administrative, and depreciation expenses increased $106,000 from $156,000 to $262,000, due mainly to
increases in legal costs and environmental and property maintenance costs on owned properties. General, administrative, and
depreciation expenses increased $85,000 from 2023 to 2024 due to increases in legal costs and special district taxes on owned
properties.

Most of the loans made under the microenterprise loan program are forgivable loans, which may provide up to 50% of loan
forgiveness if certain criteria are met. The increase of $1,000 in the provision for uncollectible loans from 2024 to 2025 reflects a
similar level of forgivable loans awarded in 2025 as compared to 2024. There were two loans forgiven during 2025. There was a
decrease in the provision for uncollectible loans of $142,000 from 2023 to 2024.

Grant revenue increased $936,000 to $2,405,000 in 2025 from $1,469,000 in 2024. This was primarily due to $1,642,000 of grant
revenue recognized for access road construction at the Angola Agribusiness Park compared to $60,000 in 2024. The decrease
from 2023 to 2024 related to grant revenue in 2024 for sewer construction at Renaissance Commerce Park.

Grant expenses relate directly to the costs involved with certain projects undertaken by the ILDC and can vary from year to year
based on activity. There was a $454,000 increase in grant expenses from 2024 to 2025 due to the access road project at the Angola
Agribusiness Park. Most grant expenses are related to the Renaissance Commerce Park project (see Note 3 to the financial
statements for additional detail). The decrease from 2023 to 2024 due to a decrease in grant-eligible project expenses.

Budget Analysis

ILDC prepares an annual budget which was presented and approved by the Board of Directors on October 23, 2024. The following
table presents an analysis of ILDC’s performance compared to the approved 2025 budget.

in thousands Actual Budget $ Variance % Variance
Operating revenue:
Administrative fee revenue S 550 $ - S 550 100%
Interest from loans and other 46 45 1 2%
Total revenue 596 45 551 1224%
Operating expenses:
Transfer to ECIDA 701 174 527 303%
General, administrative, and depreciation 262 62 200 323%
Provision for uncollectible loans {recoveries) 48 105 (57) (54%)
Total operating expenses 1,011 341 670 196%
Operating loss before special project grants (415) (296) (119) 40%
Special project grants:
Grant revenue 2,405 2,527 {122) (5%)
Grant expense (2,033) {2,143) 110 {5%)
Total special project grants 372 384 (12) (3%)
Change in net position S 43) S 88 S (131) (149%)

ILDC’s decrease in net position for 2025 fell short of the budgeted increase by $131,000. Total revenue was $551,000, or 1,224%,
above budget due to a bond issuance in 2025. Administrative fee revenue is typically not included in the ILDC’s budget due to the
unpredictable nature of these transactions. Total expenses were $670,000, or 196%, above budget. Most of the variance is due
to the transfer to ECIDA being higher than expected as a result of the bond issuance. General, administrative, and depreciation
expenses were $200,000, or 323%, above budget due to increased legal, environmental, and property maintenance costs of
properties. Grant revenue was $122,000 lower than budget, while grant expenses were $110,000 lower than budget.

Economic Factors Impacting ILDC
ILDC relies upon land sales to generate revenue for continued operations, as well as grant revenue from Erie County and other

economic development partners to defray the costs associated with land development. As a result of current uncertain economic
conditions, ILDC’s ability to generate the income necessary to support operations may be limited in the future.

P66



DRAFT

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of ILDC’s finances. Questions concerning any of the financial
information provided in this report should be addressed to the CFO of ILDC at {716) 856-6525. General information relating to
ILDC can be found on ECIDA’s website, www.ecidany.com.

P67



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)

|Balance Sheets

December 31, 2025 2024
Assets
Current assets:
Cash 4,653,617 S 3,683,965
Grants receivable (Note 3) 5,212,106 6,413,558
Loans receivable (Note 2) 120,915 119,677
Prepaid expenses 186 -
9,986,824 10,217,200
Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable, net (Note 2) 152,800 232,565
Capital assets 184,285 184,285
Accumulated depreciation {14,260) {9,726)
Land held for sale (Note 4) 6,477,657 6,472,145
6,800,482 6,879,269
16,787,306 $§ 17,096,469
Liabilities and Net Position
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 179,726 s 67,342
Due to affiliate (Note 5) 3,629,513 4,249,733
Unearned revenue (Note 3) 5,614,227 5,372,594
9,423,466 9,689,669
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 170,025 174,559
Restricted 489,748 517,721
Unrestricted 6,704,067 6,714,520
7,363,840 7,406,800
16,787,306 S 17,096,469

See accompanying notes.

P68



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

{A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024
Operating revenues:
Administrative fees $ 550,000 S 337,513
Gain on land held for sale - 124,258
Rental income 23,667 7,000
Interest from loans and other 22,329 21,760
Total operating revenues 595,996 490,531
Operating expenses:
Transfer to Erie County Industrial Development Agency 701,495 356,714
General and administrative 257,011 151,483
Provision for uncollectible loans 48,091 46,380
Depreciation 4,534 4,534
Total operating expenses 1,011,131 559,611
Operating loss before special project grants (415,135) (69,080)
Special project grants:
Special project grant revenue 2,404,863 1,469,378
Special project grant expense (2,032,688) (1,579,054)
Total special project grants 372,175 (109,676)
Change in net position (42,960) (178,756}
Net position - beginning 7,406,800 7,585,556
Net position - ending $ 7,363,840 $ 7,406,800

See accompanying notes.

P69

10



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)

Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2025 2024

Operating activities:

Administrative fees S 550,000 S 337,513
Receipts from (payments to) Erie County Industrial Development Agency (1,321,715) (626,356)
Principal and interest on loans and other 181,932 150,021
Loans awarded (105,500) (35,000)
Proceeds from sale of land - 548,900
Purchase of land held for sale (5,512) (21,683)
Payments to vendors (144,813) (1,024,127)
Special project grant receipts 3,847,948 5,456,395
Special project grant disbursements (2,032,688) (1,519,399)
Net operating activities 969,652 3,266,264

Cash - beginning 3,683,965 417,701
Cash - ending $ 4,653,617 3,683,965

Reconciliation of change in net position to net cash flows
from operating activities:
Change in net position S (42,960) S (178,756)
Adjustments to reconcile change in net position to net cash
flows from operating activities:

Gain on land held for sale - (124,258)
Provision for uncollectible loans {48,091) (46,880)
Depreciation 4,534 4,534
Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Grants receivable 1,201,452 2,777,621
Loans receivable 126,618 180,021
Prepaid expenses {185) -
Land held for sale (5,512) 527,217
Accounts payable 112,384 (812,989}
Due to affiliate (620,220) (269,642)
Unearned revenue 241,633 1,209,396
Net operating activities $ 969,652 S 3,266,264
See accompanying notes. 11

P70



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

(A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Organization

Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land Development
Corporation (ILDC) was incorporated for the purpose of
participating in the acquisition and development of industrial
sites and to provide financial assistance for the acquisition or
renovation of fixed assets by industrial companies locating or
expanding in the County of Erie, New York (the County). ILDC
manages a microenterprise revolving loan program which is
dedicated to improving economic conditions in the County.

ILDC has related party relationships with Erie County
Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA) and Buffalo and Erie
County Regional Development Corporation (RDC). All three
entities are managed by the same personnel. These entities
share the same mission, which is to provide the resources that
encourage investment, innovation, workforce development,
and international trade resulting in a successful business
climate focused on growth, economic stability, job creation,
and job retention for businesses and individuals which
improves the quality of life for the residents of the region.

In accordance with accounting standards, ILDC is considered a
component unit of the County. The County, acting by and
through the County Executive, is the sole member of ILDC and
is financially accountable for it; as a result, ILDC is included in
the financial statements of the County as a discretely
presented component unit.

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental units.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board {GASB) is the
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental
accounting and financial reporting principles.

P71

Measurement Focus

ILDC reports as a special-purpose government engaged in
business-type activities. Business-type activities are those that
are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external
parties for goods or services. ILDC’s financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is
incurred.

ILDC's policy for defining operating activities in the
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position are those that generally result from exchange
transactions such as payments received for services, including
interest earned on revolving loan funds, payments made to
purchase those goods or services, gain or loss on property
sales related to redevelopment activities, or special project
grants whose purpose aligns with the primary mission of JLDC,
Grants receivable and unearned revenue are recognized at
the time awarded and are recognized as revenue when all
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been
satisfied. ILDC receives special project grants from various
Federal, State, and County governments.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Cash and Investments

Cash management is governed by New York State (the State)
laws and as established by ILDC’s written policies. Cash must
be deposited in FDIC-insured commercial banks or trust
companies located within the State. Policies permit
management to use demand and time accounts, certificates
of deposit, obligations of the United States Treasury and its
Agencies, and obligations of the State or its localities,
including those held under repurchase agreements or in
external investment pools.

12



DRAFT

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank
failure, ILDC’s deposits may not be returned to it. Collateral is
required for demand and time deposits and certificates of
deposit not covered by Federal Deposit Insurance. Obligations
that may be pledged as collateral include obligations of the
United States and its agencies and obligations of the State and
its municipalities and school districts. At December 31, 2025,
ILDC's bank deposits were fully collateralized by FDIC
coverage and securities held by the pledging bank’s agent in
ILDC’s name.

Loans Receivable

Loans receivable are stated at the principal amount
outstanding, net of an allowance for uncollectible loans. The
allowance method is used to compute the provision for
uncollectible loans.

Determination of the allowance for uncollectible loans is
based on an analysis of the loan portfolio and reflects an
amount that, in management’s judgment, is adequate to
provide for potential loan losses. Management provides for
probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to expenses
and a credit to a valuation allowance based on its assessment
of the current status of individual accounts, historical trends,
and reasonable forecasts. Loans are written off through a
charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to loans
receivable after management has used reasonable collection
efforts, and no legal recourse is available to collect the
amount owed.

Interest on loans receivable is accrued as required by the
terms of the agreement; management considers that
collection is probable based on the current economic
condition of the borrower. Interest accrual stops when
management adjusts a loan reserve to 50% or more of the
loan’s outstanding balance.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided
over estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred; significant
improvements are capitalized.

Capitalization thresholds to determine which asset purchases
are added to capital accounts and the estimated useful lives
of capital assets are:

Estimated
Capitalization Useful Life in
Policy Years
Buildings and improvements $ 1,000 5-40
Furniture and equipment $ 1,000 3-10

Net Position
Net position consists of the following components:

* Netinvestment in capital assets — consists of capital assets,
net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by outstanding
balances of any related debt obligations attributable to the
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.

* Restricted — consists of restricted assets reduced by
related liabilities. Restrictions are imposed by external
organizations such as federal or state laws and include
amounts maintained in the Erie County Business
Development Fund {Erie County BDF) (Note 2).

e Unrestricted ~ the net amount of assets less liabilities and
that are not included in the restricted component of net
position and therefore are available for general use.

Tax-Exempt Bond Transactions

ILDC is an issuer of tax-exempt bond financing for not-for-
profit entities which meet the definition of conduit debt
obligations. These bonds are obligations of the borrower and
secured by the assets they finance. ILDC receives
administrative fees from the borrower for providing bond
issues which are recognized according to the terms of the fee
agreement. ILDC also has a shared services agreement with
ECIDA under which administrative and staffing services are
provided to ILDC in connection with bond issuances in
exchange for the related bond issuance fees received by ILDC.
At December 31, 2025 and 2024, previously issued bonds
have an aggregate outstanding principal amount payable of
$346,103,922 and $337,249,793, respectively, none of which
is recognized as a liability of ILDC.

ILDC transferred $550,000 and $337,000 in administrative
fees to ECIDA in 2025 and 2024.

Income Taxes

Although the financial statements are required to be reported
as a governmental entity, ILDC is a 501(c)(3) not-for-profit
organization for income tax purposes and is exempt from
income taxes under §501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Subsequent Events

ILDC has evaluated events and transactions for potential
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements through
March 12, 2026, the date the financial statements were
available to be issued.

13

P72



DRAFT

2. Loans Receivable

The microenterprise revolving loan program was originally
funded through a Community Development Block Grant
(CDBG). Loans receivable maintained in the Erie County BDF
are restricted pursuant to the original grant terms.

Loans made to local businesses from the Erie County BDF
complement private financing at an interest rate of 2% with
varying repayment terms. In 2022, ILDC began to provide
microenterprise forgivable loans that may provide up to 50%
of loan forgiveness if certain criteria are met by the borrower.

ILDC previously provided a $750,000 forgivable loan to a
borrower. During 2025, the borrower met requirements for
the first $150,000 installment to be forgiven. The remainder
of the balance of the loan will be forgiven in installments of
$150,000 from 2026 through 2029 as long as the borrower
continues to meet certain job creation and retention
requirements as set forth in the agreement. At December 31,
2025 and 2024, the balance of the loan was $600,000 and
$750,000, respectively is included in loans receivable and fully
recognized in the allowance for uncollectible loans. The
following is a summary of the loans receivable:

2025 2024
Current status $ 1,616,318 $ 1,828,254
Less allowance 1,342,603 1,476,012
273,715 352,242
Less current portion 120,915 119,677
S 152,800 S 232,565

Following is a summary of the activity in the allowance for
uncollectible loans:

2025 2024
Balance, beginning of year S 1,476,012 $ 1,429,132
Additions charged to operations 48,091 46,880
Reduction in allowances (181,500) -

$ 1,342,603 $ 1,476,012

Scheduled maturities, net of allowances, for the next five
years and thereafter are as follows:

Principal Interest

2026 S 120,915 § 15,651
2027 79,727 9,880
2028 43,184 5,102
2029 18,170 1,997
2030 11,535 462
Thereafter 184 26

S 273,715 S 33,118

3. Special Project Grants
Special project grants are comprised of the following:

Bethlehem Phase I

In connection with Phase Il of the Renaissance Commerce
Park redevelopment, ILDC authorized the execution of a
$1,755,000 grant from Empire State Development (ESD) as
Phase | of a capital grant under the Buffalo Billion Il Initiative.
Proceeds from this grant are used to acquire additional vacant
Brownfield property at Renaissance Commerce Park, purchase
a right-of-way along the eastern edge of the property, and
plan for the Lackawanna-Woodlawn State Park Shoreline trail.

Phase Il of the capital grant in the amount of $7,695,000
under the Buffalo Billion Il initiative was authorized by ILDC in
2021. Proceeds from this grant are used toward the design
and construction of infrastructure improvements including
additional environmental remediation, construction of new
roads, and installation of utility corridors.

In 2025, ILDC authorized a $2,400,000 grant from Erie County.
Proceeds from this grant are to be used for the construction
of new roadways extending Odell Street and Ridge Road into
the Renaissance Commerce Park.

Bethiehem EDA

In 2022, ILDC authorized a $2,680,000 grant from the U.S.
Department of Commerce Economic Development
Administration (EDA). Proceeds from this grant are used for
the construction of water and sewer systems to facilitate
development of land at Renaissance Commerce Park.

Angola Agribusiness Park

ILDC previously received grants from National Grid for
$354,000, Erie County for $2,730,000, and ESD for $250,000
for the development of an agribusiness park at the former
Angola Airport in Angola, New York.

The following is a summary of grants receivable at December
31:

2025 2024
Bethlehem Phase || $ 2,400,000 $ 3,195,000
Bethlehem EDA 62,106 62,106
Angola Agribusiness Park 2,750,000 3,156,452
$ 5212,106 $ 6,413,558

The following is a summary of unearned revenue at December
31:

2025 2024
Bethlehem Phase I S 4,539545 $ 2,529,906
Angola Agribusiness Park 1,047,571 2,820,910
Other 27,111 21,778
$ 5,614,227 $ 5,372,594

14

P73



DRAFT

4. Land Held for Sale

Land held for sale is recorded at net realizable value based on
assessment of the fair value of each project. The net realizable
value as of December 31, 2025 and 2024 amounted to
$6,477,657 and $6,472,145 respectively.

In February 2017, ILDC entered into a funding agreement with
ECIDA to accept $6,700,000 in the form of a partially
refundable grant from ECIDA’s U.S. Department of Housing
and Urban Development Urban Development Action Grant
(UDAG) reflow fund in connection with a Brownfield
reclamation and redevelopment project at Renaissance
Commerce Park in Lackawanna, New York. $5,700,000 of the
grant was earmarked for the purchase of real property, with
the remaining $1,000,000 to be used for carrying costs during
and after property acquisition. Additional funding of up to
$700,000 for property acquisition was granted from ECIDA’s
UDAG reflow fund in September 2017, The initial $1,000,000
for carrying costs was exhausted during 2023 and ECIDA
approved additional funding for necessary carrying costs. As
of December 31, 2025 and 2024, $6,338,416 of the
$6,400,000 total amount granted has been spent on real
property. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024, $1,304,525 and
$1,209,841 for carrying costs was utilized, respectively.

In connection with the Phase | land purchase, ILDC accepted a
$2,780,000 grant from ESD. Proceeds from this grant were
used to reimburse ECIDA. In addition, ILDC resolved to remit
to ECIDA 50% of the net proceeds received upon the future
sale of portions of land at Renaissance Commerce Park
acquired using ECIDA grant funds, the aggregate of which is
not to exceed $6,700,000. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024,
$3,637,575 in reimbursements have been made to ECIDA.

In December 2018, ILDC entered into a funding agreement
with ECIDA to accept $1,200,000 in the form of a partially
refundable grant from ECIDA’s UDAG reflow fund in
connection with a redevelopment project at the former
Angola Airport site in Angola, New York. $900,000 of the grant
was designated for the purchase of real property, with the
remaining $300,000 to be used for carrying costs during and
after property acquisition. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024,
$855,084 of the $900,000 granted for the purchase of real
property was utilized. As of December 31, 2025 and 2024,
$189,881 and $184,397 of the $300,000 granted for carrying
costs was utilized.

5. Related Party Transactions

ECIDA allocates a portion of its personnel and overhead costs
to ILDC when sufficient funds are available. in 2025 and 2024,
costs of $151,495 and $19,701 were charged to ILDC,
respectively. The amount outstanding to ECIDA at December
31, 2025 and 2024 related to these costs amounted to
$175,743 and $32,781, respectively. In 2023, the ECIDA Board
of Directors authorized ILDC to utilize ECIDA’s UDAG funding
for cash flow purposes while project reimbursements are
processed. The amount outstanding to ECIDA at December 31,
2025 and 2024 related to these costs amounted to $3,453,770
and $4,216,952, respectively. Amounts due to ECIDA totaled
$3,629,513 and $4,249,733 at December 31, 2025 and 2024,
respectively.

In 2025 and 2024, Erie County provided $24,000 and $28,555,
respectively, to ECIDA as a subrecipient of CDBG funds. These
funds were then transferred to ILDC for its Erie County BDF
loan program and are included in special project grant
revenue in the accompanying statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position.

15

P74



DRAFT

BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

(A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)

Supplementary Information
Combining Balance Sheet

December 31, 2025

Erie County
Operating  BDF Program Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash S 4,413,351 $ 240,266 § 4,653,617
Grants receivable 5,212,106 - 5,212,106
Loans receivable - 120,915 120,915
Prepaid expenses 186 - 186
9,625,643 361,181 9,986,824
Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable, net - 152,800 152,800
Capital assets 184,285 184,285
Accumulated depreciation (14,260) - (14,260)
Land held for sale 6,477,657 - 6,477,657
6,647,682 152,800 6,800,482
$ 16,273,325 S 513,981 $ 16,787,306
Liabilities and Net Position
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable S 177,408 S 2,318 $ 179,726
Due to affiliate 3,607,598 21,915 3,629,513
Unearned revenue 5,614,227 - 5,614,227
9,399,233 24,233 9,423,466
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 170,025 - 170,025
Restricted - 489,748 489,748
Unrestricted 6,704,067 - 6,704,067
6,874,092 489,748 7,363,840
$ 16,273,325 S 513,981 $ 16,787,306

P75

16



BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

(A Component Unit of County of Erie, New York)

Supplementary Information
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For the year ended December 31, 2025

Operating revenues:
Administrative fees
Rental income
Interest from loans and other
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Transfer to Erie County Industrial Development Agency
General and administrative
Provision for uncollectible loans
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

Operating loss before special project grants
Special project grants:
Special project grant revenue
Special project grant expense
Total special project grants
Change in net position

Net position - beginning

Net position - endir_\g

Erie County

Operating BDF Program Total
S 550,000 $ - 8 550,000
23,667 - 23,667
3,256 19,073 22,329
576,923 15,073 595,996
688,495 13,000 701,495
247,056 9,955 257,011
- 48,091 48,091
4,534 - 4,534
940,085 71,046 1,011,131
{363,162) (51,973) {415,135)
2,380,863 24,000 2,404,863
(2,032,688) - (2,032,688)
348,175 24,000 372,175
(14,987) (27,973) (42,960)
6,889,079 517,721 7,406,800
S 6,874,092 $ 489,748 S 7,363,840

P76

17



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

The Board of Directors
Buffalo and Erie County Industrial
Land Development Corporation

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land
Development Corporation (ILDC), a business-type activity and a component unit of the County of Erie, New York, as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise ILDC’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 12, 2026.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered ILDC’s internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of ILDC’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of ILDC's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may
exist that have not been identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether ILDC’s financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The resuits of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

18

P77



DRAFT

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of ILDC’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering ILDC's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable

for any other purpose.

March 12, 2026

19

P78



DRAFT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 2925(3){f) OF THE NEW YORK

STATE PUBLIC AUTHORITIES LAW

The Board of Directors
Buffalo and Erie County Industrial
Land Development Corporation

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the
financial statements of Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land Development Carporation (ILDC), a business-type
activity and a component unit of the County of Erie, New York, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2025,
and the related notes to the financial statements, and we have issued our report thereon dated March 12, 2026.

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that ILDC failed to comply
with §2925(3)(f) of the New York State Public Authorities Law regarding investment guidelines during the year
ended December 31, 2025. However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such
noncompliance. Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our
attention regarding ILDC's noncompliance with the above rules and regulations.

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope and results of our testing. This communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

March 12, 2026

20

P79



ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT CORP
BUFFALO & ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORP

2025 ANNUAL REPORT
(For purposes of Section 2800(2) of the Public Authorities Law)

P80



Description of the Agency:

The Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA) is a public benefit corporation
that provides tax incentives, financing programs, export assistance, land development and
other economic development services to the City of Buffalo and Erie County, New York.

ECIDA has two affiliated not-for-profit organizations as follows:

1) Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development Corporation (RDC). This is a
lending corporation that administers two revolving loan funds (RLFs). The first
was capitalized by an Economic Development istration (EDA) grant with
matching funds from the City of Buffalo. The leased its federal interest in
this original (“Legacy”’) RLF in 2021. The I'RLF was capitalized by a 2020

(CARES) Act.
2) Buffalo and Erie County Industri ' oration (ILDC).
The ILDC takes ownership of distre i ate and return them

to assist local ‘not-for-profit

exempt interest debt of F
: lower cost. On behalf of FErie

organizations finance deV

Ons y the same personnel. The
ECIDA and RDC are the sarne Board of*Directors as their oversight body. The ILDC
board is i et W three of%om are ECIDA Board members. None of

Authorities Law. Under this Law, the ECIDA and its
a comprehensive annual report that includes information
on:

1. Operations and accomplishments

2. Financial reports

3. Mission statement and measurements
4. Bonds and notes outstanding

5. Compensation (for those with a salary in excess of $100,000)
6. Projects undertaken during the year

7. Property Report

8. Code of Ethics

9. An assessment of internal control structure and effectiveness
10. Legislation that forms the statutory basis of the authority

2

P81



11. Board structure

12. By-Laws

13. Listing of material changes in operations and programs during the reporting year
14. Four-year financial plan

15. Board Performance Evaluations

16. Assets/Services bought or sold without competitive bidding

17. Description of material pending litigation

In compliance with the Public Authorities Law, the following required information is
presented for the year ended December 31, 2025.

1. Operations & Accomplishments:

A report on the 2025 operations and accomplishm ' nts
posted on the ECIDA’s website at http:/www.€¢

2. Financial Reports:

1) Audited Financial Statements:

v astaterrients present falrly, in all
"/ECIDA andiits affiliates as of December

material respects ne ﬁnancﬁiaL_i)osﬂmn of [0
31, 2025, and the chan i
conformity,. wi

% liate ecipients of various pass-through Federal, State and
local grant;. programs tha?%ére utilized? d for land development, loan, and other economic
development%f)rograms Detalls of the various grants are outlined in the notes to the

In accomplishing 1 s: m1ss1of1; ECIDA does not receive any operational funding or
subsidies from Federal%State County or local sources. Instead, ECIDA relies primarily
upon administrative fees charged to those businesses that utilize its products and services.

iii) Operating & Financial Risks:
The following outline some of the operating and financial risks that impact ECIDA and
its affiliates:

* New York State Legislation — The New York State Legislature can impose
various restrictions on the ability of Industrial Development Agencies to provide
tax incentives which could significantly impact the revenue of the ECIDA.

3

P82



» Collectability of loans receivable — The RDC and ILDC operate various revolving
loan programs and as such their financial results are impacted by the collectability
of the related loans.

e Litigation — To provide various tax incentives or grants, ECIDA takes a leasehold
or ownership interest in various properties and is at times brought into various
lawsuits that could impact ECIDA’s financial results or affect insurability.

e Regulations — ECIDA, RDC and ILDC are subject to various regulations
including those imposed by the NYS Authorities Budget Office and the Federal
Economic Development Administration. These regulations may increase the cost
of compliance or impact the financial position of the-Agency.

e Local economic conditions — Since ECIDA {gpiggw upon fees generated from
various projects that it assists, a reduction infthe’ number and/or size of those
projects would significantly impact the Ager ‘Tevenues.

ECIDA mitigates a portion of the above risigfziimugh prudentsfinancial management,
external legal guidance and comprehensivefi%%ﬁfance coverage. &

iv) Current bond ratings:

profit and other eligible borrow
issue bonds on their own behalf aj
agencies.

&

na cings by variousinot-for-
nduit borid issuérs, ECIDA and ILDC do not
fore are nowt%égédib

Kt

funds held on b%h%ff of othé@fg?fﬁnder certain fiduciary arrangements as outlined in the
notes to ECIDA’s“%ﬁj;t:gd ﬁn%"i?pial statemierits. ECIDA does not have any long-term
liabilities sunder, employee bénefit Blans, s ECL

oy ans or provided with any!post-retirement benefits.

definedl betiefit

a Ie}’s;é.ffor its office space and three minor long-term leases
ce leaseis recognized as a right-to-use lease asset and lease

The ECIDA’s Mission atement & Measurements Report for 2025 is included in
Attachment 1. This document was reviewed and approved by the Board at the March 26,
2025 Board meeting.

4. Schedule of Bonds and Notes Qutstanding:

Attachment 2 summarizes ECIDA’s and ILDC’s bonds and notes outstanding at
December 31, 2025. The indebtedness shown on these schedules is conduit debt and is
not an obligation of ECIDA, ILDC, Erie County or New York State. Neither ECIDA nor
the ILDC records the assets or liabilities resulting from completed bond and note issues

P83



in their accounts since their primary function is to facilitate the financing between the
borrowing companies and the bond and note holders.

5. Compensation Schedule:

See Attachment 3 for a list of ECIDA employees who had a salary exceeding $100,000 in
2025. Attachment 3A is a summary of benefits provided to those staff as per the New
York State Public Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS). Biographies for
these individuals are posted on the ECIDA website at http:/www.ecidany.com/staff-
directory. Salaries and benefit information for other ECIDA staff are also reported under
the PARIS system.

any compensation for their
s afﬁhates receive any

None of the directors of ECIDA or its affiliatess
services as directors. None of the officers b"%f ﬁCTDA
compensation for their services as officers

rieﬁts The properties presented are those
en ﬁgal ownership.

The C];peratlon S ey is posted on ECIDA’s website at
http: //www%%‘dany com/about-us- corporate policies.

g t

%s i

9. Assessment of* t?i% Effectw%ness of Internal Control Structure and Procedures:

Management’s Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Controls of ECIDA, RDC and
ILDC is posted on the ECIDA’s website at https://www.ecidany.com/about-us-corporate-

reports.

ECIDA, RDC and ILDC’s independent auditors have conducted an audit of the internal
control over financial reporting and their report is included in the audited financial
statements posted on the ECIDA’s website at https://www.ecidany.com/about-us-
corporate-reports.

10. Legislation that forms the Statutory Basis of the Authority:

P84



ECIDA
Industrial development agencies (“IDAs”) are formed under Article 18-A of New York
State General Municipal Law, as public benefit corporations. IDAs were created to
actively promote, encourage, attract and develop job and recreational opportunities and
economically-sound commerce and industry in cities, towns, villages and counties
throughout New York State (the “State”). IDAs are empowered to provide financial
assistance to private entities through tax incentives in order to promote the economic
welfare, prosperity and recreational opportunities for residents of a municipality
(“Benefited Municipality”).

Section 891a of the General Municipal Law outlines the composition of the Erie County
IDA membership and additional powers granted to the ECIDA. A copy of this specific
legislation can be found at the following address:
http://public.leginfo.state.ny.us/LAWSSEAF.cgi?QUERYTYPE=LAWS+&QUER YDA
TA=$$GMU891-A$$@TXGMU0891-

A+&LIST=LAW+& BROWSER=EXPLORER+&TOKEN=35134270+&TARGET=VIE
w

RDC & ILDC

0,1 v 1N proy ‘i an01a1 assistance for the construction,
acqu1§1t10n£4’ rehab litationXimp '3 aamtenance of facilities for others in its
Be;neﬁted Temtory. Spem include the ab111ty to: (i) disseminate

real or pers%’nal property, and (iii) tol 'é"Orrow money and to issue negotlable bonds, notes
and other obhgatlons LDCs are empowered to sell, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of or encumber facﬂltles or ény real or personal property or any interest therein.

A copy of this spec1ﬁc leglslatlon can be found at the following address:
http://public.leginfo.state.ny.us/LAWSSEAF. cgi?QUERYTYPE=LAWS+&QUERYDA

TA=$SNPC1411$3@TXNPC01411+&LISTELAW+&BROWSER=EXPLORER+&TO
KEN=35134270+&TARGET=VIEW

11. Description of the Authority and its Board Structure:

i) Names of Committees and Committee Members:

P85



The ECIDA and its affiliates operate several committees as outlined on the ECIDA
website at http://www.ecidany.com/about-us-board-committees. Attachment 6 outlines
the committee members.

ii) Lists of Board Meetings & Attendance:

A list of the various Board meetings and Board attendance is outlined on Attachment 7.

iii) Description of major authority units, subsidiaries:
ECIDA and its affiliates do not have any subsidiaries.

iv) Number of Emplovyees:
ECIDA had 19 full-time employees during 2025.

v) Organizational Chart:
ECIDA’s organizational chart is postggl the
https://www.ecidany. com/documents/Pressfﬁoom/OrQamzatlona
%20a5%2001%20June%202019.pdf

IDA’s  website at:
620Chart%20-

12. Bylaws:

redevelopment of the Erie County Agribusiness Park continued
ion of the first phase of access road. New York State awarded
$11.5 million of grant” funding for infrastructure improvements at the site, and
development progress continued on all five components of the project.

The RDC continued to operate two revolving loan funds (RLFs) in 2025, providing
favorable terms to businesses who may not qualify for traditional lending from banks. At
the end of 2025, RDC had 6 loans totaling $519,000 pay off early, contributing to an
increase in funds available for lending. The business and lending environment faced
numerous uncertainties in 2025 that slowed the demand for lending. The recently
established Sumitomo Employee Loan Fund closed 2 loans in 2025, providing low-cost

P86



capital and special terms to assist displaced workers. Despite economic headwinds, the
RDC was able to increase its outstanding portfolio balance by $348,000, to $15,421,000.

The ECIDA Board approved 14 tax incentive projects with total private investment of
over $727 million expected. 3 of these projects opted into the Economic Inclusion
Program (EIP) PILOT, which is designed to increass MWBE contract and hiring
opportunities on projects that receive ECIDA PILOT benefits. The Board also formally
adopted FOIL and Records Retention policies.

14. Four-Year Financial Plan:

A copy of the four-year financial plan is post; the ECIDA’s website at

https://www.ecidany.com/about-us-corporate-report

%
orts tha%;are filed using PARIS for
rtﬁé outline W@the assets and services
vé@f;ddlng for all procurements in

Attachments 8, 8A, and 8B are Prog
ECIDA, RDC, and JALDCsrespective

excess of $5, 000 ,

O G,
Th, ""audlted ﬁnanctal s%atements for the 'u;ff;I
peﬁd, g,htlgatmn The! audlted inancial statements are posted on the ECIDA’s website at
http: /7’ww<%/w ecidany.coni/ab

X %

17. Description of n_lat%i‘.ial pending litigatic

P87



Certification Pursuant to Section 2800(3) of the Public Authorities Law

Pursuant to Section 2800 (3) of the Public Authorities Law, each of the undersigned
officers of Erie County Industrial Development Agency, Buffalo and Erie County
Regional Development Corporation, and the Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land
Development Corporation does hereby certify with respect to the annual financial report
of the Corporation (the “Annual Financial Report”) posted on the ECIDA’s website at
http://www.ecidany.com/about-us-corporate-reports that based on the officer’s
knowledge:

1. The information provided in the Annual Fin ,;eport is accurate, correct and

does not contain any untrue statement of m

results of

3. Fairly presents in all
he periods pres%d in such

operations of the Corporatic
financial statements. '

J ohn Cappellino

Mollie Profic.
Vice President

P88



Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA)
Buffalo & Erie County Industrial Land Development Corp. (ILDC)
Buffalo & Erie County Regional Development Corporation (RDC)

2025 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements with Results
Approval Date of Goals: March 26, 2025

Approval Date of Results: Anticipated March 25, 2026

Purpose:

The Public Authorities Law requires public authorities to develop and adopt a mission
statement and to develop performance measures to assist them in determining how well
they are carrying out their mission. The Authorities Budget Office (ABO) requires that all
public authorities utilize the following format to annually review their mission statement
and performance measures and publish a measurement report. This report is designed to
satisfy these requirements.

Please note: The ECIDA publishes an annual report outlining detailed project information
and accomplishments called “Year in Review.” The Year in Review is on the ECIDA’s
website at htips://www.ecidany.com under “About Us” then “Annual Reports”.

Mission Statement:

The mission of the Erie County IDA and its affiliates is to provide the resources that
encourage investment, innovation, workforce development and international trade
resulting in a successful business climate focused on growth, economic stability, job
creation and retention for businesses and individuals which improves the quality of life for
the residents of the region.

P89



Performance Goals, Measures & Results:

Goal 1: To promote private investment & innovation:

Objective 1A: ECIDA: Encourage private sector investment by providing incentives and
other economic development services to spur eligible development

projects.
Measurement: Value of new private investments from tax incentives
Metric: $ 300 - $ 325 M in private investment from approved tax incentives.

Results: Private investment totaled $727.9M for the 14 tax incentive projects
approved by the ECIDA Board of Directors. This included 4 amendatory
and 1 adaptive reuse project.

TAX INCENTIVES INDUCED (IN $M)

s w/oamend  wwmm w/amend  ———# of Project
$800 $727.9 16

$600 ~ 12
R
S PP
$400 ™~ -~ 8
=
$339.2 \%14.2
$234.8 ol
$200 4
$0.0
$0 0
2023 2024 2025

Objective 1B: RDC: Provide “gap financing” to spur the creation of new businesses and
private-sector investment in working capital, machinery and equipment.

Measurement: Number of loans, $ amount of loans and amount of private investment for
loans approved

Metric: 8 - 10 business loans totaling $ 3 M with private investment = $6 M.

Results: RDC approved 7 Loans for $4M from the Legacy Fund - encouraging
$4.9M of private investment. Overall, demand for loans was lighter than
expected during 2025. Economic uncertainty remained high due to higher
interest rates coupled with inflation that remained stubbornly high, tariff
uncertainty, and lower bank loan approval rates contributed to lower loan

activity. During the second half of 2025, the RDC did experience
revised 03/5/2026

P90



increased loan inquiries and lending activity as a result of increased
targeted outreach efforts, and as tariff certainty with many trading partners
was established allowing businesses to better determine costs and the

Fed Reserve to reduce interest rates.

Loans: Approved & Private Investment Amounts (in $M)

$15.0 10
, $10.4 8
10.0 P o
i S L 6
$5.3 A
$5.0
$2.5 5
$0.0 0

Objective 1C:

Measurement:

Metric:

Results:

2023 2024 2025

b Loan Amt  mmes Private Invest Amt  emema=if of loans approved

ECIDA & ILDC: Assist non-profit and other eligible borrowers to obtain
low-interest, tax-exempt bond financing.

Value of private investments from low-interest financing provided to non-
profit organizations and qualified private activity bond projects. Continue
to monitor NYS Housing and Community Renewal regulations for
affordable housing projects that utilize 4% state and federal Low Income
Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC) restricting bond activity to only new
construction and its impact on this objective.

1 -2 tax exempt bonds totaling $30 M — $35 M.

Three tax exempt bonds totaling $205 M were approved:
$55 M Canisus University — ILDC

$65 M D'Youville University (tax exempt portion) — ILDC
$85 M Buffalo Public School System — ECIDA

revised 03/5/2026

PI1



Tax Exempt Bonds Induced (in $M)

$200.0
$150.0
$100.0

$50.0

$0.0

i Bond Amt s i of Bonds

Objective 1D: ECIDA & ILDC: Pursue state, federal and private (grant) funding
opportunities to support priority projects and leverage private investment.
Administer projects that have received grant funding.

Measurement: Number and $ amount of grant applications submitted. Number and $
amount of grant funds under administration.

Metric: 5-7 grants submitted for $6M - $7M. 7-10 grants totaling $75M under
administration.

Results: Twelve (12) grant applications have been submitted for a total of $19.5 M.
Of grants submitted:
* Eight (8) awarded / partially awarded totaling $8.3 M (43%)
» Two (2) denied / partially denied totaling $5.1 M (26%)
¢ Two (2) pending totaling $5.8 M (30%)

Grants Submitted (in $M)
$40.0 $37.6 20

$30.0 15

$24.5
$19.5
$20.0 10
$10.0 5
$0.0 0
2023 2024 2025

B Grant Amt eseee# of Grants

revised 03/5/2026

P92



There are 10 active grants totaling $24.8 M under administration.

Grants Under Administration (in SM)

$30.0 12
$24.8
$25.0 10
520.0 8
$15.0 512 0 6
$10.0 4
$5.0 2
$0.0 0
2023 2024 2025
s $ Amount of Grants uder Administration # of Grants
Goal 2: To support business formation, job growth, and economic expansion

targeting economically challenged and disadvantaged communities:

Objective 2A: ECIDA & ILDC: Support the re-investment in vacant, abandoned, and
underutilized buildings.

Measurement: Number and investment value of adaptive re-use building projects
Metric: 3 - 4 adaptive reuse projects approved totaling $50 - $75 M.

Results: 1 adaptive reuse project was approved totaling $30.2 M. This project is
the 1% project approved under the 2024 Adaptive Reuse Policy
amendment that now requires projects contain a certain # of affordable /
workforce housing units. The approved project will create 64 apartment
units of which 10 units (15%) will be available at 80% AMI (or below).

Adaptive Reuse Projects (in $M)

$100.0 6
$80.9
$80.0 5
4
$60.0
3
$40.0 $30.2 5
520.0 1
0.0
$0.0 0
2023 2024 2025
Total §  em===j of Projects
revised 03/5/2026

P93



Objective 2B: ECIDA ILDC & RDC: Support the creation and growth of small business,
as well as minority-owned, women-owned and service-disabled veteran
owned businesses (collectively MWBE/SDVOB).

Measurement: Number and $ amount of direct assistance through Agency’s product
offerings to MWBE/SDVOB (i.e. business loans, tax incentives).

Procurement goal $ amount and % spent with MWBE/SDVOB vendors for
both operational (ECIDA) and other purchases.

Metric: Direct assistance: $400,000 direct assistance to 5 — 7 MWBE/SDVOBs.

Purchases: Meet 100% of the following:

1) RFPs and/or bids — RFPs and/or bids issued to contain a score

category (with a score value = 10%), whereby the MWBE/SDVOB
utilization and/or D&l initiatives = 30% of contract total.

2) Tracking / Reporting of $ value of purchases to monitor adherence to
30% MWBE/SDVOB utilization for ECIDA purchases (including but not
limited to: office supplies, catering and equipment leasing) as well as
for Land Development services: Professional & Construction

Results: ECIDA Direct Assistance — A total of $299,500 in direct assistance as
follows:

$270,000 in loans were approved for 4 MWBE businesses

$ 2,000 Buffalo MWBE Conference sponsorship @ 500 Pearl

$ 2,500 SBA sponsorship: Straight Talk (tech assistance MWABEsS)

$ 25,000 Direct grant assistance to NAACP Buffalo Chapter (via Urban
League) for ULI Jefferson Avenue revitalization study

S Amount of MBE WBE Direct

Assistance
$2,000,000
$1,500,000
51,000,000
$500,000 ,
s e B
2023 2024 2025

revised 03/5/2026

P94



)

ECIDA_Purchases Tracking/Reporting/Vendor Operational Purchases:
Purchases of $48,000 (25% MWBE) were made from known M/WBEs out of
total purchases = $190,000. Note: total purchases were from 3 major
categories: IT services / hardware, printing / marketing, and office supplies /
equipment. A breakout of the $48,000 in purchases included:

$24,000 (9.7%) from WBE
$23,000 (9.3%) from MBE
$ 1,000 (0.4%) from MWBE

This represents an increase in annual spend of $5,000 (WBEs) and
$17,000 (MBE). Agency purchases included three new M/WBE vendors.

ILDC Purchases RFPs and Bids Land Development Services: In 2025, two
(2) New Construction RFPs (Angola Agri-Park & Buffalo Southern Railroad
Track Repair) totaling $3.3 M were issued. Both RFPs (100%) contained a
10% scoring category related to MWBE/SDVOB utilization and D& initiatives.

ILDC Tracking/Reporting Land Development Services: In 2025, two (2)
construction contracts were awarded, totaling nearly $3.3 M:

* Angola Agri-Park — A $1,515,000 contract was awarded that included a 30%
MWBE utilization goal. Of that amount, $422,021 has been paid to certified
MWBE subcontractors, representing 28.3% MWBE utilization.

* Buffalo Southern Railroad Track Repair — A $1,784,969 contract was
awarded that included a reduced 22% MWBE Utilization goal (13% MBE and
9% WBE). A reduced goal was accepted by the NYSDOT (funding source)
due to an inability to obtain MBE/WBE rail contractors able to meet the
original goals due to 1) the specialized nature of the work and 2) limited
availability of qualified MWBE/SDVOB firms. The contract was awarded in
December 2025 and work is scheduled to begin Spring 2026. Utilization
performance results will be tracked once work commences.

ILDC Professional Services: In addition, a total of $593,050 has been paid to
Professional Services contractors. Of this amount, $267,504 (45.11%) was
paid to certified MWBE and SDVOB firms. These payments are tracked
continuously to monitor utilization and maintain compliance with reporting

requirements.

revised 03/5/2026

P95



Objective 2C: ECIDA, ILDC & RDC: Support diversity, equity & inclusion with a focus on
staff development

Measurement: Provide training opportunities re: Racial Equity

Metric: Provide two or more continued educational / training opportunities for staff
on DEI
Results: Staff attended 3 on topic related training events:

* NYSEDC Conference sessions: 1) Office of Strategic Workforce Dev
with focus on growing NYS MWBEs and 2) Programs to promote
affordable housing in under-represented communities (Feb '25)*

» NYSEDC Basic Eco Dev — DEI session (June ‘25)*

* NYS Unlawful Harassment Training including definition of / rights related
to protected classes ECIDA Staff training (Oct ‘25)

*one or more staff member attendance

Objective 2D:_ ECIDA: Increase opportunities for minorities and women to experience
economic progress through tax incentive programs.

Measurement: Implementation of ECIDA Economic Inclusion PILOT
Metric: 1 — 2 projects opt into the EIP program.

Results: 3 projects opted into the EIP program. These projects will have PILOTs
that depend upon meeting goals including % MWBE goals for
construction, minority & woman job retention and/or job creation as well
as Economic Inclusion Policy (EIP) goals.*

* EIP Policy Goals focus on procurement, DEI practices, DEI training and mentorship

Objective 2E:  ECIDA: Support the creation and retention of jobs at all salary levels.

Measurement. Average $ of jobs to be retained & created. For informational purposes
include salary info re: management, professional, administrative,
production, independent contractor and other

Metric: Average salary for retained and created jobs at $ 50K - $55K

Resuits: The average salary for the 3,673 FT Jobs (2,111 retained, 562 new) =
$71,549 The average salary for the 59 PT Jobs (43 retained, 6 new) =
$30,562 The total annual payroll amount = $178 M.

revised 03/5/2026

P96



Average Salary w/ Average Salary w/o
Fringe

Category # of Jobs Fringe
Management 224 $118,794 $96,625
Professional 773 $ 98,356 $ 74,940
Administrative 125 $ 90,232 $71,285
Production 1532 S$ 77,540 $60,971
Independent Contractor 3 $91,769 $ 63,000

Other 16 $ 63,078 $ 35,294 ]
Totals 2673

Average Salary w/ | Average Salary w/o
Category # of Jobs Fringe Fringe
Management 0 S0 S0
Professional 0 S0 S0
Administrative 0 S0 S0
Production 58 $30,087 $30,011
independent Contractor 0 $0 S0
Other 1 $42,350 $35,000
Totals 59

*average salary metric is based on historical data with consideration given to market adjustments (i.e. inflation, cost of living) and
comparisons to County/ City of Buffalo living wage data. (note: include avg salaries in job categories and the total payroll amount).

Objective 2F:

Measurement:

Metric:

Results:

ECIDA, RDC & ILDC: Reach out to Erie County businesses to inform them
of ECIDA and other business support services available.

Number of business outreach attempts (including marketing

communication efforts)

290 business outreach contacts, 2,000,000 marketing impressions
through paid advertising.

245 Business outreach contacts included: 105 Business Development, 73
Professional Partners and 67 Events (networking & presentations).

Marketing & Communications activity included targeted paid advertising
campaigns on business radio and in print, totaling approximately 4.1
million impressions. Radio advertising and WBEN Facebook/Meta post
engagement were the main drivers in exceeding the 2025 goals for
impressions. Direct mailings of the ECIDA holiday calendar and Year in
Review reached approximately 1,300 business contacts. ECIDA social
media Facebook/Meta posts resulted in approximately 10,126
impressions on 50 organic and shared posts.

revised 03/5/2026

P97



NOTE: Efforts made to outreach to small and medium-sized businesses
specifically included staff attendance and/or presentations at:

Chamber of Commerce events: Amherst, Buffalo Niagara Partnership.
Cheektowaga, West Seneca and Lancaster

Small business focused events: Sumitomo Job Fair, Black Business Expo,
Women Mentoring Monday, Black Business Training (@Beverly Gray),
Manufacturing Awards (BNMA), MWBE Conference (LeChase Const), SBA
Straight Talk, Construction Exchange of Buffalo & WNY.

Objective 2G: ILDC: Support reinvestment in vacant and abandoned brownfield

properties for the purpose of creating shovel-ready sites, new investment,
and jobs.

Measurement: Number of acres of land redeveloped / in the process of redevelopment

Metric:

Results:

and public/private investment amounts
350 acres of land under management

486 acres of land are under management of the ECIDA, through its
development arm the ILDC. Properties under development:

1) 240 acres at Renaissance Commerce Park
2) 240 acres at the Erie County Agribusiness Park.
3) 6 acres at 3445 River Road.

The ILDC’s Business and Property Development team assist companies
seeking to identify suitable commercial real estate options specific to the
Renaissance Commerce Park and Erie County Agribusiness Park. Business
and developer interest in the parks remains high. At 3445 River Road, a 5-
year long-term lease agreement in place with MN8 Group for development

of a Battery Storage Facility.

revised 03/5/2026

P98



2025 Site Redevelopment Activities Highlights

Site Activities 2025 Highlights ]
Renaissance Commerce Park ¢  Completed design and engineering for Odell St. and Ridge Rd. extensions project
¢  Contracted with Pinto Construction Services for the construction of the project — starts in
spring 2026
¢ Completed the design and engineering for the WYE Yard Rail Relocation Project
¢ Executed the Rail Relocation Agreement with Tecumseh and Genesee & Wyoming Inc
®  Preparing to go out to bid for project in early 2026
¢ ESD board approved $6.5 million funds for project
¢ Executed extension of the Purchase Sale Agreement with Tecumseh for additional parcels on
the south end of the property (WYE Yard)
e Executed a purchase sale agreement with developer J.G. Petrucci for the construction of a light
manufacturing facility on parcels #2 and #3
. Worked with Sen. Sean Ryan, Assemblymember Jon Rivera and Governor Hochul on
successfully extending the brownfield tax credits for Gen. 1 parcels on Renaissance
Commerce Park
Erie County Agri-business Park *  Awarded $11.5 million FAST NY grant from Empire State Development for infrastructure
project on the site — ESD board voted to approve funding in November
*  Progressing with the development of all five tasks/components of the project with our partners
at Erie County DSM, National Grid, and National Fuel
*  Awarded first phase of access road construction project to Anastasi Trucking Inc.
*  Completed first phase of access road construction project
*  Signed agreement with WSD to pursue a jurisdictional determination from Army Corp. of
Engineers
3445 River Road ®  Received Second lease payment ($30,000) from MNS for battery storage project
L

Goal 3: To encourage international trade:

Objective 3A:

Measurement:

Metric:

Results:

ECIDA: Promote & support the use of Erie County’s foreign trade zone
(FTZ) to assist businesses in remaining globally competitive by reducing,
eliminating, or deferring import duties.

Value of goods moving through FTZ #23 and # of FTZ activated sites

A total of 6 FTZ sites with goods valued at $700 M moving through the
zone.

For year-end 2024, FTZ # 23 had a total of 6 active FTZ sites. The 5
warehouse sites moved goods valued at $93.9 M through FTZ #23. This
represents a $3.7 M decrease from the prior year. Most FTZ activity was
driven by W.S. Services (Sucro Sourcing), Starline USA and Speed
Global. FTZ #23 collected duties of $6.1 M - down $5.6M from 2023. Both
decreases were largely due to the US renegotiating trade policies with all
trading partners causing difficulty for businesses to project costs due to
increased and changing tariffs and policies on most imported goods. The
net effect was less goods being imported.

revised 03/5/2026

P99



Cummins Inc is the 6% FTZ site for FTZ #23. It is a production site that is
separately accounted for by the FTZ Board . In 2024, Cummins goods
valued at $3.2 B (a $700 M increase from 2023) moved through the FTZ.
Cummins collected $1.2 M in tariffs in 2024.

Foreign Trade Zone #23 Warehouse Activity (in $M)

$100.0 592 0 593 9
) l I I
$60.0

2022 2023 2024

u S Value of Goods

Foreign Trade Zone #23 - Production Activity (In $B)

(Cumins)
$35
$3.0 -
$2.5
$2.0 ' '
$1.5 ;
$1.0 - |
$0.5 -
$0.0 '

2023 2024

*(note: due to the t|m|ng of the Annual Federal FTZ Reporting (June) — the prior years results are listed)

Goal 4: Regional & Business Resiliency:

Objective 4A:

Measurement:

Metric:

ECIDA, RDC, ILDC: Assist businesses throughout Erie County.
Provide a roadmap for business resiliency.

Convene CEDS Implementation Committee (public & private partners)
annually (in Q4) to share and collect data/information regarding the
progress of regional goals and accomplishments in economic and

revised 03/5/2026

P100



Results:

community development. Prepare an annual CEDS Performance Report
as an addendum to the 2022-2026 CEDS for submission to the EDA.

Collect 2025 data from partners and stakeholders in Q1 2026 to prepare
CEDS Performance Report — anticipated completion is Q2 2026.

Objective 4B:
Measurement:

Metric:

Results:

ECIDA RDC, ILDC: Support Small Businesses in Erie County Consortium
Communities whose owners have low to moderate household incomes.

Provide administrative support for the Erie County Microenterprise Loan
& other programs funded by Community Development Block Grant funds

Administer the underwriting process leading to the approval of 6-8 loans
for $200,000, which represents the funds available for lending from the
Erie County Microenterprise Loan program. The ECIDA will continue to
service, support and market the lending program to the eligible consortium
communities.

ILDC provided loan underwriting services that resulted in the County’s
Microloan Committee’s approval of four (4) micro enterprise loans totaling
$105,500 with $45,000 in private investment. The ILDC received 5
applications from Erie County for review / underwriting in 2025.
Application volume was down in 2025 due to the economic uncertainty
both locally and nationally but had picked up during the summer months.

revised 03/5/2026

P101



Goal 5: To safeguard the public’s investment by ensuring compliance and
transparency with ECIDA Policies & Procedures, NYS Tax, EDA and ABO

requirements:

Obijective 5BA:

Measurement:

ECIDA: Client compliance with material terms including local labor,
employment retention & creation, investment, pay equity and unpaid real
property tax policies.

Collection and analysis of quarterly employment & local labor reports for
all active projects, review of investment verifications, facilitate completion
of pay equity audits by Erie County Department of Public Advocacy
payments through the Erie County Commissioner of Real Property
Services

Metric: 100% compliance

Results:

In 2025, three (3) projects were selected for the Pay Equity audit, and
those audits are currently in progress. 100% compliance with unpaid real
property taxes tax policies and investment confirmations. Compliance with
employment retention and creation will be assessed in Quarter 1, pending
the receipt and analysis of annual surveys.

Objective 5B: ECIDA: Client compliance with the NYS Sales and Use Tax program.

Measurement:

Metric:

Results:

Monitor and review of clients’ ST-340 reporting forms against the amount
of the sales tax savings approved by the Board of Directors to ensure that
the amount of the sales tax savings that clients report does not exceed the

board approved amounts.
100% client compliance

Pending the receipt and analysis of annual surveys.

Objective 5C: ECIDA, RDC & ILDC: Compliance with ABO’s deadlines and regulatory

Measurement:

Metric:

Results:

requirements.

Timely and accurate filing of the annual PARIS reports, budgets and
financial audits

100% compliance

The Agency is on track to meet filing requirements of the ABO’s 3/31/26
reporting deadline.

revised 03/5/2026

P102



Objective 5D: ECIDA, RDC & ILDC: Board Member compliance with ABO regulatory
requirements.

Measurement: Board completion of the annual Board of Directors Self Evaluation,
execution of the Acknowledgement of Fiduciary Duties & Responsibilities
forms, and completion of the required ABO board member training

Metric: 100% compliance

Results: As of 12/31/2025, there were two vacancies on the ECIDA & RDC Board.
In total, 15 of the 19 ECIDA & RDC Board Members and 5 of the 7 ILDC
Board Members have completed their board member training. In 2025,
there were eight (8) new board members. Board members have 12
months from the date of their appointment to complete the required
training. Lastly, the Agency is on track to meet filing requirements of the
ABO’s 3/31/26 reporting deadline.

Objective S5E: ECIDA, ILDC & RDC: Ensure proper controls and safeguards over the
financial reporting and assets of the organizations.

Measurement: Annual independent audit reports of all entities.
Metric: Audit opinions and management letter.

Results: In process

Objective 5F:  RDC: Ensure proper controls and safeguards over the administration of
the CARES Act revolving loan fund (RLF).

Measurement: Obtain the highest rating from the U.S. Dept of Commerce: Economic
Development Administration (EDA) on the quality / health of the RLF
administered by the RDC

Metric: Receive an "A” rating from the EDA.

Results: For the year ended December 31, 2025, a level A risk rating was assigned
to the CARES Act RLF. The RLF eared 27 out of a possible 30 points.
Maximum points were earned for the overall RLF management, while
areas such as liquidity (the amount of cash available for lending compared
to a regional metric) and net RLF income (the portion of RLF income used
for administrative expenses divided by total RLF income) scored lower.
The A rating results in annual reporting to EDA for 2026, instead of semi-

annual.

revised 03/5/2026

P103



Governance Certification

8

Have the board members acknowledged that they have read and understood the
mission of the public authority?

Board of Directors response: Yes

Who has the power to appoint the management of the public authority?
Board of Directors response: The Board of Directors

If the Board appoints management, do you have a policy you follow when
appointing the management of the public authority?

Board of Directors response: The Board has not adopted a written policy.
However, the Board follows prudent and reasonable practices to appoint
responsible individuals.

Briefly describe the role of the Board and the role of management in the
implementation of the mission.

Board of Directors response: The role of the Board regarding the
implementation of the public authority’s mission is to provide strategic guidance,
oversight, mission authorization, policy setting and validation of the authority’s
mission, performance measurements and results. The role of management is to
collaborate with the Board in strategy development and to implement established
programs, processes, activities and policies to achieve the public authority’s

mission.

Has the Board acknowledged that they have read and understood the responses
to each of these questions?

Board of Directors response: Yes

revised 03/5/2026

P104



ECIDA Bonds

ATTACHMENT 2

Interest Bond/Loan Bond
Trustee ProjectName Bond Amount Year Start Balance 2025 Year End Balance 2025 Principal Paid 2025 Rate Number Maturity
New Yori
Housing Finance
2360 |Agency 2009 Shoreline Apartments LLC $9,000,000 989,912.00 931,855.39 | § 58,056.61 |0.055 5003 11/30/41
Bank of New Our Lady of Victory Renaissance
2516 | York Mellon Corparation $11,860,000 5,715,000.00 5,130,000.00 | $ 585,000.00 |variable 41132
2591 |M&T Bank Canisius High School $22,250,000 8,765,000.00 8,270,000.00 | § 495,000.00 |var 1012768 2/1/38
Joint Schools Construction
Board (Refund of 2007A &
10291 [M&T Bank 2008A bonds) - Series 2015A $236,975,000 98,785,000.00 - |8 98,785,000.00 |var. H378 2029
Joint Schools Construction
Board-Series 2016A (Refund of
10342 [M&T Bank 2009A Bonds) $133,580,000 67,725,000.00 50,185,000.00 | § 17,540,000.00 [2.17 118534-000 2031
Zions
10404 |Bancorporation  [Marina Vista $13,300,000 12,368,666.40 12,155,888.69 | § 212,777.71 |fixed 7916 1/1/37
U.S. Bank
National Related Affordable/Elmwood 1.846%,
10504 | Association Square Apariments $8,590,000 8,396,280.55 8,253,406.35 | 142,874.20 |Fixed 234450000 7/1/2038
Joint Schools Construction
Board/City School District of the
10621 |M&T Bank City of Buffalo -2021 series $109,135,000 80,320,000.00 71,765,000.00 | § 8,555,000.00 |Fixed 21A & 21B 2032
Joint Schools Construction
Board/City School District of the
10730|M&T Bank City of Buffalo - 2022 series $71,150,000 33,225,000.00 10,415,000.00 | $ 22,810,000.00 |Fixed 156152-000 2026
Argent
Institutional Trust |OAHS Tonawanda TC, LLC Account number|
10758 |Company (Tonawanda Towers) $ 11,090,000 11,090,000.00 11,055,000.00 | § 35,000.00 |Fixed 14085070171 | 10/1/2062
Wimington Trust
National Ellicott Park Townhomes
10764 Asso_g;ﬁon Community Partners, LP $33,000,000 32,765,000.00 28,790,000.00 | § 3,975,000.00 |5.45% fix{161477-000 41112067
.S, Bank
Nationat Waestchester Park Perservation 248174000
10809 |Association LP $22,310,000 22,200,000.00 21,975,000.00 | $ 225,000.00 |4.25% 2/1/2041
Joint Schools Construction
Board/City School District of the
10813|M&T Bank City of Buffalo - 2023A $57,270,000 57,270,000.00 57,270,000.00 | $ - 15.0% fixed166740-000 2028
School Facility Refunding
Revenue Bonds - Series 2025 A
10883 |M&T Bank (ECIDA Bond) $74,150,000 74,150,000.00 74,150,000.00 | § - 5% fixed |[181584-000 2029
513,764,858.95 360,346,150.43

P105




ILDC Bonds ATTACHMENT 2
v B o) ab 0 0 B ondg g 0 e R 0
2758|M&T Bank Enterprise Charter School No $7,345,000.00 $5,715,000.00 $5,525,000.00 $180,000.00 7.5 1032851
Cantalician Center for
10111 |M&T Bank Leamning-Series A No $9,525,000.00 $3,955 833.39 $3,463,750.08 $492,083.31 |var. 1034105
The Bank of New
10278 |York Mallon Catholic Health System No $93,800,000.00 $63,795,000.00 $58,840,000.00 $4,955.000.00 5
The Bank of New |Orchard Park CCRC, Inc. afiia
10290 |York Mellon Fox Run No $44.490.000.00 $32,485,000.00 $30,835,000.00 $1,650.000.00 |1-5% ORCHRDPARK15
Canisius College of Buffalo,
New York - Refund of 2004-
2005 DASNY Bonds - Series Bank Purchase
10296 [M&T Bank 2015A No $30,760,000.00 $17.865,000.00 $0.00 $17,865,000.00 |Rate: 5.1780% 3233822
Canigius College of Buffalo,
New York - Refund of 2004~
2005 DASNY Bonds - Series Bank Purchase
10296 |M&T Bank 20158 No $16,195,000.00 $16,195,000.00 $0.00 $16,195.000.00 |Rate: 5.2756% 3233830,
10338 |M&T Bank 854 Ellicott Street, LLC No $44,328,500.00 $38,054,669.41 $37,004,137.37 $1.050,532.04 2.95/99-6641368-3
eries A -
3.875% &
5.00% Series B
10371 |M&T Bank Tapestry Charter School No $33,900,000.00 $31,115,000.00 $30,565,000.00 $550,000.00 |6.00 % 123350-000 & 123351-000
Charter School for Applied Varies: 4.25%-
10375[4.S. Bank Technologies No $22,995 000.00 $16,180,000.00 $15,025,000.00 $1,155,000.00 |5.00% 220612000
Global Concepts Charter
10399 |Wilmi Trust_|School No $6,185,000.00 $4,785,000.00 $4,515,000.00 $270,000.00 |4 & 5% 131876-000
10470{U.S. Bank D'Youville College No $48,205,000.00 $44,675,000.00 $43,700,000.00 $975,000.00 |Variable 234594000 & 244529000
Key Government |134 High Street, LLC, Series
10713 |Finance, Inc. 2022 No $19,635,847.21 $17,494,290.11 $16,696,034.73 $798,255.38 2.92% 2002880080
D Youville University (ILDC
10827 |UMB Bank Bond] No $44,935 000.00 $44,935,000.00 $44 935 000.00 $0.00 8.38%| 11943KEG3
Canisius University Series 5.5%, 6%,
10865 |U.S. Bank 2025 (ILDC Bond) No $55.000,000.00 $55,000,000.00 $55,000,000.00 $0.00 |6.25% fixed 294353000
$477.299.347.21 $392,249,792.91 $346,103.922.18

P106



ATTACHMENT 3
Erie County Industrial Development Agency
Compensation Schedule
Year Ended: December 31, 2025

The following employees had a base salary greater than $100,000 in 2025:

Performance Payroll
Name Title Salary Compensation Taxes* Benefits Total

John Cappellino President & CEO $ 210125 | § - $ 14,243 | § 45495 | § 269,863
Elizabeth O'Keefe Vice President - Operations $ 127,920 | $ 4992 | § 10,446 | $ 25927 | § 169,285
Mollie Profic Vice President & CFO $ 124,466 | $ 4809 | § 10,168 | $ 42,345 | $ 181,788
Grant Lesswing Director of Business Development | $ 113872 | $ 4444 | 3 9329 | $ 24474 | $ 152,119
Gerald Manhard Chief Lending Officer $ 103,732 | $ 3,952 | $ 8516 | $ 22,898 | $ 139,008
Andrew Federick Director of Property Development | $ 101,135 | $ 3,827 | § 8,308 | § 23,081 [ $ 136,351

* Represents Employer's Share of FICA taxes (Social Security & Medicare) & NYS Unemployment Insurance taxes

P107




0¢€ Jo 1) sebed

suofeisd()
o
juspisaid
X 8N Wipqez)3 ‘sjead.0
1900
Buipua
X I4D|  piesss) ‘pieyuepy
u
wdojaraq
ssaulsng
X 10 10108.I( wess ‘Bumssan
1300 Ju
wdojsaeq
ssauIsn
pu
X Apadol MBIIpUY “Houspad
030
X juapisal, uyor ‘ouljiedden
soueINSyY
8j) spied Jpaid;
siyjeusquawiojdwiz asueysiss juapuedagesuemol|y sueo ajesodio) sdiysiaquisyy eAes< pesnupy abeyoed
Jatjip(esey Jo suo JedA-RIN :oE:M_ /1esnodg| Buisnopuopeuodsued || ony leuossad| Jo asn qnig| Jojjuswied  sdueiess| ETHT swepn
slopang
X] o pieog) JuBIBA
si0j08.0)
X 40 pJeog JUBIBA
s40398U10 eysie||
X 40 pieo ‘pie] uesr ig)
s10p08u1Q)
X 10 piaeo| yisuusy| ‘zjeoyds|
$4030841Q d
X 10 pseog|iaydoisuyd ‘uojuess
s10)0a.1(}
X J0 pieog BN ‘ZIBOUOO |
souRInsu
Siyou 8y Sped ypaid
asayy juswAojdwz ssuesissy|  Juapuad oUBMO|| sueo| ajelodio)| sdiysiequuapyeaea pasnup) afieyoed
Joy30)| Jo auo Jeep-pInp| uopn || { lesnodg]  Buysnop|uopepodsued| o)ny| leuosiad] Jo as() anig| Jodgjuewiled  eduesaneg) apLL IWER)|

VIN :31EQ pautHay S20Z/1€/Z1 BuIpu JesA (eosiy
Q3LUNENSNN 'snjeys

9Z0Z/S0/€0  ‘eleq uny

Kouaby juswdojeae( [erisnpul Ajunog eu3 oy yodey [enuuy

Ve LNJWHOVLLY

P108



0¢ 40 g1 abey

1801
|elueul
fol o]
Jepisald
X SO aljion ‘dyoid
sdueinsu
: ay sSpJed ppasd
sjjeuaquawAojdwzl ssueysiss juspuada(gasuemoy] sueon  ajesodiod| sdiysioquiapy aaesq pasnup) abeyoed
Jayiojasay Jo suoN| JesA-pInpy :o_a_a,u / fesnodg| Buisno :o_ﬁtonm:m._b._..._ oa_.L leuosiog| jo0 as) qnio| 104 JuswAe| mo:u._gww_ ap awep|
VIN :e1eq payiied S20Z/L€/ZL :Bupu3 JesA jeosiy
Q3LLINGNSNN ‘snelg
9202/50/€0 Bjeq uny Koueby juswidoareq [elysnpu| Ajunog eug Joy podey jenuuy

LU IS ATy LICEISLUNO ) © WS SO LIS DG

Sl

P109



Erie County Industrial Development Agency

Projects Undertaken by the Corporation
Year Ended: December 31, 2025

ATTACHMENT 4

Projected  Net Jobs
Year2 Projectedto Lease Project Tax Exempt

Company Jobs be Created Amount Bond Amount  Date Approved

1 Upstate Niagara Cooperative, Inc.* 370 130 $ 255,000,000 9/24/2025
2 Deckorators, Inc. 50 50 77,225,524 3/26/2025
3 Benderson Development - Erie 1 BOCES 361 81 75,500,000 8/27/2025
4 Lactalis American Group* 427 27 62,014,038 7/23/2025
§ Big Heart Pet Brands, Inc. 300 17 52,660,000 4/23/2025
6 BPS Commissary Kitchen 2025 41 8 34,135,084 8/27/2025
7 IMA Life North America Phase I* 150 30 33,681,290 4/23/2025
8 PG Larkinville, LLC 2 2 30,209,411 5/28/2025
9 Rosina Food Products Co. 237 53 30,000,000 3/26/2025
10 WavePoint 3PL 31 31 25,000,000 12/17/2025
11 Eaton Mission Systems 530 77 21,600,000 4/23/2025
12 Pfannenberg, Inc.* 147 23 15,850,000 6/25/2025
13 IMA Life North America Phase I} 40 40 12,500,000 4/23/2025
14 Great Lakes Pressed Steel 17 2 2,555,500 712312025
16 Joint Schools Construction Board (Series 2025A) 0 0 - $ 80,000,000 10/22/2025

Total: 2703 570 $ 727,930,847 $ 80,000,000

*Indicates an amendatory project.

P110



ATTACHMENT 4A

Buffalo & Erie County Regional Development Corporation
Projects Undertaken by the Corporation (Loans)
Year Ended: December 31, 2025

Company Loan Amount Date Closed
1 Highland Farms Industries, LLC S 2,000,000 5/29/2025
2 Premier Aerospace NY, LLC 1,500,000 7/15/2025
3 Five Star Automotive of Buffalo, Inc. 200,000 12/2/2025
4 Nick & Tiff Music 30,000 7/22/2025
5 WNY Lawn Care, inc. 27,000 5/22/2025
Total S 3,757,000

P111



ATTACHMENT 4B

Buffalo & Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation
Projects Undertaken by the Corporation (Loans)
Year Ended: December 31, 2025

Loan Amount Date Closed

Company
1 Wollen Wellness & Chiropractic S 35,000 1/7/2025
2 Aurora Custom Cabinets Showroom & Design Studio, LLC 35,000 10/2/2025
3 Full House Home Improvement Consultants, LLC 20,000 1/16/2025
4 Pro Dock and Door, LLC 15,500  8/8/2025

Total § 105,500

P112



“ajqejieae Ji ‘[estesdde Jo (ajqeoydde 4 ayes uonezienba xe) loj pajsnipe) anjea passasse uo paseg ,
“diysiaumo |ejpyauaq feal, sey YdIQ3 oY) a1aym asoy) a1e pajussasd sauadoid a8yl
“Slyauaq Joyjo Jo Xe) UIelad ASAUCO O J3PIO U B3 [BIIUYIS) SBY YOI Byl ydIum ul sapadod Jo spaspuny ay) sapnjoxe Gunsi) saoqe ay) Jey) s)ou aseald

pied 991d aseyaing 19|19 JO SSAIppY P SWeEN fyadoid jo Auadoug jo uonduasaq (ng Auadold jo uoneso pue ssaippy 1PUMQ

0 3jeq «AWd
pajewysy

‘$20g 6uunp pannboe sem jey) Auadosd |eal jje jo Bupsy e 81 Bumojioj ey ¢ ¢

P113

PaA@aay adld | 9jes Jo areq ._c.mu__o.:_n_ 40 ssaippy g awteN | Auedold Jo Kuadoad so uopduasaq jing Auadoid jo uopjesoq pue ssaippy i 1BUMQ
-AINd
pajewysy

'$202 Buunp jo pasodsip sem jey; Apadoud [eas e Pue (000'5$ 4O S599X3 Ul (,AINH.) SNEA 193w JIB) B YIM) Apadosd leuosiad jo Bunsy e s| Bumolioy sy "z sjqeL

LE€'0ZL'L ¢ Buip|ing *}'s 89E'61/M PUBY JUBDBA JO SRID€ LG gk 812b1 AN "BULEMENDET ‘B¥1duin] BinquieH £0gZ oal
905'£02 SOUIP|ING [BIDJSWILICD /M PUE| O SBIDE 66 LEC 900¥1 AN 'Suea3 ‘peoy Jajus) Suea3 usp3 9zs| oal
000°02 puej JuedeA 0S1¥1 AN 'EpUEMBUO), 'PeOY JaARY GYPE aanl
££0°258°1L Ali1oe) 80130 jooy a1enbs £0g'z} €021 AN ‘oleying ‘331§ 93s8U39) £y) vaio3
000'6L2'L & 9SNOYSIEM |RIDIBWII0YD glevL AN| vaio3a
‘euuemeyoe ‘axduwing BinguwieH ‘AN - 19juan) apes| Aemajeo)
Juadolg Auadoid jo uopduasag jng Auadoid Jo uojjeso pue ssaippy FEITYS)
40 AINS
pajewys3y

‘5202 " L€ Joquisdeq J2 Saele sy pue vaI03 Ui Ag paumo Apedaid jess e jo Bupsy e S| Bumolioy syl | Siqe]

SZ02 ‘L€ Jaquiadea( :papul Jeap
yoday Auadouy
Kouaby Juawdojaraq feuysnpuy fjunon aug

S INIWHOVLLY




S13qWIAW PJROG-UON ,

43 +*SPOOM 2A0Yy
Y3 «40l1Ae) [peydN
143 «B|eYNZS [2eynn
43 #Suaydals uoaen
43 143 +91€1S pireq
LE| 143 pie] uear 1S eysie|
E| «HHWS eaneq
143 143 3 143 43 Z}9043S Yylauua)y
43 Y3 uojueds saydoisuyd
143 3 43 24e2U0}0d JJBN
y3 %B|]3119d 41813d
143 EE| EE| 1u3 YEeMON uerig
y3 E} 43 SlJ|aN uus|9
3 s1aAay Ayrown )
u3 «A3UIW praeq
¥3 193 3 143 ¥3 aLYNQ@IWN epuaig
43 Asupne)o uesns "ig
E| sdynpeq Asuen
43 ed|ny ueug
E| 143 «IN|8u) AoSaig
13 143 XNH-UOSUYOr RJAL
43 «I|EH aulanboer
143 ymeypjog Ao
EE| +INOPUED BI033Y
43 143 «sueaj Aeyoez
k| E| J28ujww3 ydasor
_ k| »AuuoHaq uosi||y
¥3 1¥3 3 an|g yew
| « SouAeg Ty
143 LSauleg sewoy|
143 43 lesuy suuoael "Iq
LE| E| 3 *10qqy asiuaq

HO Hpny
-3}UM Ueo ueoq Adijod Supeuiwon | '@ 3dueuly | uonesuadwo) | 3JUBUIBAOD 3AIINIAX] awepn

JQ71=1 DQy=Y ‘vaid3I =3 :Aa)
(sz/te/TT J05V)
9 AINIWHOVLLY seaniwwo) pJeod DAil/day/vaid3

Pi14



ST/2e/| ‘ulBag uuay X x X X X pJel ueaf 1§ eysie] ‘uoH
x X X X 2190498 YIauud)
SZ/LEMTL (pul W3] uojuBOg JoydolsuyD "uoH
x X x X 21B9UD|0d HIBJy “UOH
x X x X X JeMON uelg ‘UoH
X X X X X SIBN U9 "uoH
“Aoalod uopedionieq (eauoiejuco oepja) x X X x alnQgo epualg
Bujousdajuoacapip s,Aouedy auy
PUE MET 5480110 1gnd 83818
MIOA MBN 8Y3 Jo V-£Q| Uonoeg
03 Juensind 80ua1ajLI03 DIPIA
elA paledionied alnQo|y ‘S
ST/LE/S 1pU3 U] x X [ 2315d17 pieydlY
S¢/LE/TL SpU3 ula) X etiny ueug "uoH
X X X 3 uosuyor etk
52/52/9 ‘uideg wua) X X X Im#u) AioBaid
Sg/eT/L:u1Bag Wi 3 X AMeLpI0o Aoy
X X Jaydenes emoq
X 3 x 188Uz ydasor "uoy
GZ/L/GiPuUg wie] | X Auipewiwl sewoy ]
GZ/5Z/9 ‘uidag wuay X X sapueq uByieuor
S2/0£/9 ‘pu3 wuay x X ajlog youied
SZ/LLITL uideg uua) | anouepSog eoBlg
X X anig e ‘ABH
ST/YT/E suIBeg s | X X X X HBSUY 3ULOABT “1Q
X X X X 1N0qqy asius(
= 39|\ O YAl guNlaaly a 3U1123y O gunas g ay ad
e 0 o da Shy e dy (1T pieag
SZ/TT/L 'uilieg Wisy X x X x X x x PiE] uBSy "I BUSIE] "UOH
X X 3 X X X X X 2)30408 L19uud)
SC/LE/TL :pu3 ULy uojuBaS 18Ydoisuyy "LUoH
x x X X X X 2180U010d ey "UOH
x X X X X X X X X YEeMON uelg "uoH
X X X X X X X X X S9N UU9 “UoH
*Aaned uonedioiuey [ (eouaiajuod oapia) X X (s2ua10ju02 08pJA) X X X X X aINQoOW BpUalg
Sujouassjuoavapia sAouafly ay
PUE M7 5190140 11GNd 31818
MMAAMBN 8y} JO ¥-£0 | UONDag
01 3uensind aoualajuod 08pIA
SZ/LE/S pU L) X X 3 *1f 2usdr] paeyoiy
GZ/LE/TL pUT WD) X X X X ediny ueug ‘uoH
X x X X X X x x Uosuyor BIA]
ST/SE/9 uideg wua) X X X [3 IM8ul AloBain
ST/ET/LuiBag ule} X X X X JIMBUPIOE ALIO)
X x X X X X J8yBeyes anioQg
X x X X X x Jagupww3 ydasor ‘uoq
GT/4/8 pul uay | X Bunawiug sewoy)
ST/GZ/9 :uidag wia) x X sepue( ueLpeuof
SC/0€/9 :pu3l Wia) X 3 X X ajhog #o1ed
ST/L1/T) uiBag wis) X aAouepfog soeID
X X X X ang el “AdsY
GZ/PZ/E UIBag Lua) X 3 X 3 X X X ligsuUy dUUDABT "IQ
GEZOZ/L/TL ‘pug wia] X X x X X N0Gay asiuag
92\ O F 8 9 8 vd vQ
0 aq 0 0 da gny e dy aqua pieog
G3ANALLY =X

L uewyseny

1SITONUIIN Y3GWIW aUvOod SALVITI44Y ANY vaID3 ST0Z

P115



L wewyseny

Q3aN3aLLY =X
1S17 ONILIIW YIGWIW QUVOSL SALVITIH4Y ANV VAIDI 5202

ST/Ee/) Juidag wiag | X X X X X x X plej uear 1S eysie] ‘UoH
ST/LE/CL “PUT Ulle) uojuesg saydolsuyy "uoH
X I3 I3 X X X X Z1B2UCJ0d i8N ‘UOH
SZ/ee/L (uideq uuay x X X X x s1afely Ayiow] "uoH
GZ/LE/S :pu3 Wiaj X X X I3 zysdr pieyoiy
SE/52/9 :uiBag wia) x x X X sUBAJ anbeyz|
X X X X X X X X a)IseD 1sjueg
ST/Li/Z) (uidag ulse) x anouspBog aoeig
SZOZ/L/ZL ‘pu3 wia] X x Roqqy asiuag
TAYANIAN 8unealy oN §se/ze/ol Seiveie Bunaap oN SC/ET/L sunasi oN §¢/82/5 Se/eeiy TALTA Bunaal oN ST/Te/L telunliiinrelupl|
SajoN 28g AN 100 dag Sny ng uny Aep ady 8k qad uer 19gWaid  pigog

P116



L2 Jo | abed

{MET 3duUBUL] @jelg BU} O (6)I-6E L
UOII98 Llim 83UBPIOIJE U] 'PaLiNIT0 SABY SUOHEJOIA BI3UM SSOLEJSUI LI SUOHIUES asodwi 0} pue ‘Juswamnoosd
SAA & Bupinp yaejuod sjqissiuiadwy jo sucnebaye ajebpsaaul pue majnes o) sseo0ud e aaey Auony ayy $80(] ‘6
LI9BIU0D 3[qissiwiadu S} JO 9peLW PIoJal B SBM ‘SS A )] ‘eg
imen
8oueuL] BBl oy Jo (0L )-6E | UoROaS YIm SouepIcaoe U) ‘polad Buipodal ay) Bulinp Jusweainaoid si souanpuy
OoN 0} pajdwape 1o juawaindoid e Buunp 19ejU00 elqissiuiadu pey Jopuaa e jey} suiwud)ep Auoyiny sy pig ‘Q
.10V DUIAqQoT Juswsinooid a1, "MeT 8oUBUlY Be}S 61 JO (e)(z)l-6¢1 uonoag yim souepioooe
SBA | urjuswaindoid ayvads e uo joejUos pazuoyne auy) se anlos o) suossed Jo uosiad e ajeubisap Auouiny ay) pig ‘L
£SI0BU0D JuaLweinooid Joj suoneayoads 1o ‘sjuswinoop piq 'siesodoid
SBA 40 uojeyatjos sy u suopigiyoud pue saroljod Juswainaoud sy Jo Alewwns e sjesodiooul Aluoyiny ay) seoqg ‘9
SOA éuswasibe uoisnjjoa-uou e ubis o} sieppiq sAdadsold alinbai Ajuoyiny ay) sso ‘G
oN ¢S9seyaInd ssaujsnq Jo/pue |aAel] o) seakojdwe o) spiea ypaso ubisse Alpoyiny ay; seoq 'y
ON £SaulPpING Juswainacid sy o) suopdaoxs 1oy mojie Ajuoyiny auy} 530(Q ‘€
SOA ipreog ay) Aq pasoidde pue ‘papesu ) papuswe ‘Allenuue pameinas sauljepinb Jusiwainoosd ay; a1y 'z
mm_u__on.EEo&oo.m:.Eonm\Eoos:w_u_um.BBE\”mnzc SOA 4seuljepinb Juswsinooid eaey Aluoyiny ey) seoq ‘L
({e)qeayddy 31) 7un asuodsay uonsanyd
TUSHEIIIOT JUSWISINaoIg

V/N : 81eq pauiued
Qa3 LLINENSNN snjelg
9z0z/eL/L0 :9jeq uny

§Z0zZ/1€/2) Buipuz Jeay feosiy

AouaBy juswdolaaaq [ewysnpu) Hunos 8l Joj Yoday Juawainsoig

e N N NI NN

P117



L2 Jo Z ebed

Junowly ay} ueyy

uopduasag $507 S| anjeA 19xIel

“seljddns a0 yuawdinbs j ‘seAup peH Juswesnsosd seq eyy Aym uejdxy
JeeA [easid

Sejels payun Aquno) 10°€82'9$ o4 papuadx3 junowy
uotbayjaouinog junowy

¥ snid SN[eA Jo)E Jled

2186 8po) |eysod ajeq pu3

Ym s||s 2jeQ piemy

3Llv3as A 48pIQ 8SBYIING/JUBWBINI0IY JOBIJUOD UON $58001d plemy
Zaur ssaIppy sa||ddng/sanipowiwio) juauIainaold 3o adA

¥815€0 X0d Od Laul ssaippy seoinag |enden uozewy QweN Jopuap 4

junowy ay) uey;

‘aouBUBlUIRW B)ISGOM [Bieuab ‘ubisepsal uopduasag $597 ) anjep jayepy

o)sqam 'sajepdn uoyesijdde aayuesul xe} ‘sejepdn Aeains juawiojdws JUBWAIND0I Jied ay) Aym urejdx3
JeaA [easiy

S91e}S pajun Ayunogp 05°095'L£$ o4 pepuadx3 junowy

uoibayjesuirolg 05'095'1€$ junowry

¥ shid SnjeA jodiey Jeq

0Sivl apoJ [eysod ajeq pugy

AN ajers oLozc/Le/ie ojeq piemy

VYANYMVYNOL Ao pig aaadwog - penuod Auouyiny $5330.1d pJemy

zeur] ssaippy

Hoddng Jo Juawdojoasq/Buliinsuoy - ABojouyoa |

JUBLWBIND0IY JO adAY

8AIIQ UBpUBYS 8/9

feun sseippy

Wwoa'H8d 09¢

aweN Jopusp L

P118

V/N : 8jeq payiuad
a3L1IWENSNN snjejs
920Z/EL/L0 ajeq uny

§20Z/1/Z) Buipu Jea) [easiy

Aouaby juswdojeraq Jersnpuj Aunog eug 103 uoday JUSWIAINIDI

e st SN TIET P S TS TR RS I & (AT W TN e pae ey n-l..lm.wnrl\-h ../-.uah .n. \@




LT jo ¢ sbeyd

Junowry 8y} uey;

sdiysiosuods juara uondussaq $837 s] anjep 19Je
pue uopedijqnd ssauisng Apjaam jeoo) ut sublediues Bu; IuaApe pajyable] juswiainaold Jeq ayy Aym ujejdxy
1ea A [essid

sajelg papun Aunog 00°0£2'£2% 404 papuadx3 junowry
uojBayasuirolg junowy

¥ shid anjeA JoxJeR Jied

€02l 3po) |eysod ajeq puz

AN ejelg ajeq pJemy

Ov44na V1) 18pI0 3SBYIINHAUBWDINTOI 1OBIUOD UCN £508901d piemy

Zau|1 ssaippy 19410 udWdINJ0Id Jo adAY

1984S Ule| SOt Loul ssalppy }sdl4 ssauisng ojeyng aWEN Jopuap R/

Junowy ay) uey}

uonduaseq $507 S| anjeA 1eNJel

Busieape eipsw [eloos pue oipei [eaoj pejebie | juswiainsold Jred ayy Aym ujejdxg
Jee) [edsid

s8lelS payun Anunog 00°8€6'v2$ 404 papuadx3 junowy

uojSay eouinoig unowy

¥ snid anjeA e Jeq

(a4 43 apoY |eisod ajeqg pu3g

AN ajelg ajeq piemy

Ovd4ng A 18pIQ 3SEYINGAUSWAINI0I JOBIUOD) UON $$3201d piemy

00Z 2ung Zoul ssalppy S89IAJBS [BUOISSBJOId JOUID) JusBIND0Id Jo adA L

Aemyied aje10diod pog

LUl ssaippy

-ouj ‘suonesadp Aoepny SWIEN JOpUap 4

VIN
Q3LLINGNSNN
920e/EL/LO

: 81eq payen
snjelg
:ajeq uny

Sz0z/1e/Z) :Buipuz sea ) |eas|y

Koueby Juawdojsaaq [euisnpu| Aunos sug Joj Hoday juawainsoid

MELLLS LA A

A N R el = B n e L L L T L TP |

=124 Wl Farmsy

P119



LZ Jo ¢ abed

Junowny ay} uey)

uopdusseg $5987 Sl anjeA JeyIep

suopessiBal jusne ‘sweiboid jJuswdojerap sskojdwe ‘sdiysiosuods uang juawainsolg died sy Aym uejdxg
Jeo, Jeas|d

S8le)g pajun Aiunog 00°9bY'vLS do4 papuadx3 junowy

uojfay/saulnoiy junowy

¥ snid anjeA jeJely Jied

£0zZrl 2po eysod ajeq pug

AN ajers sjeq piemy

Ovd44ng A1D J9PJO BSEYDING/UBWIAINGO0IH JOBNUOY) UON $5890.d piemy

Zaul] ssalppy BYI0 JUBWBIND0IY Jo adAL

1eang Auad 62

L8uf] ssaippy

diysisupe eiebely ojeyng

aweN Jopusp 9

Junowy ay) ueyy

uondusseq $$97 S| enjeA jexien

senp diyssequiew pue diysiosuods fenuuy juswainsold die4 ay} Aym ujejdxg
Jea) feasig

S8)RIS palun Anunoyn 00°000'6$ Jo4 papuadx3 unowy
uojBayy/asulnoid junowy

¥ snid anjeA jojie Jiey

[§%4 4" apoY jejsod ajeq pug

AN e aje( piemy

Ovd4ng Ao JBpIQ 3SEYDING/AUSWAIND0I JOBAUCT) UON $S920.d piemy

Zou| ssaippy 1BYI0 UBWBIND0. Jo odA}

ANUSAY PUBYHON £89 LUy ssaippy aduel|fy Buunoenuey elebey oeyng awiep Jopuap K

V/N : ajed peyien
'snjelg
:ajeq uny

A3 L1INENSNN

9202/EL/10

SZ0Z/LE/T) Bujpuz Jea (eosiy

Aouaby juawdojaasq jeuisnpuj Aunoy aug 404 Loday uBWaIN00I4

LOESE LI en | DYLE P e g .1.,......:,....-..-: .....q@

=104 Wl

P120



LZ 1o g abed

unowy ayj uey;
uonduasag $$97 SI anjeA e

AjenIul aoe|d 10} aoey S,0feyng Jof poddng juawainsold Aled ay) Aym urejdxy
Jea ) Jedasty

sejelg pajun Ajunogy 00°000°00L$ 104 papuadx3 junowy

uojBayjesujaoid junotwy

¥ snid anjep joxJe Jiey

€02yl 3poY |eysod ajeq pu3z

AN 2)eys ajeq piemy

O1vd4dng Ao 13pIO 9SBYIINGAUILLIBINIO0L JORNUOY) UON §50901d plemy

0¥ 8NN Zoulq ssaippy BYI0 uswainsoid jo adAy

19048 Auad 66

Laur ssaippy

uogelodio)) Juawdojaaaq uequn ojeygng

alwe| Jopuap ‘g

wnowy ay) ueyy

uoydusseq $507 S| 8njeA jeyiep

sBuissoto peoljel snoliea je sjuaweAoidwi [endes juswidIND0Id ae4 oy Aym ujepdxg
lee ) jeasi4

S8jels pejun Aunog 2.296'89¢$ 404 pspuadx3 junowy
uoiBbayy/eaulroly junowry

¥ snid an|eA jaxe J1ed

L50%) apoy |e3sod eq pu3g

AN sjeig 3jeq piemy

N3Q3a [ TE) 18PIQ 9SBYDINGfJUBLLBINIOI JOBAUOD UON $S320.1d piemy

Zoul ssauppy saljddng/saiipowwo) juswdinoold jo adA}

199415 Jodeq po9s L3U] SS2IPPY peoljiey waynog oeyng aweN JOPUIA ‘L

V/N : 8jeq payed

Q3L 1INGNSNN smejig
920¢/el/Lo

8jeQ uny

§Z0z/1€/2) Buipu] res ) |eds|y

A3uaby Juawdojaas( [euisnpul Aunog aug oy Hoday juawainoold

I A

=12 VYl

SRR T NN W TR o W T e i e e T T T e T &

P121



1Z jo 9 abed

“Hed junolwuy ayj ueyy

92JWLIOY SOUBSSIEUIY e PIEA 0D SU) UO UOIONASUCD] puk pIeA uondussag $597 S1 anjeA oIl
JAM Jswioj ayj uo jied jo Jo [eAoLURL 1o} $80IMBS Bupsaulbus pue ubisag JusWaINs0Ig aed ayj Aym ujejdxsy
Jea) [essiy

S9jels panun Aiunogy 05'€02°Z128 Jo4 papuadx3 yunowy

uotbayesuirolg 00'66¥'8258 junowry

¥ shid an|eA jauew Jieq

€0CyL 3poJ eysed ajeq pul

AN aels €202/52/01 8jeQ plemy

Ov44ng Ao pig aanadwo) - joenuon) Aluoyiny $$090.d piemy

ZauyT ssaippy saainles Bunnsuon JudWBIND0Ad Jo adK)L

F 001 @yng 19848 W3 |yl jaul ssaippy sivaulbug g0 QUIBN JOpUBA ‘0L
junowy ay) ueys;

HEd S2ISUILIOY SOUBSSIEURY JB SUOISUSIX BUl| Jojem pue Jomas uopduasag §507 S| onjeA JoNie|
Aieyues ollqnd o seopuas ubisep pue lejoueuy ‘lejuswuuotiaue ‘Bujuuely uawaINd0Ig Jied ayy Aym ujejdx3
JEBA [B3S1]

SelElS pajun Anuno) £7°685'85$ Jo4 papusdx3 junowy

uolBay/esuiroig 08'205's7.$ unowy

¥ snid anjeA ey Jieg

£0chL 8poD |ejsod ajeq pug

AN Nels 1202/8/¢ ajeq plemy

ovd44ng A pig sannadwo - yorauo) Auoyiny $S300.d pJemy

zoul ssalppy

$90In9g Bunnsuon

JudWRINI0Id Jo adh)

001 8UNS 1934s Wig LyL

laun] ssalppy

siaouibul §po

e Jopuap ‘6

VIN : 91eQ paupad
G3LLINGNSNN 'sniejs
920e/eL/ L0 ajeq uny

SZ0Z/LE/C) Buipug Jes A (eosiy

Aouaby Juswdojaasq Jewsnpul Aunod aug so) wodey juswiainsold

-t A LML LR LR L ] e e

P122



¥4

Jo 2 abed

Junowy ay) ueyy

uopyduosaq $597 S| INJeA 1NIe

sisAjeue Joxlew pue maiasl Aiejes o) paje|as sasialas Buginsuon) Juswiainsold a1e4 ay} Aym ujeidxgy
JEBA [B3S|4

S8le)g pajun Anunogp 00°000'9$ lo4 papuadx3 junowy

uolBay/asuiroig 00°000'9% junowy

¥ snid 00°000'9% anjeA jexie| sed

L0Zv1 3poY eysod ajeq pug

AN o S202/8/6 8jeq piemy

ovddng Ao PIg aanledwod-UoN - equod Auoyiny $5830.d piemy

Zou| ssaippy $8aIMBG Bupnsuon jJuawaINs0ig Jo adA}

1924g Jaddn) "M 6LL

Lsur ssaippy

Supinsuo) aanoax3g jndejen

BWBN JOpUBA "z

Junowy ay) uey

"aloid yuaweacidw] (HOSE) peoljey uieyinog ojeyng o} uopdusseqg $S67 S| onjeA JoNie

pejejas suondadsul pue ‘uojeljstulwpe uoponSUCO ‘ubisep ‘Bujuueld ejig uawaInsoig aed ayy Aym ujedxg
16 A [B3SIJ

SSIEIS PaIUN Aunoy §5'008'L5$ Jo4 papuadxz Junoury

uo|Bay/asuirolg 00°0t.'181% junowy

¥ snid anjeA joep Jieq

£0erL 3poY |eysod ajeqg pu3

AN ey £202/62/11 ajeq piemy

01vddng A Pig sAanadwog - joeuo) Auoyiny $5320.d plemy

zaur ssaippy

sanialeg Bupinsuon

JUBLWBIND0I Jo adA)

001 8ung 19848 WIJ LpL

Louf] ssalppy

sissuibug g0

aweN Jopuap L

V/N : 8jeQ psuyips)
a3LLNGNSNN 'shjeig
ajleq uny

9202/EL/10

N A L

SZOZ/Le/Z) SBulpuz Jeay [edsiy

Aouaby yuswdojaasq |euisnpu| Aune) aug oy Hoday juswainoosid

WRAR LB LS B R VLI A M el g Sl SSe g1 Hag AT e

=
—_—

o

I 2 Wl ¥

P123



Lz jo g affiey

Junowy sy} uey

(8£°289'6%) ebesn/sa)ddns uopduoseq $537 51 anjeA 19JeN

Jeidoo pue (00°055*2$) sableyd soueusjuiew [enuue alepnoog JUIWAIND0LG dled ayy Aym urejdxy
1.3, [ess|d

SIS pajun Anunoy 8€'2ET L1 o4 papuadx3 junowy

uojBay/eauiroid 8EZET LIS junowy

¥ shid anjeA Jajep Jied

0SLyL apoQ [ejsod TV AR AA ajeq pu3

AN ajers £208/L2IT 8jeq plemy

YANVMVYNOL A pig aAnnadwiod - joenuog Auoyiny $5820Jd pPiemy

Zaur ssaippy

selddngy/sanipowwon

JUBLIBIND0I Jo adAL

Aeavjied yenbnad ¢

Jaur ssaippy

*ouj ‘sajfojouyoa] sssuisng xe4 Jajdog JWeN JOpUap k43

unowy ayj ueyy

uondusseq §507 S| anjeA 19Jel

SMBN ojeyng ul seoyjou Bupesy afjand JUIWAINIO0IY Jiedq ayy Aym ujejdxg
Jeo ) |e3sid

Sele)S pepun Anunoy 19°LSZ'8LS 404 papusdx3 junowy
uojBay/asujroid unowy

¥ snid an[eA jaxJep Jred

02ess 3poY [ersod ?jeq puz

X1 agelg ajeq piemy

SY1ivd [ TE) 13pI0) 98BYOINJAUBLIBINI0I JORIUOD) LON $S320.id piemy

Zaul ssaippy

1840

JUBWAIND0IY Jo adAL

860802 Xcg Od

Lau[q ssalppy

Ofld 91eMYOS LUWNJOD

3WeN Jopusp ‘el

V/N : 8jeq payiuen
a3aLLnansNn smejs
920Z/EL/L0 :ajeq uny

Ladet e S

(ST TS VTR AT o TNTTY

§20z/1e/2) :Buipu3 Jea ) [eosty

Kousby yuswdojeraq jerysnpu] Aunos sp3 Jop Hoday JuswaIndoig

R el L 1

L e T S T A |

124 Vvl

P124



12 jo g abed

junowly ayy uey)

uohduasaq $$97 S1 anjeA JNIel

alemyos Buiodal |edueul ‘sasuady SNOURA B JaAag JudWaINs01d Jeg ayj Aym ujedxg
Jea) [edsi4

S8els pajun Aunoy ov'28'ccs o4 papuadx3 junowy
uojbayasuinoid junowy

¥ shid anjeA 1odJey Jiey

¥92s| apo [ejsod Qleq pug

vd ejels 9jeq piemy
HOHNgSLlld k) 10BAUOD 3)€)S Japun paseyaind §58904d piemy
Zau) ssalppy aJempieH - ABojouyoa | WMo Jo adA)

LGSEY9 X089 Od Laur] ssalppy d1 ‘Buaeen jeg Jwen Jopuap 91

junowry ey ueyy

uonduoaseq 8587 S| OnjeA JoNie

18 Alied 66 - @a1/ues Jaui)u) pUENTEYEL YN Jied ay) Aym ugerdxy
Jes) [eastd

SOJelS panun Ajunon 00°009'9% 104 popuadxg junowy
uoibayjasujaclg junowy

¥ snid anjeA 19NJep Jied

28001 3po jeisod ajeq pu3y

AN aqeyg ajeq piemy

AHOA M3IN Ao JOEHUOY BJE)S JOpU) paseyoing $S320.d plemy

Zaul ssaippy

$801A198 Jo Juswdinbg uohesunwiwoes|a |

judwaInooid jo adAy

0€.8¢ 09 Od

Laur ssaippy

2711 1891 ajsed umoiy

awep Jopuap 5L

V/N . 81eq pauhiad

P125

G20Z/1€/21 :Buppuz Jeap [BoS|
Q2L1INGNSNN ‘snejs

9z0z/eL/L0 Bjeq uny Aouaby yuswdojers( [esnpul Aunos aus 1oy Hoday JusWaNd0I]

st Ats LELINLMILLESLIERE] XLt Pt o S as g 20 Se )4 W hame )8 0 f .Iﬁ
=1 Wl Fass




LZ jo pL 2bed

Junowy ayy ueyy

uenduaseg $s87 S] anjeA 19viel

1o8foud peodjie. Joj sadjuas Bunseuibug Juawaindoidd Hed ayy Aym ujejdxy
aea) feoas|q

S8je)s payun Anunogp 08'89L'G1$ 404 papuadx3 junowy
:O_mwm\ﬂocgo._& Oo.m—m..VNNw junowry

¥ snid anjeA jJ9)Jel ned

029r4 3po) [eysod 3jeqg pug

AN Q125 ¥20Z/92/9 9jeq piemy
HILSIHOON 15 pig aAnnadwo) - equon Auoyiny $50204d plemy
Q0Z aung Zaul ssalppy seoineg Buynsuon Juswaingsosd jo adA)

peoy I19AIND Sl Laur] ssaippy Auoyjuy uewpi aweN Jopuap 8L
Junouwly sy} uey)

uopduaseq $507 81 enjeA j19vJen

‘Jealg Ausd g6 e se1jjo 10} SN juswIINd0Id a4 sy Aym ugejdxy
ieo, [easiy

SelelS payun Anunop ¥9°€66'7L$ o4 papuadx3 junouwry
uo|Bay/eouirold #9°€66'F1$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA e Jed

21001 9p0Y [Bysod L202/1L€/L aleqg puz

AN elg 800¢/4/¢ ajeq piemy

AHOA MIN A1 Pig aaniadwog-uoN - Jenuog Auoyny $$330.d piemy
Zou| ssalppy BYo JUBLWAIND0IY jo adAy

SNUBAY PAIY| ££9 Laujq ssalppy uoneiodio Juswdojeaaq aelg aadws awep Jopusp ‘Ll

VIN - 8jeq payed
snjeig
:ajeq uny

Q3aLLINgGNSNN
920C/eL/L0

S20Z/LE/T) [Bupul sesp jedsiy

Aouaby yuswdoeraq Jeuysnpu) Aunog sug oy yoday Juswainsold

=11 VW<

EOLARLS L LR RA ) EV LD Do oo S el 50 g} W ......_..,.-%

P126



1T 0 L abed

junowy sy ueyy

uopdussaqg $597 S| anjeA 19)Ie

LE/LIV=92/1/L PUB 9¢/1/1-GZ/1/| 10} S3uBINSU| SIB0L0 % SI0}0aN(] juawaindolid dred ayy Aym ujejdxg
183 [e3si4

sejels pauun Anunop 00'598"'1t$ o4 papuadxg junowy

uolBay/asuiaolg 00'598" 1% junowsy

¥ shid anfeA jaxJey Jieg

0£890 apo) [eysod SZ0cC/LElC) ajeq puzg

12 es SZ0e/ ) oleq piemy

Io_>>.Zm_mm_@ Ao pIg 8AlNadwo) - yoeuo) ALoyiny $5020.d plemy

Zaul ssaippy BUYIO Juswiainsoud jo adA )

BNUIAY LOMUBBIS) /g

Laury ssaippy

"0 SOUBINSUJ YDIMUSIS)

awep Jopuap 0z

junowy ay) uey;

uonduaseq $S81 8| anjeA JoueN

4ejs Joj sdoyde Juawamaolyd Jjed ayy Aym urepdxg
JeoA [eas|y

Selels pelun Ajunog GE'925'08% 104 papusdx3 yunowy
uoifiayjeoujroid junowy

¥ shid anjeA jeNJey Jied

¥S0€0 3po) |eysod 3jeqQ puz

HN e a)eQ piemy
ADVINIEE3IN A1 48pUQ 3SBYIING/JUBISINI0IH JOBIJUOL) UON $5920.d piemy
Zaur ssaippy alempieH - ABojouyos | JUBWIBIND0I JO adA)

PEOY PIOYIN 2€2

Laup] ssaippy

*OU ‘UOIYBUUOACS)

SWeN Jopuap 61

V/N : 8jeq paytad
snjelg
:a)eq uny

A3 LLINGNSNN
9Z0Z/EL/LO

ST0Z/LE/C) (Bulpu3 1ed, [eDS|4

Aousby juawdojarag feuisnpu) Auno) au3 Joj poday Juswainooly

LAdes g AAn

e L A R I s N RS e o LT IL

C3 o N ] P

P127



LZ jo Z1 sbeyd

junowy ay) uey

uonduosaq $$317 SI anjeA e

'S80IAIeS |efa] JUBWAIN20IY J1e4 ayy Aym ujejdxgy

1ea) Jeas|y

Sajelg pajun Aigunog 2L'92Z'9eS 404 papuadx3 junowy

uo|Bayyasuirolg CL'92Z'9E$ junoury

¥ snid anjeA jeqe sej

[1]%44" apo) [eysod 220Z/0E/LL ajeqg pug

AN oje)s ¥20Z/EC/0L 8jeq piemy

Ovddng A1D pig sannedwog - esuod Awony SS830.d piemy

0001 ®ung Jeans afiueyoxy g9z, Zaul ssaippy seolag |ebe JUBWAINJ0I JO adAL

abueyoxg je upe

Jaur ssasppy

OT1d BUIIND BYuNpy yoesg Suiel

auiep JOpUsp Y4

Junotuy ay) ueyy

uopduaseq $597 S1 SNJEA JoNJelW

‘sevhojdwse yQ|93 J0j souelnsul [ejueq juswainsolg Jied ayy Aym ujejdxg
1e8) [B9SI14

salels pejiun Aiunod 00'9.Z'6L% Jod papuadx3 junowy
uojBoy/asumold 00°9.2'61$ junowy

¥ snid 00'9.2'6L$ anjeA ey Jied

L0001 9poY [ejsod 9207/1e/L ajeqg pu3z

AN aes §202/Lie 3jeq piemy

MHOA MIN Ao pig anpedwog-uop - joeUoY Apsoyiny $532014 piemy
Zauf ssasppy FETTS) JuBWaINS0Id Jo adA]L

SpIeA UOSpNH ot Lau] SSAIPPY ueipIens JEN JOPUSA Y4

a3LLNENSNN

W/N : 8leQ payiuan
snjeyg
:ajeq uny

SZ0zT/LE/CL Bulpuz tea, (eosiy

Aouaby yuswdojare( |ewysnpu) Aunon Qi3 Joj Joday Juswainsold

LR L s N RN N o N N T e P e T

12 e ] P

P128



1Z Jo g1 abey

junowyy ey ueyy

uopdudseg $§97 S| anjep JoNIeN

saahojdwa Joj oueInsul YyesH JUBWANO0IY Jjed ayy Aym ugejdxgy
Jea, [essig

sajRIg pajun Aunog Srviv'PaLS lo4 papuadxg junowy
uojBayjesujrold SV PV v8LS unowy

¥ shid 8 PLv'vgLS SN[EA IRl Jje]

[ 34441 8poY |eysod 9¢0z/1e/L a3jeq pug

AN o)es S20z/he ajeq piemy

FTUASAVITIM Ao Pig anedwog-uoN - yoenuod Auoyiny SSesold piemy

Zouy Ssappy Y0 JUBWIAINI0I JO adA)

8AUQ SajeT Jaqued LG

LaurT SSaIppY

YjeaH juspuadapu]

aweN JOpusp k74

junowy ay; uey)

uonduoseq $S07 s1 enjeA 19)Je

seehojdwe Jo} eaueinsul yyeeH JuaWaINv0.g arey ay3 Aym ujejdxy
JeeA feasid

seje)s pajun Alunoy 8L'6LE'LLS 404 pepuadxg junoury
:o_mewo=_>°._m 816181 _.m junowy

¥ snid 8L6LE'L1LS an[eA j9NJel Jley

z0zylL 2poY [eysod $20Z/LE/EL sjeq pu3

AN sjelg SZ0Z/L11 9jeq piemy

O1vddng Ao Pig sapadwon-uoN - penuog Auoyiny $598204d piemy

00l N Zou|T ssalppy BYIo JUBLIBINIOL JO adA]

199418 9953U9H M /G2 Lauy ssalppy ANM 40 PISIYS onjg 5013 an|g Yewybiy 3wep JOPUsA €T

P129

V/N . @1eqQ paypian
sneg
:8leq uny

520Z/1€/¢) :Buipuz see ) edsiy
QaLLINGNSNN

920e/Ee /L0 Aousby uawdojaraq Jewisnpul Aiunosy 8u3 1o} Joday jusLueinoosd

LA A0 Ol AP LD EN L) i F e o S sy g b gy Wi

1Y e ] P



LZ jo ¥ obey

junowy ayj uey)

uopdusseq §§97 §1 anjeA Jaxiew

100} UojedjuUBYINE J0JOR)=HINW PUE SADIAISS || jJusWaINd0Id 11ed ay3 Aym usejdxg
1e3 A [e3s)4

S3I.)S pajiun Anunog 00'+9¢'L$ o4 papuadx3 junowy

uojbayyasuirosyg junowy

¥ shid anjeA jayiep Jied

909¥4 3po) jejsod jeq pu3z

AN ae)g ajeq piemy

H31SIHOONH A0 1oBJU0D J)e)S Japuf paseyding S$5090.id piemy

00z euns Zoul ssalppy aJemyog - ABojouyoa ] juswiainooid jo adAj

8NUBAY |14 GH9L

Lsufq ssaippy

*ou| ‘saibojoLiyos] ¢ Jake JweN JOpusp "9z

junowy ay) uey

uonduoseg $507 S{ anfeA el

Jusw)seAul diysisquispy juswainsoud died ayy Aym ujejdxg
1eeA [easiq

S9je)g pelun Aigunoy 00°000'S.$ o4 papuadxy junowy
uojbayjeoujrcad unowy

¥ snid anjeA JoNJem Jey

£0ChL apay |eysod ajeq pu3g

AN ajels ajeq piemy

O1vd4ng 1o 19pIQ 8SEYUNG/fJUSLLIBIND0IY JOBAUOD) UON $5990.d piemy

29 8lng Zauy ssalppy Bsyo jJuawainsold Jo adA |

1e9ng Ulei g0

Lauyq ssaippy

esebe|N ojeyng 1seAul BWEN JO0pUap K74

/N : 81eQ patiuad
J3LUNBNSNN 'shiels
920Z/€1/ 10 9jeq uny

SZ0Z/1€/Z) Buipul Jeap feosiy

Aouaby yuswdojeasq |elisnpu| Aunog aug Joy oday Jusweainsoig

LAPSt R AES Lo p i imeL i LOLALAN) EALL I as ] St A LE LT W —IRpe T st
S e ] P

P130



12 Jo g1 abey

junowy ayj uey)

uondusseq $597 §| anfeA el

syuswade|das qo) Jeans Auad GG 18 Saol0 10} Juay jJuawaInooigd Aie4 ayy Aym ujejdxg
Jea) [edsid

S8jeIS pajun Aiunoy S0°L6'E8LS 404 papuadxg junowy

uo|Bay/edujrold ¥9'5ZL'¥ess unowy

¥ shid ¥9°5Z1'v8s$ BNjeA JxIel ey

oLerL 8po [ejsod 2202/1€1L ajeq pu3y

AN 2)ers £20e/LIZL 8)eQ piemy

Olvd4ng Ao pig aAnadwon-uop - Jaenuos) Ajuoyiny §5890.d Plemy

002 2Ung 29Ul ssalppy PL=10)Te} JUAWBINI0IAG jo ddAY

19948 BJBUBS L0/

Leury ssaippy

071 Juswidojaaaq J9ens uebiyoiy

BwieN JOPUsp Er4

junowy sy) uey;

uonduaseq §507 S| enfen el

S8djAI8S Jipne Juapusdepu| JuswidInsoId e ayy Aym uedxy
Jee) [easid

S9lE)S PeliuN Anunoy 00'008'LE$ o4 papuadx3 junowy
uoibay/asuiroid 00°008'LES junowy

¥ shid onfeA Joe Jeg

20ZrL 3poY jeisod 9202/0e/9 8jeq pug

AN els 220z/8¢/6 3jeq piemy

Olvd44ng A0 pig saedwog - joequa) Aluoyiny $8320.d plemy

Zouj ssalppy SS2INIBG [BUOISSRJOIH JBUID JUBWBIND0I 30 edA]

1°9Ag ulpjuesd 69¢

L3u ssalppvy

dT7 HOIIDdN uapswn

awiepN Jopusp Iz

P131

V/N © 9leq psuiad
Q3LLINENSNN snyelg
920¢c/€1/10 ‘ajeq uny

SZoe/Le/T ) Bulpul Jea, [eosiy

Aouaby yuswdojars( lewisnpu] Aunoo aug Joj poday JUswauniolg

LAttt AT LRI ALIFUASAR] ER LIRS ol ] Sront | AL Sy I8 b

e e = |




1T Jo 9} abeyg

Junowry ayj ueyy

(Sot'v$) suonessibes uonyduaseq $537 S1 anjeA J9)Iel

1U9A9 *(00g'2$) senp diysiaquiaw ‘(000'C$) Sluaas 10} sdiysiosuodg WBWAUIND0AY lieq ayy Aym ujejdxy
Jed A |eas| 4

seje)S pajun Ajunog 00°0.°L1$ Jo4 papuadx3 junowy

uolbay/eouinoiy junowy

¥ shid anjeA jaxlep Jieg

V744" apoy |ersod ajeq pug

AN 9je)s 9jeQq piemy

ANVETY Ao 13pJ0 ASBYUNGAUILIBINDO0IH JORJUOD UON $$920.id pJemy

Joold iy Zau| ssaippy 18Ul Jus3WBIND0Id Jo adA)

aNnuaAy uojbulysepq L1

Jaur] ssaippy

(DQISAN) lounog juswdojeasq oiuouosg 918)S H40A MON

awieN JOPUSA "0¢

unowy ayj uey)

uonduaseq $867 S| onjeA j1eie

sijeyo soio JuswaIndold ned ayy Aym urejdxsy
JeeA [eas|q

$9)B)1S pelun Anunon 00°88¢'6$ 104 papuedx3 junowy
uojBay/eouinoiy unowy

¥ snid anjep joxJep Jied

14443 3poY [eysod ajeq pu3z

AN aqe)s ajeq plemy
Ovddng A1) JOBJUOY BlB)S Japuf) PasEydIng $5220.d pJemy
008 a3ung zZau| ssaippy saljddng/sanipowwion juawainooud jo adA

198115 9389UdL) LO6E

Laupq ssaippy

poomyo0T uoBuln

QUIBY JOPUIA 62

V/N : 8leq payiad
Q3LLINGNSNN snjelg-
920¢/EL/L0 -9jeq uny

S20Z/1€/2) Buipuz Jeap [eosiy

Aouaby yuswdojenaq |euisnpul Ajunoy a3 Joy yoday JusawWaINDoId

LD i

LT R NN TR T I e T I e P T TR

P B B = |

P132



LZ Jo 1) abed

junowy ey) ueyy

(0£2'9%) uopduosag $$37 §i INjeA 1osew

slepusied 9z0z ‘(0¢t'94) Bunuud pue ubisap ojydess ypoday |enuuy £z0z Juswiainosolg Jred ayy Aym ujerdxy
Jedp |eas|4

s8jelg pajun Anunog 00'002°2L$ 404 papuadxz junowy
uojbayyasuinoig junowy

¥ snid anjeA joe Jieq

8ecyl 3poj jeysod ajeg pug

AN aels ejeq piemy

1SHIHNY 1D 49PJQ 9SELIINGAUIWRINI0I JOBIUOT LON $58%0.1d piemy

Zdu|T ssalppy $O0IAI8S [BUOISSBJOIY JOLO) juswiainsold jo adK )

€01 3Yng ‘sAuQ uus|s uyor gz Laul] ssaippy 071 ‘gameiuud awepN Jopusp ‘ze
junowy sy} ueyy

uopduaseg S587 S| enjeA Jaie

sBujesw 10} sebelanag juawaInsolg aje4 ayy Aym ugejdxgy
Jee A [essiq

Sele)s pelun Aiunoy 62°661'SS Jo4 papuadx3 Junowy
uolBayjasuinorg junowy

¥ snid SN[eA 1R Jiey

gzerlL apo) [e)sod ajeq pug

AN ajels 2je(q piemy

Ovd4ng A J9pJQ 9seyUNdAUSLIAINDAI JORIUOD UCN S$390.4d piemy

ZaulT ssauppy saljddng/sanipowwon JusIRIND0. Jo adA)

BNUaAY Usplep 0412 Laup] ssaippy 071 sojeg abelenag ejon-1sdad SWeN JOpUsp L

VN : ®jeq peyed
Q3LLINGNSNN sneig
9coz/eL/io ‘ejeQg uny

§202/1.£/2) Buipuz Jes, eosiy

Aouaby yuswdojaas( |ewisnpu Aunog au3 4o} Hoday jusiuainooly

L LS SN TR TR I & [T RS N Sou s

31 24 o) P

P133



LZ J0 8| sbey

junowy ayy uewyy

uopduasaq $984 S| aNJeA 19NIe

99} Juswadeld sy 1oa1qg jJuawaInsoid Jed ay; Aym ujeydxg
leaj [essiq

S3)B)S pajiun Ayunop 0092ZL'91L$ 104 papuadxy junowy
uojbayyeouiacig 00°92L9L$ junoly

¥ snid 00'921°9L$ anjeA jeyiey Jied

¥4474} 3poY [eysod S20z/L/LL eqg pu3z

AN ajels SZ02/vi6 ajeq piemy

FTHASAVITIM A PIg 2Aldwon-LON - }0R[UOD Auoyiny $s890.d piemy

091 eung Zaul ssalppy seolaleg buyers JuawaIndold Jo adA L

199ng Ule 0619

Jsurq ssauppy

*ou] ‘dnoig) ssnesjg

aweN Jopuap e

junowy ay) ueyy

ssaiojduwa Joj soueInsy Ljeop uondusseq $587 S| anjeA 193Ie

[B)apiage pue ‘aoueinsul Aljigesip wisi-Buo] ‘eoue.nsu; o) Wisy dnois JuawWaINS0Ig A1e4 auy Aym upejdxg
Jee, [easid

SOIBIS pajun Anunogy $£°980'9% Jog4 papuadxg junowy

uojfayjaouaold §£°930'93 unowy

¥ shid GE£'980°0% anjep xie ied

<00l 3poY |eysod 9202/0¢/v 3jeq pu3

AN ajels GZ0Z/L/S eq piemy

MHOA MIN Ao PIg 2Anadwod-Uoy - JoE4UOD Auoyny $S920.d pIemy

£08 aung Zau| ssaippy B0 juswainaoid jo adAj

ANUBAY UOSIPE| 881

Lauj] ssalppy

Auedwoy asueinsu) 8j7 piepue)g aoue|oy

dWeN Jopuap Bt

V/N : 9jeq payniad
snjejg
:@j)eq uny

Q3L LIAGNSNN
920e/el/Lo

Szoz/1eT) Bupuz Jes ) [2osi4

Kouaby yuawdoleraq (eysnpu) Hunos 83 Joj woday Juswsainold

L bt i A0

ESLDE LR LSRN T EXLD) B i D

T e B BN L 0 W

3] o e ] P

P134



LZ jo g1 abed

junowy ay ueyy

9C/LE/ZL-SE/LEIZ) PUe GZ/LEICL uopdussag §897 s1 anjeA el

ve/V€/21 BoueInsur Ayliqer J8ahD ‘SeleTZL-bZi6EeL asueInsul swup juswiaindoid Jied ays Aym urejdxg
lea, [eas|d

S8l pajun Anunog 00°€Ll'es 104 papuadx3 junowy

uojBay/aouinoig 00°€LL'gs junowy

¥ shjd anjeA joley Jjeq

992SL apoD jeysod 9202/1€/21L ajeq pug

X1 e ¥eoz/ee/elL ojeq psemy

Svi1iva A Pig aanedwoy - joeuog Auoyiny $5320.1d piemy

ZdUu| ssaippy Y0 JuswIBansosd Jo adAL

916099 xod Od L3ul ssaippy siajanel ] aweN JOpUap ‘9¢

junowy ay) uey)

92/L/€-G2/1/€ 10} soueinsul ANpqer eseuss) ‘'oz/Le/zZL uonduoseq $507 5! onfeA J9NIeN
~SZ/VE/ZL PUB GZ/LE/ZL-HT/LE/Z) 40} BOURINSU) 9FeNoEd |elosewwon juawLInNd0Id Aje4 ayy) Aym ujejdxy
lee, jeasiq

s8jels peyun Aijunogy 12°28¢2'c4$ 104 papuadx3 junowy

uoibayjeouinoid 12'28¢€'eL$ unowy

P snid anjeA jaxiep Jieq

99252 apo) [eysod 920Z/1L/e eq pug

X1 aqeys S20g/L/ 9jeq piemy

Sv1iva Ao PIg aapedwo - 1enuo) Auoyiny S$53%0.1d piemy

ZoU| ssaIppy BYO JuaaInaolg jo adA}

916099 x0d Od L8ujq ssaippy piogieH ay| WEN JopU3p 6E

V/N  8jeq paymad
snjejg
:ajeq uny

Q3LLINGNSNN
920c/EL/10

Lk ot e A8

§Z0z/1€/z) “Buipuz ses, |eosiy

Aouaby yuswdojaasq jewsnpu) funog au7 1oy Woday swainooiy

CHLIP LI LLL S ARRN] EVLI e v it Sum g Sewanyy.s

o L L

S T A

P135



LZ 10 0Z obed

junowy ayj ueyy

uonduasag $537 S| 9n|eA JoNIe|

9¢/L/€~G2/ L /€ o} afeIanco Ajjige)| sse0xe pucdas pue ejlaiquin pUEITEYN BT TR ] ajed ayy Aym ugejdxy
leap [eas|q

$3je)s pajun Anunog 00'102' L% o4 papuadx3 junowy
uojbay/esuiroig 00'L0Z°L¥S junowy

¥ shid anjeA j8ytel Jjed

2s0rL 8po) |ejsod 9202/1/E eg puz

AN 2125 SZ0g/tie ojeq piemy

VHOMNY 1SV Ao PIg sAadwog - dejuo) Auoyiny SS8d0.d piemy
Zaul ssalppy BYIo Judwainsoid jo adAL

peoy Jaxend 0oy Laul ssaippy SRPOSSY P UBBID) "H'M aweN Jopusp ‘8¢

junowy ey ueyy

uondudseq $S67 St 8NjeA JayIeN

so||ddns eoyO juawaIndoid d1ed a3y3 Aym ujejdxgy

1e6A |eosly

S8JeIS pepun Anunon 21°269'1$ Jo4 papuadx3 junowy

[ uojbay/asulroig junowy
¥ snid onjeA Joxuel Jeq

86220 3poY |eysod ajeq pu3l

YN el ajeq piemy

NQLSOd Ao 18pIQ @SEYING/JUBWIBINDOI JOBIUOD UON S$5320.1d piemy

Zaul ssalppy

saljddng/saiipowwos

JuBWAINI0N Jo adA]

101186 X09 'O'd

Lau|q ssalppy

*oU] "0 Uosel 'q'AA

aweN JOPusp 18

V/N : 9jeq payiyad

P136

STOZ/LE/Z) ‘Buipug JesA [eosiy
QaLLINGNSNN ‘snjeig

920c/eL/Lo djeqg uny fauaby Juswdojeraq feuisnpu) AUnog a3 10) Hoday Juawsnoolg

ARLIDENF Ll ) 2L nl] EVLN ) B Aumn B o Tt B ) g e TR %
- p > . -
el P B | h‘.



1Z jo L.Z abey

V/N : 8jeq payen
Q3LLINGNSNN
9coereL/lo

snjejg
‘ejeq uny

LA e

SZOZ/LE/T) Bulpuz Jea, jeosiy

Kousby jusiwdojers( |erysnpu| Aunos sug 1oy Hoday juswainosoid

S W TN T e (W R R

P137



¥ jo | ebey

{MET] BoUeU B)eyg 8} Jo (6)l-6EL
UOHO3S Yl 8OUBPIOIE Ul ‘PALINIDD BABY SUCHEIOIA BISUM SSOLE)SLI Ul suonoues asodw 0} pue quawanaoid
SBA e Buninp Joejues ajqissiwsedw jo suonebsjje ajebnseaul pue mainal o} ssasoid e aAey Auoyiny ay) seoq 6
$I0BIU0D BjqissiuLadil] SIU) JO BPEW PJODD) B SEM ‘SO J| ‘eg
imen]
SdueUld 8jels 8yl o (0L)EEL UOIIS YIM BauepIoR Ul ‘polisd Butodai ey Buunp yuawsinooud ayy aousnyul
OoN 0} pajdwaye Jo Juswsinooid e Buunp joeuo ajqissiwuadun pey Jopuaa e jey) suiwlep Auoyiny ay) pIa ']
0V BUiAqqoT Jusweinooid sy, “me eoueul slelg oy} Jo (e)(z)l-6¢ 1 uonoag yim eauepicase
S8A | u juswainsoid sypads e o JoBjU0D pazuoyne S se aAes 0 suostad Jo uosiad e sjeubisep Ajuoyiny ay) pig L
£S1083UaD JuaUiainaoid 1oy suopedyioads 1o ‘SJUsWINaop pIq ‘siesodold
SaA Jo uoneyaljos sy ui suoniqiycsd pue sepjjod Juswainsoud sy Jo Alewwns e djesodioou) Auoyiny ay) se0q ‘9
SOA {juslsaifie uoisnjjoo-uou e ubls o} siappiq aAyoadsosd alinbal Aiuoyiny ay) seog 'S
oN ¢S95BYINd $SBUISNQ Jo/pUE [2AE4] J0) Saakojdws 0} SpJed Jipaio ubisse Ajuoyiny ey ssoq K
oN ¢saulapinG Jusweinooid ay) o) suopdaoxa 1o} mojje Ajsoyny ey ssoqg )
S9A épleog ay) Aq paacidde pue ‘papesu j papusie ‘Allenuue pamainal souljepinb juawwainooid ay) aly ‘z
wm_o__oaum.c._o&o?m:.Sonm\Eou.>=mv_um.>>>>\s\\umnuc SOA £seuliepind Jusweinooid eAey Auoyny ay) so0( L
(e1qeaijddy ) Tun asuodsoy uonsanp

W/N : 8)eQ payiuen 520z/1€/2) ‘Buipug see A [eos)y
Q3aLLINGNSNN 'snielg

9202/EW/L0 Bjeq uny uojjesod.og Juswdojanaq jeucibay Ajunos 8U3 pue ojeyng Jo§ Woday JuaLwsIndo.d

f R T L L )

TN TRTR P

P138



v jo Z obed

unowy sy} ueyy

Juswesinquiial uopdussag $501 S| anjEA JeNIely
asuadxa pue ‘s ‘sasines Buige)s Joj yaj Ajunoy au3 o) a9 Juswobeuely jJusweinsolyd d1eg ey Aym ureidxy
JeeA Jeas|d

SOJEIS PAajun Anyunos £2°L¥0'2ZES 104 pspuadxy junowy
uolBay/asulrolg wunowy

¥ snid anfeA JoNtep Je4

£0ZhL 3po |ejsod ojeq pu3

AN aqe)s ajeq piemy

Olvddng 15 19pJQ 3sBYIINGJUBWIBINJ0I JORINUOT) UON $S890.d piemy

€0b aNng Zau|] ssasppy saoineg Buye)g JudWaINa0Id jo adA}

1eodg Auad g6 L8u ssaippy val fiunog euz QWEN JOPUSA T
junowy ayj ueyy

‘sdiysiosuods Juans uopduoasag 587 S| SnjeA J19yiew
pue uojevijgnd ssaujsng Apjeam [eoo| ul subledwes Buispienpe pejobie | JusawaINooid I1eg ayy Aym urejdxg
13 ) [B3SIq

S8JeIS pajun Anunoy 00°0L6'L$ 4104 pspuadxy junowy
uolBay/eouiroid unowy

¥ snid anjeA joxiep Jieq

£0CrL 3po) jeysod ajeq puz

AN 221 ajeq pJemy

Qivd4d4ng Ao 18P0 ISBYIINGAUBLIRINIOIY JOBILOD) UON §8a001d piemy

Zaul ssaippy

BUIO

JUBWAINJ0Id JO adA)

193418 Uie S9

Jurq ssaippy

1sit4 Ssauisng ojeyng

awieN Jopuap 'L

VN
QI LLNGNSNN
920z/c1/10

: 91eQ PAYILSD
snjeig
:ajeq uny

§20Z/1€/2) Buipug Jes [eosig

uojiesod.og juswidojerag feuoiBay Aunog sui3 pue ojeyng Joy Loday Juawaunoolg

LB bt o A

RELAp L BEaLbn)

EVChbaadn vibom oy

T TR

ENT S

31 2 e ] P

P139



¥ Jo ¢ abey

unowy ay) uey

uoniduasaq $$07 S1 anjeA Jajie

*S30IA18S Jpne Juspusdapuy JUaIAIN20Iy aeq ay3 Aym ujejdxg
1es) [easly

saje)g pajun Aiyunogy 00°008'2}$ 404 pspuadx3 junoury
uoiBayjesulroiyg 00°008°21$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA yeel Jjey

z0zyl apoy [ejsod 9202/0¢/9 ajeq puz

AN ejelg z202/82/6 ejeq piemy

O1v44ns A Pig sAledwo) - Joruo) Auoyiny §53201d piemy

Zourn ssaippy SBJIAIG |eUoISSejold Jay)p JusWIaINI0Ld jo adAL

19941 UIpjuBLd 698 Laul ssaippy d77 "HOILIOD3N uspswinT SWEN J0puap 4

junoury ayy ueyy

uonduaseq §S97 SI anjeA jayien

‘Apanoe Buipus) o) pajejes seoines lebs JUBWIAIND0IG aeq ay3 Aym ujejdxg
1B0A [B3S1d

S6JelS pejun Anunoy 12°181'95$ 404 papuadx3 junoury

uoibayy/eouiroiy 1Z°500'sZ$ junowy

¥ snid BN|EA Jel Ny

20ogrL 2poJ |ejsod 1202/1/2) aleq pu3

AN aels ¥202/€2/01L ajeq piemy

Olvddng A0 PIg sAngadwo) - penuog Auoyny SS3204d piemy

Zaul ssalppy

seoIneg Jeba

JudW2IN20.14 3o adA|

Buipping Auaqi oogl

Lau ssauppy

0'd ‘auid MmNy

AWEN JOPUIA g

V/N : 91eq payiued
Q3 LLINEGNSNN sneig
920Z/e1/10 ‘@leg uny

S202/1€/T) [Bupu3 Jes [eosiy

uojjesod.o) juawdo|aaeq JeuoiBay AUNog au3 pue ojeyng Loj Uoday JuBWAIND0IY

1R e A

Aeaf 1 Ll readnn) CILE ) p I il s g

P140



¥ Jo p abed

V/N : 8jeq paunad
Q3LLINGNSNN snieys
9202/cL/10 ajeq uny

SUIW0S [CUONIPP

5202/1.5/21 Buipus sea) |eosiy

uofesodiod yuswdojanaq (euoibay Aunos aug pue ojeyng Joj Hoday Juswainooiy

EALARAME UL DAl N bhgn st Bl oy Saesgay sedegits

Yl N ] P

P141



6 j0 L obey

¢MeT eoueuly aleyg ay) jo (6l-6EL
uol3ag Yim 20UERI0IIL Ul ‘PALINDJ0 SABY SUOHEJOIA BJSYM SBOLEISU] U| SUOKOUES asodus) 0] pue “Juswainooid
SOA e Bupnp 1oe1u00 s)qissiuadw Jo suoneBsje a1ebnsaau| pue majael o} sse00id & aney Aoy ayj sao(] '6
£10B1U0D 3[qissiwiadul SiU) Jo apew PIodal B SEM ‘SaA J| ‘eg
LMeET
2dueul 31elg ay) Jo (01 )i-6E ) UORYRS LM souepIoaoe Ul ‘pouad Buiuodel ay} Bulinp yawainooud sy} esuanyul
OoN 0) pajdwae 10 juaiwainoosd e Buunp jojuoa sjqissiused pey JOpPUBA B JBY) auiwisjap Ajuoyiny sy piq ]
.oy BurlgqoT uswsinooid ay 1, "meT soueuly sjels oy JO (e)(z)-6g1 uonoag yim souepIodE
S8A | i ‘juawainoosd oyjoads e uo 10BjUOD pazUoYINe el SB sAIaS 0) suosiad Jo uosiad e ajeubisap Ajuoyiny ay) piq L
{Sioenuod Jualainooid Joj suopeoyoads 10 ‘sjuswnoop piq 'sjesodold
SaA 40 uoneyaNos s) u suoniqyold pue ssjoljod Juaweinoosd sy jo Aewwins e sjesodiooul Auoyiny ay) ssoq ‘9
SOA éJuswaaibe uoisnjjoo-uou e ubis o) siappiq aAoadsosd esnbay Auoyiny ay) ssog 'S
oN $9sBY2INd SSBUISNQ Jo/pUE |aARL) 10} SEaK0JdWS 0} SpIED |IPald ublsse Auoyiny ey} s80Q 't
OoN £58U119pING Jusweinaoid ay) o) suodeoxa 1oy mojje Auoyiny el S0 e
SOA ¢Pleog ay) Aq peaoidde pue ‘papasu j papuswe ‘Ajlenuue pemajAal sauljapinb juswainaold ay) ary 'z
mw_o__oalﬂm&oeo?mfzonm\Eoos:mu._om.;;zS“mQuz SOA ¢seullepind jusweinsoid eaey Auoyiny ey} seoq ‘L
(ajqeanddy g 74N asuodsey uonysanp
TUSTYeulIoul Jusliains61d

V/N : 9)eq paya)
QaLLiNgNSNN ‘sniejg
920e/el/L0 ejeq uny

S20Z/1€/21 :Buipug tesh eosiy

uojesodioD juswdojeaaq pue [ewysnpul AUnog aug pue ofeyng Jo} Yoday yjusweuindsoid

Lbimt 1 Ny L PLLLFLAJ0) TI0018.00 00 Fam g Sradr B 0 sn 10 Wy S HROIN 3 h
.bmnfﬂ;’u.\»m‘ .U%

P142



6 Jo Z abed

193143 |I9PQ Jo/pue peay abpry Bugsixe

juhouwly sy} ueyy

83U} Wolj Yied so1awiwo) asuessieuay oju Bupusixa sAempeos mau uopduaseg §597 S| anjeA joyJepw
JO UoRONAISUOD auy 40§ $8OIAISS JesubuS Juapisal pue ‘ubisep ‘Buueauibug juswiesnsold Je ey} Aym urejdxsy
128\ [e0s|4

S8l pajun Auno 8€'669'G2$ 104 papuadx3 junoury

uoiBay/eouircid 6€°96E'vSES junoury

¥ snid ANeA e Jieq

g0crL 8poJ |ejsod 8ieq pu3z

AN ajes T20z/92/L ajeg piemy

O1vd44ng Ao pig sanadwog - pesuog Auoyny $S3204d plemy

002 2ng Zoul ssalppy 2duBUBjUIB/UOIONSUOD puk ubjsag JUSWIAIN201Y Jo adAy

jess UiBN S6T Leul ssappy '09 ubiseq Mvzy SWEN JOpUsA T

junowy 3y} uey}

“Hed sdiswwo) souessieusy je (,g peoy,) peos mau jo uopduasag $597 S| anjeA jJeyiel
uonanAgsuod sy Joy ssoiuas Buusauibus juapisal pue ‘ubisep ‘Bunasuibug juawaindold Jied ayy Aym upejdxy
iea) [easid

S8je}S pajiun Anunog LY'S08' 128 404 papuadx3 junowy

uoiBay/eouiroid 01°659'¢.£$ junowy

¥ shid anjeA 1o)Jen Jjed

£02PL apoY |ejsod ajeq pug

AN ajels L202/82Z/L 2jeQ piemy

Ov44ng Ao pig saedwo) - joenuo? Ajuoyiny $S8904 plemy

00Z aung zZaul ssaippy ouBUS U UORONSUOY puE ubiseq JuaaINd0dd Jo adA|

199418 ule 62 8ul ssaJppy ') ubisaq Hvzy Awep Jopuep ‘b

V/N : 9jeq paied

P143

§Z0zZ/1e/T) Buipu3 Jeey |eosiy
Q3LLINGNSNN snjejg

9202/EL/L0 ‘9jeq uny uonesodiog Juawdojeraq pueT [elISNpUL AJUNOY 8K pue ojeyng 1o} Hoday Juawainood

bt % A LBLI LR ELEUAJRE] B0 )R te b T e S nfy § i BAN Wy (ITLS [

=12 Ve




6 Jo ¢ abed

junowy ayj ueyy

Hed 9219WWony uopduasag §S27 1 anjeA 19)4e

souessieuay Je (,g peoy,) Aempeos Mau Jo 193} 05¢°| 10 uoiONASULD juawaINd0ig Jeq ayy Aym urejdxy
1B9 A [B95]4

S3je)s pajun Anunop 11°988°221$ 404 pspuadxg junoury

uojBayyaauiroig 09'766'000°Z$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA e Jeq

1744 apoQ [ejsod ajeq pug

AN ajels 2e0ciLely jeg plemy

YI3INIS 1SIM A pIg aAadwo) - Joenuos Ajuoyiny $59890.d piemy

Zauy ssappy

8oueUBUIBA/UOlIINYSUCD pue uBiseg

udWaINd0Ld jo adA]

aALQ SPIARQ Jules ge

L3ulq ssaippy

“oUf UONONISUOY) [eloua) Y B 3

awep Iopuap K2

junowy ayj ueyy

uonduaseq 8507 SI anjeA 1eyie

Jied ssaulsnguby je ¥ peoy Jo uojonysuo) JUWAIND0I Jed ayy Aym ujejdxy
ieeA Jeasiq

selels pajun Ajunog LY'6SE'EEE 1S 404 papuadx3 junoury
uoibay/esujaoiy 80°260'266'1$ unowy

¥ snid anjeA ey ey

980¥L apoy |eysod djeq pu3

AN el S20Z/82/S 9jeQ piemy

Y3LSYONV fno Pig aAnadwo - joenuad Ajuoyiny $530044 premy

Zaul ssalppy adueusjuie/UONINASUOY pue ubisaq juatisinaold jo adA

BNUBAY USPIEM OEV Y Lou| ssaippy “ouj ‘Bupjoni] Isejseuy JWeN JOpUap 't

V/N : @1eq payiped
A3 LLINGNSNN sMelg
920C/EL/L0 :9)eq uny

SZ0Z/LE/Z) Bujpug JesA [easiy

P144

uojelodio juauidojeas( pue] [eHisnpu| AUnog su3 pue ofeyng Joj Hoday JUBWINI0IY

E Rl Tt SR TN T TR SN TR T H I = TN TR Y18 P p gy

B RLA Wy IR g

=1 Vo] e




6 Jo ¢ abed

junowy ayj ueyy

uopduoseq $S97 S onjeA 0Bl

Jied 32IBWLIOY 9IUBSSIBUAY JO) BIIAISS JOJBA Juawinooid A1ed ay) Aym ujejdxg
Jeap jeas|q

S3Je)S psuun Anunog LL291'v1L8 o4 papuadx3 yunowy

uolBayjeouirolg unowy

¥ shid anjeA e Jjed

£0eyl apoy |eysod ajeq pug

AN ejels 8jeq pJemy

O1v44ng [+ 1T 18P0 BSEYDINGAUBLLBINDO0I JOBJUOY) UON $5820.d pilemy

0SE Wooy ZoulT ssaippy BYo usWAIN20.d Jo adAy

19345 uley 562

Jaur] ssesppy

Awoyny Jsiem Alunog aug

awepN Jopusp ‘9

Junowy ay) ueyp

uopduaseq §567 S| enjeA 19xIel

“SBIIMIeS Uoheys|UiLIPE pun) ueof Joj vl Alunad eyu3 0} ee) juswabeueyy pULIIEYOEL YR died ayy Aym urejdx3
Jee, [edsid

Se)elS pelun Aiuno) 00°000°42$ 104 papuadx3 junowy
uojBayyesulrolg unowy

¥ snid anfeA jexse seq

[ 04 4% 3po) |eysod 8jeg pu3

AN AR ajeq piemy

Ov44ng 1 JB3pIQ BSBY2ING/JUSIAIND0IE JOBHUOY) UON $52204d pIeMy

€0 9)Ing Zaul] ssalppy ssoIAag Buyerg usWaINd0Ld Jo adA)
19948 Auad 66 jaur] ssaippy val Awno) aug WeN JOPUspA S

/N : 8jeQ payiuad
snjelg
:ajeq uny

Q3 LLINENSNN
9c0e/eL/io

S20Z/1€/2) Bulpuz Jesy [eosiy

uojjelodiog juswdojoraq pue jelysnpuj Aunog sug pue ofeyng o} Loday Juswalnsold

et bl SRS LR ITT RN PR TN RN & [HTTW TS gy e

Sy T RLIN Ve

T i N e

P145



6 Jo G abey

junowy ayj ueyy

uopnduasag $§97 sl enjeA J19xJel

“AyAloe Buipusy o) pejeja. saajnias [ebo JUBWAIND0IY Jeq ayy Aym ujejdxy
1ea) Jeasiy

sajels pajun Aiunog ¥2'204'8$ Jo4 papusdx3 junowy

uojbayesuIrold vZ'20L'88 junowry

¥ snid anjeA e Jjeq

{1441 apo) |e)sod 420Z/1eL ajeqg pua

AN ejs ¥Z02/e2/0L 9jeq piemy

Ov44ng A1 Pig sannadwog - Jpenuo) Auoyiny §5220.1d piemy

00€l AN Zaul ssalppy $90IAlIaG [eBa juswiaindold jo adA|

19945 UIB 2t

Lour] ssaippy

'0'd ‘auld Zmuny

JwWeN Jopuap g

junowy 8y ueyy

uonduosaq $s07 S} anjeA 1esep

"sejes Aunoy uo paseq (jesunog [ersues Ha}) SeoIAles |ebaq JUBWAINI0IY Jed ay) Aym urejdxgy
Jee) [edsi4

salels payun Anunod 26°2€0'0L8 104 papuedx3 junowy

uogbay/eouiaolyg 26'2£0'0.8 junowy

¥ snid anjep yep Jleq

(1] %4 4" 3poy [eysod 2202/\VicL djeg pu3

AN ajels ¥20Z/€2/01 3jeq premy

Ovd4ng Ao pia aannadwog - joeiuog Auoyny $$320.4 piemy

0001 ®ung “19a4g sbueyox3y 9z

Zaur ssaippy

s901M0g jeba

JuswaINd0Id jo adA)

abueyox3 ie uppe

Lauq ssaippy

JT1d euling Byuniy yoeag suieH

aweN J0pUsap L

P146

V/N : 81eq payiad
a3LiagansNN ‘snjelg
920Z/eL/L0 g uny

SZOZ/LE/E) [Buipu] teaA [eosig

uonelod109 Juaiudojaraq pueT [epjsnpu) unos aug pue ojeyng 1o} Loday JUSWSIND0IG

LA ARl LR s L B b ENLA R0 Pl o Slam i Su LR TARCAN ey %
== e —& IUW“



6 J0 9 abey

junowy ey} ueuyy

*Apedoid uonduosaq $587 S] an|eA JoyJe

Jed 82J3WIOY BoUBSSIELSY 8Y) IO} XE) JIOMAS euuemeyIeT Jo Ay uawsIndold Jied ayy Aym ujejdxy
1B3 ) [easiy

Saje)S psuun Anunop S8'EEY'Z8S o4 pspuadx3 junowy
uojBay/aouinolg junowy

¥ shid SNjeA J) e Jed

115445 apoQ [eysod ajeq pugy

AN a9 ajeq plemy
YNNVYMYHIVT Ao J9PIO 3sBYIING/UBLLISIND0I JOBIUOY) UON SS920.d piemy
ZoaulT ssalppy B0 jusuiainsoad jo adA

peoy abpiy p12 |au|q ssaippy 1aunseal) AND euuemeyoe] aweN Jopuap 0L
junowy ayj ueyy

uopduaseq $s07 S| onjeA jexiel

Hed 8dlaliwo) eouessieusy Je jesieidde Auedoiy Juswasnosoid Aled ay3 Aym urejdxg
) Jee A [easiy

S91B)S peliun Ajunop 00'5Z£'6$ 104 pspuadx3 Junowy
uo|Bayyasuinorg junowy

¥ shid anjep je)J e Jieq

t44 4% 3poy |eysod ajeq pu3g

AN aAelg ajeq piemy

Ov44ng 515} 19PIQ BSBYUINGAUBWSINDOL }OBHUOD) UON S$S320.1d plemy

ZoUI sseippy SB0IAISG [BUOISSJ0Id JSUI0 juawansoid Jo adA |

peoy ebnien iz LU ssaippy “ouj ‘dnoug) (estesddy AN SWeN Jopuap ‘6

VIN : 8jeq paupon
snje)g
ajeq uny

Q3aLLINGNSNN
9202/EL/L0

§202/,€/21 ‘Butpu3 Jee) eosiy

uopeodio] juawdojersq pueT [eisnpul Aunog sl pue oleyng Jo} Woday JuaLaINIoIy

Lo g s

LI S NS N TRF TR S FRETW R T feepaa .i.l......_:l..rm.r._m..n-.n.ﬂ“hw..s._ .u_ ﬂ@

P147



6 Jo / obed

Junowy ay} ueyy

108{04d ainjonuselu uondussag $584 $1 anfeA Joiew

peo. ssadoe yied ssauisnquby 10y seoinss BuusauiBus pue ubisaq Jusweainooid neg ayy Aym ujejdxy
B3 ) {eoas)q4

sa)EIS payun Anunoy vE'£08'851% 104 pspuadx3 junowy

uoibayesulrcid 06°L86'691$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA joxylel Jeg

60271 3poY [eysod 3jeqg pug

AN ejels v202/ce/s 9jeq piemy

ov44dng (15 pig sAljadwoy - 1oeiuoD Auoyny $5890.d pilemy

ZouyT ssaippy

SOUBUSUIB/UORONSUGYD PUE UBiseq

Juawainoosd Jo adA|

onuaAy aiemejeq 069

L8uf] ssaIppY

*ou| ‘susauibug oy

awep Jopuap 'zl

junowy ay) uey)

uopduaseq $597 S| onjeA joxJen

ied sseuisnquby 1e sesjes eys pue uohijowaq juawamnsoid Jied ayy Aym ujejdx3y
1eeA [edsiq

S8jE)S pajun Anunoy 00°05%'Lt7$ 104 papuadx3 junowy

uoiBayyjedulroig 00'05%' LS junowy

¥ snid anfep jeylely ieg

$OEYL apoY [eysod ajeq pug

AN ajelg ¥20Z/0Z/1LL ajeq piemy

STV VHVOVIN k) pig sAladwo - penuo) Auoyiny $S09204d piemy

zZoun ssesppy

SOUBUBJUIBI/UOHONIISUOY) pue ubisag

jJuswaInsold jo edAt

13948 puzg ges

13Ul ssalppy

*ou| ‘sasudialug Jsxseqnen

awe) JOPUIA g

V/N : 9jeQ payuad
snjejg
:aleq uny

Q3 LLINGNSNN
9202/eL/10

uojesodiog juswdojaraq puet jelysnpul funo) 8l pue ofeyng 40} Loday juawainooid

SZ0z/1e/g) ‘Buipuz tea ) feosiy

LRFah S Sl LR L) BEAJAA ) CV LR PRt Dt 3 oty § B

110 e P

P148



6 Jo g abed

P149

junowy ayj uey)

uondjasag $$07 S] 3njeA Jaxiew

ed 30Jalwio] souessleuay Je SoUBUBjUIBW YSNIg Pue UMET] juawainsold 1eg ayy Aym ujejdxy
1B3 ) [e3siy

Aiunoy 9L'159'/L$ 404 papuadx3 junowy

uoyBay/soujroiy 91°159'218 junowy

¥ snid 91'L59°2L$ anjeA Jayie Jied

3po) |eysod ajeq pug

aelg Geoz/8LI8 eq piemy

A1 pPIg aARadwon-uop - joenuos Ajuoyiny $5820.d piemy

Z9U|1] ssalppy FETN e juawainaold jo adA)L

L9ur] ssasppy T QN jesN auwiep Jopusp S

junowy ay} ueyy

uonduaseq SS9 S! 8nfeA 10)Ie|

"sejel Ajinoy uo peseq seaines Bupssuibue pue [ejuswionaug JuswiaInNdoid dled ayy Aym ugejdxg
1e8A [B3S|g

Anunoy 06'195°22$ 104 papuadx3 junowy

uojBay/asuiacig 05°185'22$ junowy

¥ snid AN[eA Joxlep sey

3poY jejsod 9c0z/sely sleg pu3g

aAeg £202/92/v dleq piemy

o pig sAnadwog - 1oequog Auoyiny $S320.1d pilemy

Zou| ssaippy $99iA18g Bunjnsuon Juswainaoid Jo adAy

SNUIAY BIBMEJO(] 069 LU ssaippy *ou| ‘sieaulbug oM dWEN JOpUsA el

V/N : 8jeq psynad
sneg
:ajeq uny

GZOZ/LE/Z) Buipus Jea [eosiy
Q3LLINSNSNN 0zZ/LE/Z) Buipuz Jeay |

9zoT/eL/ L0 uopelodiog juswdojaaaq pue feuisnpu) Alunon sU3 pue oleyng Joj Loday juawainiold

LAbsdioe AED wLrvap i) s aynd) A N L N e e B L [ LRy F R .....-..g@

P B v |



6 10 6 obed

V/N : 9jeqQ payied
snjelg
:ajeq uny

Q3aLLINGNSNN
9Z0T/EL/LO

SUSWIWGY) [EUoNIPPY

S20Z/1£/2) Bupuz JesA [easid
uojjelodiod Juawdolaaa( pueT feuisnpul AUNOY su3 puE ofeyng Joj Lodoy JUBWBIN30IY

L R RIS N T N

JWITSERYS B a1 Ty

a.u.hun.f

P150



Erie County Industrial Development Agency
Buffalo & Erie County Regional Development Corporation
Buffalo & Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation

Investment Reports
For the year ended December 31, 2025

P151




Erie County Industrial Development Agency
Buffalo & Erie County Regional Development Corp. (RDC)
Buffalo & Erie County Industrial Land Development Corp. (ILDC)

2025 Annual Investment Report

Purpose of Report:

CIDA and its affiliates (RDC
ual Investment Report. The
ihes (see below), the results of

Under Section 2925(6) of the Public Authorities Law
& ILDC) are required to prepare and approve
investment report is to include: ECIDA’s Investmegft (
the annual independent investment audit (see below

received by the corporation and a list of th ' i 5 ther charges paid to
each investment banker, broker, agent, deafe ' i i estment associated
services to the corporation since the last Inve

The attached schedule details t
year ended December 31, 2025,
March 25, 2026.

Investment Guidelines::

uthorities Law, the ECIDA and its
ines which detail its operative policy and

instructions to staff regardin investi nitoring and reporting of funds of the
corporat fradc SIDA18rsubj the deposit and investment restrictions
contained 16} 110 Gette unicipal Law. The ECIDA’s affiliates
havg ele S i t restrictions contained in Sections 10 and
11 of¥ : “best practice.”

The Investmi ved by the Board of each corporation on March 25,
2026, and ar sted on the ECIDA website at https://www.ecidany.com/about-us-
corporate-policies; The Inyéstment Guidelines for the ECIDA and its affiliates are
consistent with the tidel

Investment Audit;

The auditors for the ECIDA and its affiliates have audited the corporations’ compliance
with the Investment Guidelines for Public Authorities. In their report dated March 12,
2026, Lumsden McCormick LLP indicated that the Agency complied, in all material
respects, with these Investment Guidelines.

P152



JIUISIQ Jamo | BUQ eOBUSS B} Ul SluBWSACIAW] SINOMUSELUI 10} JUNOI0R pauIsay
JoUISIQ JOpiLeY 193115 BISUSS By Ul Sjuswaaoidw) SINONUSEHU] JO} JUNCDIE PEIOMISDY
PUSIQ JeRuS e By ut sjuswaA0idwi) aInjonLse.U| 10§ JUNOIOR PajoLISSY

sjoaford funog suz pejeubisop g J3jua) svJsWo uuewBUNOA YHON Joj Junoaoe paousoy
punj uswdojpaspay playumolg ojeyng Joj JUnosoe pejouisey

Pund 9van vaioza

pung [ereusn yqaioa

FoUISI] JOMOL BUQ BIBUSS BU) Ul SJUSWIAACIAW) BINJINLSEIU) 10} JUNCOJE PRIOLISY

1LS1Q J0pILI0Y JeBIg BDBUSS BU) UI SYUSLUSACIILL) BINONISELU| 10} JUNCOSE pajpuisay
Lisiq 1983 IR Su) Ul SjusWaAKIW} SINJONISELU] 10} JUNCOOE PaYLISeY

sjoeloud Alunod sug pajeubisap B JejusD sosBwILIOY uuewBunoA YuoN Joj Junodoe pajoulsey
pun4 jusludoiaAapay playumo.g ojeyng o} lUNOSE PajaLISaY

© PajE|a) Peo|e) auIoys Aunod 83 J0j Junooe paloSoy
junoodoe pund Dvan vaid3

unodde pun4 SYAN vain3a

UN03%e Y(QID3 [BJBUSS

1UnO%E Q03 |BeusD

S8l

asodung pajolysay

e e e

i e e e

$ _l08'v28 ¢

5894

161'29
689'621
voz' Ly

Lie'sLL
ore'ool

16188
9lE'wL
zL0'8e
bev'st
2s8
oK't
§65'98
85
8ST'EY

$ 50T 8

awoauy
JUAUNS3AY|

L

§¢0T

]

B/
%SL'E
%SGLE
%St
e/u
%SY'e
%08°

%002
%002
%002
%00'2
%00'2
%S2°0
%00
%S2°0
%002
%S0

$Z0Z22Q
L]
Jsasu|

583} Aue 40 uoKoNpap 3l 0} J0ud puE GZ0Z ‘LE Joquasad Je ajel Jsalsy| B

¥68'JEL'GZS £809'928'v2S

9.¥'000't
029'005°¢
zzi'ooo’t

ves's6r'y
0v5'666'

¥o¥'920'2
6¥8'/62
$69'228°)
0S0°'2¥.
686'0F
616'6.2
506'v58'C
8re'Ll
LES'eS0'2
zoo'zke  $

szoz/Leret

aduejeg YO aduejeg /o

(v@193) Aouaby juswidojanag je)

Siv'esr'z
$69'666'C
296'666

292'666'¢
y9e'666'c

z.0'69¢e'L
£82'800°L
596'¢G9'L
Z10'089
8le'se
6EL'Lie
129'1158'2
062'L1
g0l'zel'e
996'8L9 ¢

SZOZ/LL

1sns] uciBuulIAA
1SnJ1 uojbunwIpn
1SNJ) uoBuIwiIp,
1SN | uoyBuiw)ipn
isnuy uoiButwpn
JsnJ) uobuiwipg
Isnit uojBulwipn

:sajopN

siiig Ainseas). 's'n
g Ainseal] 's'n
g Ainsesl] ‘'s'n

Ainseas) "s'n €t
Ainseal] 's'n gt
Ainseas) ‘s L1

solels

Jueg L8N
Aueg 18N
jueg L8N
jueg 13
jueg 18N
Jueg 13N
Hueg 18N
jueg 18N
jueg L8N
jueq 13N

uonmusu)
IR

sbuines g|
sBuines g
sBuineg g
sbuineg 2
sBuineg g
Bunjosyd g
sbujaeg ¢
Bupigayy ¢
sbuineg 2
Bunjoayg |
SJUNG35Y 1is0daq

adA] junoasy

SZ0Z ‘1€ 19qWa33Q papus Jeak ay) Jo4

yoday juatuisasu) [enuuy

Jsnpuj funoy aug



q WeuB Juswdojersq ejels audwg Joy Juncode 1saidw
junoooe Bupjoays D) eseuss
q Junoooe ueo ssudisjusiordiy 4ag Aunod sug

9soding

pajouzsay

"Sjuswiaaibe yym 82UEPIOO9. Ul JOJUEIE O} PO S| PSUIES BUIOOU| suwjsany|
"s83 Aue Jo uononpap sy o} Joud pue GZoz ‘L¢ JeqUSIB( JE Bjel JSAIU| B

;sajoN
- ¢ 0.5 ¢ ¥09'L¥9'v §  9£0'2/9C §

- oS'LL %520 geL'elL'e £6¥'906°C Jueg | 3N Bundayd ¢
- 96Z'e %ST'0 212'002 £62'845 jueg 13N Buppayy g
- ¢ /88 $ %S0 €5z'8ce $ 062'/8L $ jueg L8N Buppayy 1

5202 93 520T/LErEL §20Z/LIL
S99 awoauj ey ajuejeg /o douefeg o uonnnsuy| adA] junoosay
juaunsaau) Jsassjul feloueuly
S202Z |

S20Z ‘1€ Jequiasag papus Jeak ayj 104
Hoday jusunsasu] Jenuuy

(0a1) uonesodiog Juswdojaasg pueT jerysnpu; Ajunon al3 g ojeyng

P154



pung ueoT 10V $34v0 vas
pung ueoy v S3YVO va3
pung ueo Aoeba
pung ueo Aoeba
pun4 ueo] Aoeba

e e - 4

asoding psjdusey

- $ 659'80Z %
. Lio'ee %00°¢
- 868'| %SZ0
- Ley'eel %ZS'E
- 6EL' LY %00°¢
- $ ¥8s's $ %SC0
6202 920
s994 awoou) Laeyd
juswiysaau] sasauy
[ S20Z |

P155

's98) Aue Jo LoRoNpsp oy} 0) Joud pue §Z0z ' | Jequiaseq Je ajel 1sam e

G2e'065'8 $ 620'905'8 ¢
Siv'voz'e yop'a99’L
£v8'8/E 896'651
851'666'C $69'666'2
¥Z20'68.'1 £0¥'108'2
gze'ele’t $ geb'088 ¢
GT0Z/LEZL GeozZ/LL
aduejeg /9  eduejeg o

;S9jON
jueg 1SN sbuineg g
Aueg 19w Bunpoayg ¢
Isnip uoibuiwipy  sig Ainseauy g €
yueg 19N sBuneg z
sueg 12N Bupppayd |
uonnIsy| adA L Junooay

|e1oueuly

S20Z ‘i€ J9qwasag papus seak ayj Jo4
Moday Juauwsaau| jenuuy

(0Qy) uonesodio Juswdojonag leuoibay Ajuno9 allg @ ojeyng



ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
BUFFALO AND ERIE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

PROJECT ADMINISTRATIVE FEE AND EXPENSE SCHEDULE

PRODUCT AGENCY/ILDC FEE AND DUE DATE(S)
Sales Tax Benefit e $1,500 application fee
Mortgage Tax Benefit 1.25% of the total benefitted project amount
PILOT Benefit ® Due Date(s): 50% of fee upon issuance of sales tax exemption letter,

** Or any Project that receives a
PILOT Benefit

remaining 50% of fee due upon project completion
¢ An administrative fee exceeding $1 million may have adjusted due dates

Sales Tax Benefit
Mortgage Tax Benefit

* $1,500 application fee

e Fee equals the sum of (i) 1% on sales taxable component (50% of
construction budget plus amount of sales taxable materials and equipment)
and (ii) 2 of 1% on difference between mortgage benefit amount and sales
taxable component.

¢ Due Date: Entire fee is due upon issuance of Project Agreement

Sales Tax Benefit

* $1,500 application fee
e 1% of sales taxable component
¢ Due Date: Entire fee is due upon issuance of Project Agreement

Mortgage Tax Benefit

$1,500 application fee
50% of the Mortgage Tax Benefit amount
Due Date: Entire fee due at mortgage closing

New Tax-Exempt Bond Issuance

$1,500 Application Fee
1% of bond amount
Due Date: Entire fee due at closing

Tax-Exempt Bond Refunding

e $1,500 application fee
v2 of 1% of refunded amount, plus 1% of new money amount (if any)
Due Date: Entire fee due at closing

Additional Fees

The applicant is responsible for and shall pay all reasonable costs to the
Agency/ILDC, including without limitation, Agency/ILDC counsel fees,
incurred in connection with the Project including costs incurred in the following
instances:

* the project application is withdrawn at any time following submission

or after an initial inducement or bond resolution relating to the project
e the project expires without extension,
e the project does not close for any reason

Other

The Agency/ILDC President/CEO, in consultation with the Agency/ILDC
Chair, is authorized to adjust/revise the aforementioned fee schedule on an
individual project by project basis for unique or otherwise outstanding projects.

Adopted this 25th day of March 2026 by the respective Boards of each corporation referenced above.

P156




Erie County Industrial Development Agency (“ECIDA”), Buffalo
and Erie County Regional Development Corporation (“RDC?”) and
Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation
(“ILDC”)

INVESTMENT AND DEPOSIT POLICY

ARTICLE 1
Scope

Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law requires the Erie County Industrial
Development Agency (the “Agency”) and its affiliates to adopt by resolution comprehensive
investment guidelines which detail its operative policy and instructions to officers and staff
regarding the investing, monitoring and reporting of funds of the Agency.

In addition to the requirements set forth in Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law,
the Agency is subject to the deposit and investment restrictions contained in Sections 10 and 11
of the General Municipal Law, which govern the deposit and investment of funds for the
Agency’s own use and account.

This investment and deposit policy (“Investment Policy™) is adopted by the Agency
pursuant to the foregoing provisions of the Public Authorities Law and General Municipal Law
and shall apply to all moneys and other financial resources available for investment on the
Agency’s own behalf or, where applicable, on behalf of any other entity or individual.

This Investment Policy shall be applicable to the Erie County Industrial Development
Agency and all of its affiliates, including: Buffalo and Erie County Regional Development
Corporation (“RDC”); Buffalo and Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation
(“ILDC”) and such other affiliates as may hereafter be established by the Agency and which are
determined to be subject to the requirements of Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law (an
“ECIDA Affiliate”) (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Agency”) upon approval by the
respective Boards of each corporation. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to the
“Agency” herein shall also include the ECIDA Affiliates.

This Investment Policy is not intended to restrict the normal business activities of the

Agency, which include the making of loans to, equity investments in, and/or project expenditures
in private companies in furtherance of the corporate purposes of the forgoing entities.

P157



ARTICLE 11
Governing Principles

A. Investment Objectives.

The primary objectives of the Agency’s investment policy are, in order of priority,
as follows: (i) to conform with all applicable federal, state and local laws and legal requirements;
(i) to adequately safeguard principal; (iii) to provide sufficient liquidity to meet all operating
requirements of the Agency; and (iv) to obtain a reasonable rate of return.

B. Diversification.

As the Agency is subject to the deposit and investment restrictions set forth in
Sections 10 and 11 of the General Municipal Law, the opportunity to diversify among types of
investments is limited. Subject to these legal restraints, however, the policy of the Agency is to
diversify by investment instrument, by maturity and where practicable by financial institution.

C. Internal Controls.

. All funds received by an officer or employee of the Agency shall be
promptly deposited with the depositories designated by the Agency (pursuant to Article ITL.A of
this Investment Policy) for the receipt of such funds.

2. Pursuant to Section 11(7) of the General Municipal Law, the Treasurer,
Assistant Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller of the Agency shall maintain or cause
to be maintained a proper record of all books, notes, securities or other evidence of indebtedness
held by the Agency for investment and deposit purposes. Such record shall identify the security,
the fund for which it is held, the place where kept, the date of sale or other disposition, and the
amount received from such sale or other disposition.

3. The Agency is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal
control structure to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that deposits and investments
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, that transactions are executed
in accordance with management’s authorization and recorded properly, and are managed in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

D. Authorized Financial Institutions and Dealers.

The Agency shall maintain a list of financial institutions and dealers approved for
investment purposes and establish appropriate limits to the amount of investments that may be
outstanding with each financial institution or dealer. All financial institutions with which the
Agency conducts business must be creditworthy as determined by criteria established by the
Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller of the Agency. All banks
with which the Agency does business shall provide their most recent Consolidated Report of
Condition (Call Report) at the request of the Agency. Security dealers not affiliated with a bank

P158



shall be required to be classified as reporting dealers affiliated with the New York Federal
Reserve Bank, as primary dealers.

E. Purchase of Investments.

The Agency may contract for the purchase of investments directly, including
through a repurchase agreement, from an authorized trading partner. All purchased obligations,
unless registered or inscribed in the name of the Agency, shall be purchased through, delivered
to, and held in the custody of a bank or trust company. Such obligations shall be purchased, sold
or presented for redemption or payment by such bank or trust company only in accordance with
prior written authorization from the officer authorized to make the investment. All such
transactions shall be confirmed in writing to the Agency by the bank or trust company shall be
held pursuant to a written custodial agreement as described in Article IV.C.2 of this Policy.

F. Repurchase Agreements.

The Agency may enter into repurchase agreements subject to the following
restrictions:

1. All repurchase agreements must be entered into subject to a Master
Repurchase Agreement. -

2. Trading partners are limited to commercial banks or trust companies
authorized to do business in New York State and primary reporting dealers.

3. Obligations shall be limited to obligations of the United States of America
and obligations guaranteed by agencies of the United States of America.

4. No substitution of securities will be allowed.

5. Obligations purchased pursuant to a repurchase agreement shall be held by

a custodian other than the trading partner, pursuant to a written custodial agreement that
complies the terms of Article IV.C.2 of this Policy.

ARTICLE 111
Investments

A. General Policy.

It is the general policy of the Agency that funds not required for immediate
expenditure shall be invested as described in Article ITL.B below. Investments shall be made
with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence,
discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation,
but for investment, considering the safety of the principal as well as the probable income, net of
fees, to be derived.

P159



B. Permitted Investments.

The Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer and/or Controller are
authorized to invest funds not required for immediate expenditure in the following investments
permitted under Section 11 of the General Municipal Law:

1. Special time deposit accounts in, or certificates of deposit issued by any
commercial bank or trust company that is located in and authorized to do business in New York
State, provided that such deposit account or certificate of deposit is secured in the same manner
as provided in Article IV.B of this Investment Policy and is payable within such time as the
proceeds shall be needed to meet expenditures for which the funds were obtained;

2. Obligations of the United States of America;

3. Obligations guaranteed by agencies of the United States of America where
the payment of principal and interest are guaranteed by the United States of America;

4, Obligations of the State of New York; and

5. Such other obligations as may be permitted under Section 11 of the
General Municipal Law.

All investments as provided in Sections B(2) through B(5) of this Article shall be
payable or redeemable at the option of the Agency within such times as the proceeds will be
needed to meet expenditures for purposes for which the moneys were provided and, in the case
of obligations purchased with the proceeds of bonds or notes, shall be payable or redeemable at
the option of the Agency within two years of the date of purchase, and comply with such other
requirements as set forth in Section 11 of the General Municipal Law.

ART_ICLE v
Deposits

A. Designation of Depositories.

The Agency shall, by resolution, designate one or more commercial banks or trust
companies for the deposit of Agency funds received by the Agency. Such resolution shall
specify the maximum amount that may be kept on deposit at any time with each bank or trust
company. Such designations and amounts may be changed at any time by further resolution of
the Agency.

B. Collateralization of Deposits.

In accordance with Section 10 of the General Municipal Law, all deposits of the
Agency (including certificates of deposit and special time deposits) in excess of the amount

P160



insured under the provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act shall be secured as follows:

1. By a pledge of “eligible securities” with an aggregate “market value” as
defined by Section 10 of the General Municipal Law, at least equal to the aggregate amount of
deposits. A list of eligible securities is attached hereto as Schedule A.

2. By an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a qualified bank (other than the
bank with which the money is being deposited or invested) in favor of the Agency for a term not
to exceed ninety (90) days with an aggregate value equal to 140% of the aggregate amount of
deposits and the agreed upon interest, if any. A qualified bank is one whose commercial paper
and other unsecured short-term debt obligations are rated in one of the three highest rating
categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization or by a bank that is
in compliance with applicable minimum risk-based capital requirements.

3. By an eligible surety bond payable to the Agency for an amount at least
equal to 100% of the aggregate amount of deposits and the agreed upon interest, if any, executed
by an insurance company authorized to do business in New York State, whose claims-paying
ability is rated in the highest rating category by at least two nationally recognized statistical
rating organizations. The terms and conditions of any eligible surety bond shall be subject to
Agency Board approval.

4, By a pledge of a pro rata portion of a pool of eligible securities, having in
the aggregate a market value at least equal to the amount of deposits from all such officers within
the State at such bank or trust company, together with a security agreement from the bank or
trust company.

5. By an irrevocable letter of credit issued in favor of the Agency by a
federal home loan bank whose commercial paper and other unsecured short-term debt
obligations are rated in the highest rating category by at least one nationally recognized statistical
rating organization, as security for the payment of 100% of the aggregate amount of the deposits
and the agreed upon interest, if any.

C. Safekeeping and Collateralization.

Eligible securities used for collateralizing deposits shall be held by the depository
and/or third party bank or trust company subject to security and custodial agreements as
described below.

1. Security Agreement Requirements. The security agreement shall provide
that eligible securities are being pledged to secure Agency deposits together with agreed upon
interest, if any, and any costs or expenses arising out of the collection of such deposits upon
default. It shall also provide the conditions under which the securities may be sold, presented
for payment, substituted or released and the events which will enable the Agency to exercise its
rights against the pledged securities. In the event that the securities are not registered or
inscribed in the name of the Agency, such securities shall be delivered in a form suitable for

P161



transfer or with an assignment in blank to the depository or its custodial bank.

2. Custodial Agreement Requirements. The custodial agreement shall
provide that securities held by the bank or trust company, as agent of and custodian for the
Agency, will be kept separate and apart from the general assets of the custodial bank or trust
company and will not, in any circumstances, be commingled with or become part of the backing
for any other deposit or other liabilities.” The custodial agreement should also describe that the
custodian shall confirm the receipt, substitution or release of the securities. The custodial
agreement shall provide for the frequency of revaluation of eligible securities and for the
substitution of securities when a change in the rating of a security may cause ineligibility. Such
agreement shall include all provisions necessary to provide the Agency a perfected interest in the
securities and may include such other terms as the Agency Board deems necessary.

ARTICLE V
Monitoring and Reporting Obligations

The following monitoring and reporting procedures shall be applicable in connection
with the deposit and investment of funds subject to this Investment Policy:

A. Monthly Monitoring.

Each cash and investment account statement will be reviewed and reconciled on a
monthly basis. The Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller will
review each account reconciliation for accuracy and will investigate any unusual items noted.

B. Monitoring and Reporting.

Pursuant to Section 2925(5) of the Public Authorities Law, the Treasurer,
Assistant Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller of the Agency shall present a report at
each meeting of the Agency Board of Directors which will include the following information: (i)
the cash and investment balances of the Agencys; (ii) identification of any new investments since
the last report; (iii) information concerning the selection of investment bankers, brokers, agents
dealers or auditors since the last report; and (iv) the names of the financial institutions holding
Agency deposits;.

C. Annual Monitoring and Reporting.

1. On an annual basis, the Agency will obtain an independent audit of its
financial statements, which shall include an audit of its cash and investments and the Agency’s
compliance with this Investment Policy. The results of the independent audit shall be made
available to the Agency Board at the time of its annual review of this Investment Policy.

2. Pursuant to Section 2925(6) of the Public Authorities Law, Agency staff

shall, on an annual basis, prepare and submit for Agency Board approval an investment report
which shall include this Investment Policy, amendments to the Investment Policy since the last

P162



investment report, an explanation of the Investment Policy and any amendments, the results of
the annual independent audit, the investment income record of the Agency and a list of the total
fees, commissions or other charges paid to each investment banker, broker, agent, dealer and
advisor rendering investment associated services to the Agency since the last investment report.
The investment report will be distributed to those individuals identified in Section 2925(7)(b) of
the Public Authorities Law. The Agency shall make available to the public copies of its
investment report upon reasonable request therefor.

ARTICLE VI
Annual Review

This Investment Policy shall be reviewed and approved by the Agency Board of Directors
on an annual basis.

ARTICLE VIII
Savings Clause

Nothing contained in Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law shall be deemed to
alter, affect the validity of, modify the terms of or impair any contract, agreement or investment
of funds made or entered into by the Agency in violation of, or without compliance with the
provisions of Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law.

Re-adopted this 25th day of March 2026 by the respective Boards of each corporation referenced above.

P163



SCHEDULE A
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Obligations issued by the United States of America, an agency thereof or a United States
government sponsored corporation or obligations fully insured or guaranteed as to the payment
of principal and interest by the United States of America, an agency thereof or a United States

government sponsored corporation.

Obligations issued or fully guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development, the Inter-American Development Bank, the Asian Development Bank and the

African Development Bank.

Obligations partially insured or guaranteed by any agency of the United States of America, at a
proportion of the Market Value of the obligation that represents the amount of the insurance or

guaranty.

Obligations issued or fully insured or guaranteed by the State of New York, obligations issued by
a municipal corporation, school district or district corporation or such State or obligations of any
public benefit corporation which under a specific State statute may be accepted as security for
deposit of public moneys.

Obligations issued by states (other than the State of New York) of the United States rated in one
of the three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.

Obligations of Puerto Rico rated in one of the three highest rating categories by at least one
nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

Obligations of counties, cities and other governmental entities of another state having the power
to levy taxes that are backed by the full faith and credit of such governmental entity and rated in
one of the three highest categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.

Obligations of domestic corporations rated one of the two highest rating categories by at least
one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

Any mortgage related securities, as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
which may be purchased by banks under the limitations established by bank regulatory agencies.

Commercial paper and bankers’ acceptances issued by a bank (other than the bank with which
the money is being deposited or invested), rated in the highest short term category by at least one

nationally recognized statistical rating organization and having maturities of not longer than sixty
days from the date they are pledged.

Zero Coupon obligations of the United States government marketed as “Treasury STRIPS”.

Pl164



Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), Buffalo and Erie County
Regional Development Corporation (RDC), and Buffalo and Erie County
Industrial Land Development Corporation (ILDC)

2025 Finance & Audit Committee Self-Evaluation
Responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee:

The core responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee, as mandated under Section 2825 of the
New York Public Authorities Law, are set forth in the Bylaws and include: (i) providing assistance
to members of the Agency in fulfilling their fiduciary responsibilities relating to accounting,
reporting, and regulatory compliance practices; (ii) maintaining, through regular meetings, direct
communication between the members of the Agency and the Agency’s independent accountants and
auditors; (iii) maintaining direct communication between members of the Agency and the
governmental authorities having audit authority or fiscal oversight of the Agency; (iv) approving the
budget of the Agency for submission to the Board; (v) approving and/or directing the transfers of
moneys under the budget; (vi) recommending to the Board the level of cash reserves and the level
of fund balances of the Agency.

Finance & Audit Committee Self-Evaluation Yes Comments

1.

Are the members of the Finance & Audit m
Committee appointed in accordance with
the Bylaws and do individuals appointed to
the Finance & Audit Committee possess
the necessary skills to understand the
duties and functions of the Finance & Audit
Committee and are familiar with corporate
financial and accounting practices?

2. Is each member of the Finance & Audit X (O | O
Committee an “independent member”
within the meaning of, and to the extent
required by, Section 2825 of the New York
Public Authorities Law, as amended from
time to time? Did Finance & Audit
Committee members, who are members of
the Agency, comply with the conflict of
interest provisions applicable to public
officers under Article 18 of the New York
General Municipal Law?

3. Did the Finance & Audit Committee meeta | [X] | [J | [] | The Finance & Audit

minimum of twice each calendar year? Committee met on
1/8/25, 3/20/25,
5/19/25, 9/3/25, and
10/16/25.

P165



Pen

Finance & Audit Committee Self-Evaluation Yes No ding Comments

4. Were meeting notices and agendas X | O O
prepared for each meeting and provided to
Finance & Audit Committee members by
electronic or regular mail at least five (5)
days in advance of the scheduled
meeting? Were minutes of all meetings
recorded by the Secretary or any Assistant
Secretary of the Agency? Did all meetings
comply with the requirements of the Open
Meetings Law?

<
[
]

5. Did the Finance & Audit Committee See Questions #6-#10
develop the Agency's audit practices, below.
which should address independent
auditors and financial statements; internal
controls, compliance, and risk assessment:
special investigations; and other
responsibilities?

P166



Finance & Audit Committee Self-Evaluation

Comments

6. Did the Finance & Audit Committee:

(a) Recommend to the Board the appointment
of independent auditors, establish the
compensation to be paid to the auditors,
and provide oversight of the audit services
provided by the independent auditor?

(b) Establish procedures for the engagement of
the independent auditors to provide
permitted audited services?

(c) Review and approve the Agency's audited
financial statements, associated
management letter, and all other auditor
communications?

(d) Review significant accounting and reporting
issues and understand their impact on the
financial statements of the Agency?

(e) Meet with the Agency’s independent auditor
at least annually to discuss the financial
statements of the Agency and any issues
that may have arisen during the audit?

(f) Review and discuss any significant risks
reported in the independent audit and
assess the responsiveness of
management’s follow-up activities regarding
same?

X

Current audit
engagement with
Lumsden McCormick
was recommended by
the Committee and
approved by the Boards
of Directors 9/28/22.
Lumsden provided an
overview of their audit
plan on 1/8/25. In March
2025, Lumsden
completed audits of the
ECIDA, RDC, and ILDC
for the year ended
12/31/24. The auditors
issued unmodified
(clean) opinions that the
statements fairly
presented the financial
position of the above
referenced corporations.
The auditors also
indicated that the audits
did not uncover any
material weaknesses in
internal control and there
were no instances of
non-compliance in
accordance with
government auditing
standards.

7. Did the Finance & Audit Committee review
management's assessment of the
effectiveness of the Agency’s internal
controls and review the actions taken by
management on the independent
accountants’ and auditors’ suggestions for
correcting weaknesses in the Agency's
internal controls, regulatory compliance,
and organizational structure and
operations?

Management’s
assessment of the
effectiveness of internal
controls was reviewed
with the Committee at
the 3/20/25 meeting.
The March 2025 audit
reports did not identify
any internal controls or
material weaknesses.

P167




Finance & Audit Committee Self-Evaluation

(b)

Did the Finance & Audit Committee:

Ensure that the Agency has a confidential
mechanism for individuals to report

suspected fraudulent activities, allegations

of corruption, fraud, criminal activity,
conflicts of interest by directors, officers, or
employees of the Agency or anyone
having business dealings with the Agency?

Develop procedures for the receipt,
retention, investigation, or referral of
complaints concerning accounting, internal
controls, and auditing?

Request and oversee special
investigations as needed or refer specific
issues to the Board or appropriate
committee for further investigation?

Comments

ECIDA adopted a
Whistieblower Policy in
March of 2012. The
Policy describes the
process for reporting
suspected fraudulent
activities and describes
the protections afforded
to individuals who report
suspected fraudulent
activities. The Policy
was most recently re-
adopted by the Board of
Directors on 3/27/24.

Did the Finance & Audit Committee obtain
information and training needed to
enhance the committee members'’
understanding of the role of the
independent auditor, the risk management
process, internal controls, and appropriate
level of familiarity in financial reporting
standards and processes?

On 3/20/25, the
Committee received an
article entitled, “On the
Audit Committee's
Agenda: Looking ahead
to 2025” published by
the Deloitte Center for
Board Effectiveness.




Finance & Audit Committee Self-Evaluation

Yes

No

Pen
ding

Comments

10. Did the Finance & Audit Committee:
(a) Report its actions and recommendations to
the Board?

(b) Report to the Board at least annually
regarding any changes to the Finance &
Audit Committee Charter?

(c) Provide a self-evaluation to the Board on
an annual basis?

(d) Report to the Board at least annually on
the findings of its independent auditors?

The Committee
reported its actions and
recommendations to
the Board following
each meeting that
included an action or
recommendation:
3/26/25, 5/28/25,
9/24/25, and 10/22/25.
On 3/26/25, this report
included the: (1) Audit
& Finance Committee
self-evaluation; (2)
Audit & Finance
Committee Charter; (3)
draft 2024 financial
statements audited by
Lumsden McCormick;
(4) Corporate Credit
Card Policy; (5) 2024
Public Authorities
Annual Report; (6)
Investment & Deposit
Policy; and (7) 2024
Investment Report.




Finance & Audit Committee Self-Evaluation

Other Self-Evaluation Notes

In addition to the above:

During its 5/19/25 meeting, the Committee recommended a tax-exempt bond issuance
for Canisius University, and approved one year extensions for professional auditing
services and insurance brokerage services.

During its 9/3/25 meeting, ECIDA staff discussed the ECIDA, RDC, and ILDC budget
review process and the timelines for obtaining approval for those budgets. The
Committee also reviewed drafts of the 2026 ECIDA, RDC, and ILDC operating and
capital budgets and three-year forecasts. In addition, the Committee recommended a
part taxable and part tax-exempt bond issuance for D’Youville University.

During the 10/16/25 meeting, the Committee reviewed updated drafts of the 2026
ECIDA, RDC, and ILDC operating and capital budgets and three-year forecasts and
approved a motion to forward the respective budgets to the Boards of each entity for
approval. The Committee also recommended a tax-exempt bond refunding for the City
School District of the City of Buffalo’s Joint Schools Construction Board.

P170




[3)

s P ool
TrE FCONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CCRPORATION FOR ERE COUNTY

Erie County Industrial Development Agency
Buffalo & Erie County Regional Development Corporation
Buffalo & Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation

2025 Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Controls

Management of the Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), Buffalo & Erie County
Regional Development Corporation (RDC) and Buffalo & Erie County Industrial Land Development
Corporation (ILDC) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over
financial reporting. The accounting, financial reporting and cash management functions rely on a system
of controls outlined in the entities’ Financial Policies & Procedures documentation. Internal controls are
reviewed continuously, and adjustments are made as needed. Examples of key internal controls are:

 Payroll: The ECIDA’s payroll is processed by a third-party processor, Bene-Care Payroll, LLC. The
CFO and Bookkeeper verify that payments are only made to employees that are entitled to be paid.
The RDC and ILDC have no direct employees, therefore there is no payroll. As a service organization
Bene-Care Payroll, LLC. undergoes a Service Organization Controls (SOC) audit each year. Their
most recent SOC audit asserts that the internal controls in place at Bene-Care Payroll, LLC are suitably
designed and operating as intended to provide reasonable assurance that control objectives were
achieved.
o Risk=Low
¢ Cash Disbursements: Disbursements are made primarily by check and wire transfer. Invoices require
approval (physical or email) by the purchaser prior to payment. Invoices are reviewed by the
Accounting Manager prior to processing by the Bookkeeper. Two signatures are required on all checks
(CEO, VP, CFO or Assistant Treasurer). All wire transfers require dual approval. The CFO retrieves
and reviews all bank statements and approves all bank reconciliations. Reverse positive pay is used to
verify all check disbursements when presented for payment. Only Finance Department staff have
access to online banking sites.
o Risk=Low
» Cash Receipts: Checks received are logged by the Receptionist and forwarded to the Accounting
Manager. The Accounting Manager stamps checks “for deposit only”, codes the checks and prepares
deposits. The Bookkeeper deposits checks at the bank. The CFO reviews and initials deposit slips and
deposit receipts and verifies proper account coding. The Bookkeeper records deposits in the general
ledger software. Wire/ACH receipts are reviewed and coded by the CFO or Accounting Manager and
are recorded in the general ledger software by the Bookkeeper.
o Risk=Low

All computers are password protected and require multi-factor authentication to log in. General ledger
software is separately password protected. Access to the general ledger software is restricted to the CFO,
Accounting Manager and Bookkeeper.

95 Perry Street, Suite 403 « Buffalo, New York 14203 « ph. 716.856.6525 « fx. 716.856.6754 » www.ecidany.com

P171



ECIDA, RDC and ILDC undergo annual financial statement audits by an independent accounting firm, in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards. While auditors are not engaged to perform an audit of
internal controls, the auditors do review and test internal controls as part of their audit procedures. There
have been no material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal controls nor other management
letter recommendations noted by independent auditors.

In summary, the present internal control structure appears to be sufficient to meet internal control
objectives in preventing and detecting errors and irregularities.

This statement certifies that the Erie County Industrial Development Agency, Buffalo & Erie County
Regional Development Corporation and Buffalo & Erie County Industrial Land Development Corporation
followed a process that assessed and documented the adequacy of its internal control structure and policies
for the year ending December 31, 2025. To the extent that deficiencies were identified, the authority has
developed corrective action plans to reduce any corresponding risk.

P172



Erie County Industrial Development Agency
Summary of Charges to Corporate Credit Card
For statement period 3/23/2025 to 2/23/26

Training, Conferences, Seminars & Luncheons $ 13,311
Dues, Subscriptions & Memberships 8,775
Technology Costs 3,718
Hotels 3,624
Marketing 2,871
Miscellaeous Expenses 1,689
Charges on behalf of BUDC 387

$ 34,375
B

Charges on behalf of

Miscellacous Expenses BUDC
5% 1%

P173



e

UL QRRUEIISZISN=PL (WY GZOZ-UI-SeRHOud 1pney u-Gugun J Splolep

SYys
fiojein8al uappns Jo ‘suondnusip uteys Ajddns ‘syppenetagqho

SE U2Ns ‘sjusna—a)|qissod Jng—awaiixs uo saskjeue
OLIBURDS UN. 03 JUBLWISZRUBL YSY 'SOMEUDIS XSI 1S37-SSO1IS o

‘AppInb sanss) 8eyy 03 Bupoday Ajpwin pue spJeoqysep
Isn pue ‘Ipim-asiidiaiua seonoead Juswadeuew YSH JUIISISUOI
a8eJnodug :suoiduny ssosde JySis1ano NS 3eaSauj o

:pnpul

SIVNIWLLOD UPNE IO} SUOePUBWILODAI YT jedndeld SWos *aAjoAs
S[pow ssauisnq se A||eadsa ‘uoeuwilojsuel) pue ‘uoreAcuUl
"IMOIZ Yum suStje 5dUea]03 Xsi 38yl SUILLIUOD SueBW S
k331835 S11 Yym suSie synadde ysu s Auedwod a3 SuuINsud 3jIym
—sa(30|ouys) Supueape 01 syiys jednijodosd woy—sysu BuiSiews
pue paysiigelss yioq Jo uonen|eAs pue UonedIuap! s udWaTeuew
8UIS95J9A0 SBPNIPUI UBYJO SN0 upne sy3 Jo ajod ayy

‘sAep asay) Ui Sunesado aue sajuedwod Jsow JUsWUoHAUS X3jdwiod
Pue diweuAp ay3 uaAIg seaNIWIWOD JpNe Joy Aioud e sulewal Ny3

(WY3) JuswaBeuew ysi4 asiidiajug

"s8unasw Zujwoddn Joy sedndead Suipea) pue sygisuy
Suipinosd—sdidoy asou) sauojdxs as|ng ayJ JO uoIUpa siy] 41U
Pue JuoJy daay 03 Juem Aew SI9QUIB 21}LILIOD Jpne seale snioy
[843A3s paynuapl aAsm ‘Auedwod Aq Aiea [im sanuioud ajiym (peaye
1eah sy ui epuale s2aniWWO Jpne 943} Uc 3q PINOYS J1eYM 05

"uspeo.q 03 anuRUOd IYSISIIA0C punoe
suoneadxa se Suipuedxa s| 5|0 5,39NILIWIOD Ay} ‘DBTUWWIOD Jpne

9207 ul sefuoud eenjuwod ypny Wd sv'2L '9zisre

g 0IPIIBIEAME | OPIR0] BUE B SN=PI Y 'GZ0Z- U} L ypn/ y-Bugur oS

AP n ON0EP MY/ SANY

Sl UO sjje} s1y3 JO [le 10U 3|IYM “ddUI|ISa pue YImous 1oy pasu sy
U3Im uoieuriogsuey [ex3ip Buiueleq ale spieoq Auew ‘“Kuienasun
dlwouod? pue |exnijodoas SuoBuo piwy “Buimols o susis s
SMOYs 1ey) aded pided e Je 3Aj0AS 0) dNURUOD sapIiqisUodsas pieog

"SSaU3AIIRYS A1) ddueYUS pue pesye Jeak ay) Joj aznuoud
S9anIwwod Jipne djay 03 saxdeud Suipes| saseys S0jq SIyL e

‘SUOEIBPISUOD A
a.e sa3ueyd Aiole|ndau pue ‘salBojouydal mau ‘sysii BuinjoAT .

“JUBWUOUIAUS diweudp A|Suisea.oul
ue Aq padeys aq Aew sapijiqisuodsal 9913LWOD UpNe ‘9zoz uj e

sjuiod Supjjel

0000 e

SuoSsIed BISUY oyiny

pesye JeaA syl ul sanuoud 31IWWod JIpny

3o)g as|nd ayy

peal ayiliw g | 9207 434 60 | dApdedsiad

anloRg

P174

9Z0Z u| seuoud seRiwwos ppny Wd St:Zl '9z/s1e



oLy

T L Z0:PNEIBME IO PIBOGIBUE I WSZISN=P L [N 9Z0Z ) Houd. ! -Gy d h GHIORP MMmmysdIY

$58uIsnq se syuawissasse sl pnedy ayepdn AenSal 03 JuswaSeuew
984N pinoys sas11WwWod HPNY "y3nous aq Jou Aews sjos3uod dness
uo 3uikjau Aj9jos os ‘A|pide. BUIA|0AD B.e SYs1 3aueldWOod pue pne.4

$ysL ddue)|dwod pue pneay

. SAep

9S9U3 ul unesado aue sajuedwod
ISOW JUSWIUOJIAUD X3|dWw0od

pue dweuAp syl UsAIS S8
ypne Joj Aoud e sulews. N3,

"@IUBIs3. d1emuwosuel pue ‘Ausnodal pue sdnydeq ‘ssande
Raed-paiy ‘Buiyned quswasSeuew ssaroe pue Liuspl uo
SN0y 03 JuswaZeuew 33eiN0dUT [SIBALIP Hsu A uosniog .

JuaWuie aunsodsip pue ‘s1ySu uoisap ‘uone|ersa
S3epljeA pue saspuaxa dola|ge) [euonduUNy-ssold sendal
L1013 issaulpeal ainsosip pue asuodsas Juapiul 153t «

‘UonaNpad Ysu 0)

SJUSLISBAUL 311 JeY] SOLIIBW JO I3S |lews e pue ‘Suiuodal [aA3)

-pleoq ‘saulj Bunuodau pue Algeiunoioe (0s1D) 490180 fundss
uonewIoful J31Yd WIYUO) [SI1I3BW pue diysiaumo Kyuepy .

BPNPUISU 134D 0] uone|as ul IYSisIano
SINILLLIOD UPNE 10} SUOND. [BINIRIJ "SBINSOISIP JUIISISUOD

‘Ajpwn 1oddns Jeyy sassanoud asuodsay JU3pPUI pue ‘sjoauod
9202 Ul senuaud sapiwon ypny Wd §¥'21 '9z/s/e

ouE

2lqesnseaw ‘diys1sumo Jea yum xsi asiidaaius ue se paieaJ si
s 4994> Bulinsus—aduajisas pue ssaupaledaud 13gA> Suisasiano
ur 304 Juenodwi ue Aejd ued saa1WWO 3PNy ‘3leJsad2e (|y pue
pnop Suipnpui) uondope ASojouyda) pue ‘suonepadxa L10jengas
'$10108 183JY) SE SNJ0) S2IYWWIOD JIPNE 340D € Sujewa. 3SU 4aghd)

dDUBI|IS3J pue XsL 1agh)

'S|043U0D [BUISIUI PUB ‘S3UNSOISIP

‘up.odau Joy suonedrdwy 3uipnpur ‘syuawdojsnap

Aio3e|n3a. |eqo|3 pue sn jenuazod uo J0lipne |euislxs ay; pue

Wawageuew wouy sSuyaliq sejndal 1sanbay :JUBWIUOIIAUD
KiozenSas Suinjons ay3 uo Juaind Aeys «

"SUOREIUNWIWOD J03S3AUI pue sSujji SSOIIE JUB)SISUOI
PUE ‘InJ3sn-uoisdap Ues|d a4 S3UNSOpS|P JSYIaYM 31en|ens
03 Juswaseuew ysy :SINSO|ISIP ZjjeuoiIel pue MIIARY o

:9pnjoul el ued 9313WwWeod upne

33 suonoe syads ‘Juiessaw sAINIBXD YIm pausije sainsopsip
daay pue ‘ssaulpea uieulew ‘sa3dueyd aredpnue uoneziues.io

ay3 sdjay ‘wFisiano Suio8uo yum pased ‘l]osunod |e8sj pue

s103Ipne yym uswadesus Alie3 Axa|dwod sppe—(y) ERITEYTTEN]]
[e1pynle pue ‘Aeaud eep ‘Supsodas Aupqeureisns punoJe Ajjenadss
—omyled [eqoj3 v "sjo.uod [2ulaiul pue ‘Sunsoda 'SaINsopIsIp
3undaye sjuswannbal ssyio pue ‘A0VId ‘O3S Uo Jua.LIND

Ae3s pinoys seaniwwod ypne ‘93uey> A1oye|nga. 4o aded 9y UdAID

Juswiuolinug L1oje|n8ay
‘JuswaZeueLw ysu Aep-01-Aep uj Juswa3eSua a3fo|dwa
03 do3 a3 Je 5u0) Wiouy ‘uopeziuedio Y1 Inoy8noayy usrom
SI'SSauaJleme it 1ayiaym a)en|eaz ;34NN HSL JOJUOW

" LLE0:PNBIBME:OPIB0G I RUE WS SN=PILILIY 9Z0Z-U} U U0 y-6i IABS/L SO P MY/ Sy

P175

9202 Ui sepliond sal|wwos ppny Wd St°2l '9z/s/e



o9

TUHIZOpnEeme: BUE:WBZISN=P|¢ (WY 9Z0Z-UI-SSNUOL 1pnBjasueUy-6L

19AP SRoPep

¢Aejd aniojaq ued ajoa Jeym

"W3ISISA0 BAIDAYD
apino.d o1 3|qe1 ay3 punoJe saandadssad pue SIS J0 Xiwt S ay)
aney noA Jayisym pue uonisodwos s,93IWWod 1ok e 300] ysauy

e 3uiyes uesw osje Aew jey] "uoneziues.io Jnok 104 31| $00] ,po0S,
leym aulyap pue—oido) yoea uo a8e8ua o) Apeau a4,nok ains EXTIN
‘A2 s uonesedaud ‘e1e|d ssIWIWOI Apne ay) uo ydnwl 0s YA

jIomatuely INY3 Japeouq ayy yum suejd
Mpne Jo uoneulpiood ageinosu3 :A8azens Wy3 yum uSily

‘sanl|igeded Aysnpui pue ‘|leankjeue ‘lensip ul JuawnsaAul
a3einodu3 :A3is4aA1p Jusje) pue Sujppisdn moddng .

"22Ud3)|[33u Ys1 AW} 1oy spieoqysep
Pue suodaJ diweuAp 1oy sy :s3ydisur sw-jeas 3sanbay

:0s|e Ued S33)NWILIO0D JIPNY *SHySLI [RUORIPE.}

pue 3uidisws yloq Jo 38esan0d pue ‘Aindalgo ‘sxuapuadspuy sy
sulejuiew Jipne [eusaiul ULNSUS ajIym (spoylswi apie ‘uonewolne
‘sonfjeue pasueape “8'3) uoneziusspow uoidweyd ued seanwWwod
HPNY "S3911WWO0D J1pne uo spuewsp mau Supdeld QUSWUOIAUS
[043u0d ay3 adeysas—3unndwod pnop pue ‘uleyaxdolg ‘v

S€ Y2nS—saIZ0]0uLI3} pue SysLI SB SAJOAD 03 SINUNUOD JPNE jeulay|

uonezjuiapouw jpne jeuiaiu|
‘syuawalinbay
Aousiedsuesy Suiajons yum 9due(ldwod pue pnpuod Jo sapod
‘Spiepueis uopuaa Joyuopy :Bupaunos 3jqisuodsas A2I0JUIDY o

‘salned payy

9202 Ul seliuoud seRjwwoo ypny

Wd S¥:Z1 '9Z/5/E

oS

> =PI 9Z0Z- ul-SepuoL! i y-6uy

A3 yum uonejedsa Juspidu; Jedp pue ‘Bunsa) yIisiano Suons
13dx3 :9suodsaa Juapidul pue Suojuow Sujo8uo uo 3sisuj «

‘suondrusip Aued-paiy
woyy sysil [euoneindal pue jeuonetado yoq siaaod Suluueld
A>uadunuod wayuo) :suejd LA1INURUOI SSBUISNY MIIASY

:0S|e ued SAIWWOoD

1pny ‘sainssaud jeoijodoad pue syjiie) jo 3y ul Ajje1dadsa
—suleyd Ajddns |eqo8 ssouoe sysi1 Suppdesy pue ‘saueldwod
Kioye|n8s4 pue Ja3gA> 1oy Suioyuow ‘sainsodxs JGPUSA eI
$S34ppe pjnoys YSISIAAQ "s883HWW0d ypne Joj Auoud e uiewal
PInoys—sisunied uleys Aiddns wouy Ajjeradse—ysu Aued-paiy L

dsu uteyd Ajddns pue Led-payy

"S32JN0s |eusalul 3snfjou ‘senued
P4IY3 J3Y10 pue SI0pPUIA Y1M SySL 3dueljdwiod pue pne.y
J0jluow pue puelsiapun :@auadiip anp fjied-paiy3 3351980 »

‘Spasu ssaulsnq

pue suone[n3a. uiyiys ym aded daay o3 ySnoua o|qa})

pue 1snqoJ aJe s|o43u0d |eusdiul pue sapljod sueljdwod
el wuyuo) :AySe weaSoad asueydwod ajenjeny o

‘dn yeads 03 ssakojdwa
93eunodus 03 sjpuueyd Suntodal o Ajenuapyuod pue
SS3U3AIIDYS BY] 1S3 1S3IUIN0SIA JI2MO[G[ISIYM UyISUaLIS «

:92ed daay saawwod upne djay ued
sdajs asay] "ajqeidepe pue sapdeo.d 3utaq sueaw peaye Suifels
'S95U3J3p [euonipe.) ssedAq ued s1esuyy JagAd pue pnely usaLp

-IV MOy 13pisuod ose pjnoys A3y "a8ueyd ASojouyda) pue sjppow
9202 V1 seoud sopwwo ypny

"o [op Mmmmy/sdpy

P176

Wd 5721 "92/s/E



ous

T LLZ0PNEIBMEOPIBDG BUE WO SN= PIL U HZOZ-U} ! d Al

's21do)
@duelnsse pue ipne ulpua.y uo saAndadsiad Ajaw aaIa1 03 aquUIsqNs

3ojg as|nd ay

eplop L)

« oIq |Iny peay

WB1S12A0 J12Y) ||yIny S10122.1p sd|dy Yoiym ‘ssausaidayg paeog
404 J33UR3 5,311012Q 0 Ued e st pue 477 3udnoy 3 anioRg yim
Jopaup BuiBeuews (vigy) adueinssy UPNY Ue St suosied eisty

dT13Yyonoy g 302 | ssaUSAIRY] paeog 4oy Jsuad |
13pea] weidold saNUWO) Upny | 1013u1q BuiSeuep dlUenssy 1 ypny
S3)L)S pauun

suosied ejsliy|
920Z ui sepuoud eejiwwos ypny

Wd S| ‘g9e/sie

(1273

yonoy uj 199

"uopesljqnd siy3 uo salas oym uosiad Aue Ag pauleisns ss0| Aue 4oy a|gisuodsal

430U [leys anjo|a "10sIApe [euolssajold pafienb e 1ynsuoed pinoys noA ‘ssauisng

4nok 1oaye Aew jey) uonse Aue Supjey Jo uoIsiap Aue Zupjew 2.4043g ‘sSBUISNG INOA

1348 Aew Jey) uopde Jo Uoisap Aue 1oy siseq e se pash 99 M PINOYS JOU 'S33IAIIS JO IdIApE
[euoIssaja1d Yans 1o} 33NISQNS € 10U s) uopedlqnd siy] "S3IAIRS 10 aJ1Ape Jeuolssajold
43130 Jo ‘xe) ‘|ea ‘JuaunsaAul ‘jeldueUY ‘SSaUISNG ‘Supunolde Suuapual ‘uonesgnd

SIU3 J0 sueaw Aq ‘10U sI 310[3Q puUe AU UOHBWLIOMI |e1auaS SUleIUoD uoned)gnd siyy,

"SOIUBISWINDAD pUe SOB) [eNPINPLI UD PRSE] SAIIUSS UIELIRd apoad 0) ajgeun
aq Aew am ‘477 ayano g auloja( jo (sa3e1)yye Buipnpul) syuat ypne o Aldde Lew 183
suomLIsal auspuadapul 03 3np Jaramoy 'seale asayy ul sani|iqedes pue 23uaadxs tno

SIBASUOLISP 01 P3PUSIUI BJR PUE SIMIBU U SANRIISN||| 3JE UIBISY PAQLIDSAP SAAIDS BUL

'sojepdn

Alyiuow ant33. 03 Jo1ig aa1IWIWIOY UPNY UNO 01 3qLIISNS pue
suonsanb yum aw 03 Ino Yoeay ‘samiqisuodsal JYSisIano Buises.nul
~I3A3 J1ay) IeBIneu A3L)) se $3313|WIWO) Jpne asiApe 0) sSupayo

30 3UNs e 3pino.d am ‘sdoysy4Om 03 SUOISSIS LOEINPS WO 'sidoy
30y pue ‘spua.) 3uaaJ ‘sapl|iqisuodsa. pue 3]0 J13Y) UO S99
)pne SuUISIApe UO PasNI0} S| weugo.id 8aRIWWo) Upny s,2110J9Q

1% Jeoqeug: 1 IWMIY §E0E-u)-senuoud {pney -6 am I /SN{W0D BB [BP MM/ SdnY

P177

920¢ Ul sajioud eapiuwoo ypny Wd S¥'2) '92/6/e



oLioL

"ULZ0:PNBIEME B PIROG BUE BT SN=PI4 WY 9Z0Z-Ul-SORUOLd-aey ay-6uy

! SRIoeP

"SULL J3quIBW Jo 3omIau |eqo[E Jno IN0ge aJow ules)| o)

INoqe/woranioEp MMM 935 35e3]d “Sununoade siignd 4o suopejnSas PUE $3|NnJ 3y J3pUn S1UBY? 15E 03 BgejRAR
30 30U Aew S3I|AIBS UIRLIB) SAMBIYIE AAPdSal ey} pue sateIs PaIIUN U Ul Sweu 311013, oy Suisn jesado
Y} SSNRUS P33Rjad JISYL 1110 JO SWLIL JBQUIBWI S 34} JO 340W 10 U0 0} sJajaJ aRt0[3Q ‘s21L)S PaNUN By U
“S1UB1[2 03 s3dIAURS Spiroad Jou saop {[eqolD aniojeq, se 0) Palla4a1 osje) 111q ‘sanpua Juspuadapu) pue sjeledas
AlleSa| 3. suuy sequisw sy o yoea PUBILIQ "SBANUS PaJe|ad 12U PUE ‘SULIY JAGUISLL JO YJOMIBU 53] (] 111,
aauesens Aq paajwi) Auedwod ajeaud yn e ‘PEUWI NSIEWIYOL 3Y3N0L 3N10[3Q JO 24O 10 3UO 03 siajaJ oA

"UOHELLIOUI 240W 10} 351 JO SWABL 39§ 9202 ©

9202 Ul sBoLd seRwIWos ypny

Wd §¢'2) "9z2/5/g

oue

L1 20 PNEIBME:JOPIBOGIBUE WO SN=P}L{UNY 9202

aAadsiag

*pue A10jejnga) ‘S821n0SaJ 9IUEULIIADS
91240003 4O SMAIAIBAC ‘SUONEPUIILIOIB.
YUM SI9QLIDW B31IWILLOY

pne sapiacad Jeyy uonexgnd dipouad v

Ja1g 981IWWo) Jpny

aAnaadsiag

‘DI3NILIWID Upne 3y Jo Sa|Iqisuodsal
PUE 'sdoJ ‘syuawialinbas ays puelsiapun
43)33q JUaWadeurlw pue slaquiaw
9nIWiWwod ypne sdiay aping siyy

3pIND 9aNIWIWOD NpNY

youeasay

“apineld *Aijend upny Joy 1s1ua) sy pue
SSRUIAIIIRYT pJeog Joj J2)u3) SA1I0JR]
usamIaq uoneloge|(od e ‘yodsy s33ndely
3INIWWD UPNY 343 40 UOHIPS L3y DY

SHWWOD) JPNY SSO.IY
spea.tyl uowwo) :uoday
S92DeId 3INNWWO) Npny

ELeEL I ER

2uniny

a3 Joj auedaud pue spuewap skepo}
133W 03 BUIAOAD S] J1BYD 3310
UPNe 8y} Jo 3(0J ay3 Moy aJo|dx3

3Jmn4 ay;
JO Jtey? 33NIWWOD IpNY 3y

3UB{UIYy) INQ

9202 Ul sofilioud eaiuwiod ypny

1B/ ‘opIojep MM SdlY

P178

Wd 572} '92/5/8



